



AperTO - Archivio Istituzionale Open Access dell'Università di Torino

Convergence rate to equilibrium for conservative scattering models on the torus: A new tauberian approach

This is the author's manuscript		
Original Citation:		
Availability:		
This version is available http://hdl.handle.net/2318/1950778 since 2024-03-27T13:06:30Z		
Published version:		
DOI:10.1090/tran/9087		
Terms of use:		
Open Access		
Anyone can freely access the full text of works made available as "Open Access". Works made available under a Creative Commons license can be used according to the terms and conditions of said license. Use of all other works requires consent of the right holder (author or publisher) if not exempted from copyright		

(Article begins on next page)

protection by the applicable law.

CONVERGENCE RATE TO EQUILIBRIUM FOR CONSERVATIVE SCATTERING MODELS ON THE TORUS: A NEW TAUBERIAN APPROACH

B. LODS AND M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI

ABSTRACT. The object of this paper is to provide a new and systematic tauberian approach to quantitative long time behaviour of C_0 -semigroups $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ governing conservative linear kinetic equations on the torus with general scattering kernel $\mathbf{k}(v, v')$ and degenerate (i.e. not bounded away from zero) collision frequency $\sigma(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathbf{k}(v', v) \mathbf{m}(dv')$, (with $\mathbf{m}(dv)$ being absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure). We show in particular that if N_0 is the maximal integer $s \geq 0$ such that

$$\frac{1}{\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\cdot)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \boldsymbol{k}(\cdot, v) \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

then, for initial datum f such that $\int_{\mathbb{T}^d\times\mathbb{R}^d}|f(x,v)|\sigma^{-N_0}(v)\mathrm{d}x\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)<\infty$ it holds

$$\|\mathcal{V}(t)f - \varrho_f \Psi\|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)} = \frac{\varepsilon_f(t)}{(1+t)^{N_0-1}}, \qquad \varrho_f := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$

where Ψ is the unique invariant density of $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \varepsilon_f(t) = 0$. We in particular provide a new criteria of the existence of invariant density. The proof relies on the explicit computation of the time decay of each term of the Dyson-Phillips expansion of $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ and on suitable smoothness and integrability properties of the trace on the imaginary axis of Laplace transform of remainders of large order of this Dyson-Phillips expansion. Our construction resorts also on collective compactness arguments and provides various technical results of independent interest. Finally, as a by-product of our analysis, we derive essentially sharp "subgeometric" convergence rate for Markov semigroups associated to general transition kernels. MSC: primary 82C40; secondary 35F15, 47D06

Keywords: Kinetic equation; Markov semigroups; Convergence to equilibrium; Dyson-Phillips expansion; Inverse Laplace transform.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Assumptions and main result	2
1.2. About Assumptions 1.1 and 1.5	7
1.3. Related literature	8
1.4. Strategy	10
2. General strategy and main results	11
2.1. Preliminary facts	11
2.2. Decay of the Dyson-Phillips iterated	12
2.3. Representation formulae for remainder terms	13
2.4. Organization of the paper	17
3. Consequences of Assumptions 1.1 and 1.5	17
3.1. A criterion for collective compactness of some power	17
3.2. Decay of $\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}$	21

B. LODS AND M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI

4. Regularity and extension results	27
4.1. About the resolvent of A	27
4.2. Definition and properties of M_{λ}	30
4.3. About the differentiability of M_{λ}	33
5. Spectral properties of M_{λ} along the imaginary axis	35
5.1. Spectral properties of M_{λ} in the vicinity of $\lambda = 0$.	37
6. The extension of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ to the imaginary axis	46
6.1. Existence of the boundary function for $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$	46
6.2. Regularity of the boundary function	50
7. The boundary function of $\mathscr{S}_n(\lambda)$	52
Appendix A. Properties of the Dyson-Phillips iterated	55
A.1. Continuous dependence with respect to \mathcal{K}	55
A.2. Decay of the iterates	56
A.3. Inverse Laplace transform	64
Appendix B. Properties of the operator M_{λ}	65
B.1. Proof of Proposition 4.15	65
B.2. Additional properties	69
Appendix C. About collectively power compact operators	74
References	75

1. INTRODUCTION

The objet of this paper is to provide L^1 -rates of convergence to equilibrium for conservative linear kinetic equations of the form

$$\partial_t f(x,v,t) + v \cdot \nabla_x f(x,v,t) + \sigma(x,v) f(x,v,t) = \int_V k(x,v,v') f(t,x,v') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v'), \quad (1.1)$$

for $(x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V$, and $t \ge 0$ where

$$\sigma(x,v) = \int_{V} k(x,v',v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v'), \qquad (x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^{d} \times V.$$

Here $V \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is the support of a nonnegative Borel measure ${\pmb{m}}$ while \mathbb{T}^d is the d-dimensional torus

$$\mathbb{T}^d = \mathbb{R}^d / \mathbb{Z}^d.$$

For simplicity, we will assume that the Lebesgue measure on the torus is normalized i.e. $|\mathbb{T}^d| = 1$.

1.1. Assumptions and main result. This class of equation was dealt with in [34, 36] for a general class of velocity measures m(dv). A key result in [34] is that the semigroup governing (1.1) has a spectral gap if and only if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \inf_{(x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V} \int_0^t \sigma(x+tv,v) \mathrm{d}t > 0.$$

In this case, there exists automatically an invariant density and the latter is exponentially stable (i.e. the semigroup converges exponentially, in operator norm, to the spectral projection associated to the invariant density). The existence and the stability of an invariant density in the

degenerate case

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \inf_{(x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V} \int_0^t \sigma(x+tv,v) dt = 0$$
(1.2)

are dealt with systematically in [36]. The stability of the invariant density (i.e. the strong convergence of the semigroup to its ergodic projection) is *not quantified* and is obtained either by means of general results on partially integral semigroups [39] or by means of a 0 - 1 law for semigroups [35]. We provide also in Remark 6.4 below a third approach via Ingham tauberian theorem.

Our object here, in a continuation of [36], is to provide rates of convergence to equilibrium in the spirit of our recent construction on collisionless kinetic semigroups with boundary operators [27]. To this end, we restrict ourselves to space homogeneous scattering kernel

$$k(x, v, v') = \boldsymbol{k}(v, v')$$

(and consequently $\sigma(x, v) = \sigma(v)$) where the degeneracy condition (1.2) amounts to

$$\inf_{v \in V} \sigma(v) = 0. \tag{1.3}$$

The non homogeneous case is left open even if we suspect that a similar, albeit much more technical, construction is possible in that case. We also assume that

$$\sigma \in L^{\infty}(V)$$
 and $\sigma(v) = \int_{V} \mathbf{k}(v', v) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}v'), \quad v \in V.$ (1.4)

We will see in Assumption 1.5 that we will restrict ourselves to the case in which m is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure

$$\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{v}) = \boldsymbol{m}(\boldsymbol{v})\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{v}$$

for some nonnegative weight function $m : V \to \mathbb{R}^+$ satisfying some technical regularity assumption (see (1.13) for details). The specific nature of the Lebesgue measure is used only once (in the proof of Lemma 3.8) and could be avoided at the cost of more technical calculations. We have not tried to elaborate on this point here because the whole construction given in the paper is already quite involved. We however insist on the fact that the choice of the Lebesgue measure seems to be only technical. We denote by

$$\mathbb{X}_0 := L^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times V, \, \mathrm{d} x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d} v))$$

endowed with its usual norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{X}_0}.$ More generally, for any $s\in\mathbb{R},$ we set

$$\mathbb{X}_s := L^1(\mathbb{T}^d \times V, \max(1, \sigma(v)^{-s}) \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v))$$

with norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{X}_s}$. Notice that the absorption semigroup $(U_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ given by

$$U_0(t)f(x,v) = \exp\left(-\sigma(v)t\right)f(x-tv,v), \qquad t \ge 0, f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$
(1.5)

has zero type in X_0 :

$$\omega(U_0) = 0$$

under the degeneracy condition (1.3). The generator of $(U_0(t))_{t \ge 0}$ is given by

$$\mathcal{A}f(x,v) = -v \cdot \nabla_x f(x,v) - \sigma(v)f(x,v), \qquad f \in \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \{f \in \mathbb{X}_0 \; ; \; v \cdot \nabla_x f \in \mathbb{X}_0\}.$$

We introduce the operator, acting in the *v*-variable only,

$$\mathcal{K}f(v) = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, v') f(v') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v'), \qquad f \in L^{1}(V) = L^{1}(V, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{m}).$$
(1.6)

Due to (1.4), one sees first that

$$\mathcal{K} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0), \qquad \qquad \|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \|\sigma\|_{\infty}$$

and also that

$$\mathcal{K} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_0), \qquad \qquad \|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_0)} = 1.$$

The fact that \mathcal{K} is a bounded operator in \mathbb{X}_0 implies that $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}$ is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t \ge 0}$ in \mathbb{X}_0 given by

$$\mathcal{V}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} U_n(t), \qquad t \ge 0$$

where

$$U_{n+1}(t) = \int_0^t U_n(t-s)\mathcal{K}U_0(s)\mathrm{d}s = \int_0^t U_0(t-s)\mathcal{K}U_n(t-s)\mathrm{d}s, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Introduce the following notation, for any $s \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\vartheta_s(w) := \frac{1}{\sigma(w)} \int_V \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v), \qquad w \in V.$$
(1.7)

The results of the present paper are based upon several sets of Assumptions. The first *fundamental assumptions* are the following which are at the basis of the underlying method:

Assumption 1.1. Assume that $\mathcal{K} : L^1(V) \to L^1(V)$ is a weakly compact operator of the form (1.6) which satisfies the following

(1) For any $v \in V$

$$\sigma(v) = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w, v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w), \qquad (1.8)$$

with $\sigma \in L^{\infty}(V)$ and

$$\inf_{v} \sigma(v) = 0. \tag{1.9}$$

(2) There exists some (maximal) integer $N_0 \ge 1$ such that

$$\vartheta_{N_0} \in L^{\infty}(V). \tag{1.10}$$

(3) Introducing, for any $\delta > 0$ the set

$$\Sigma_{\delta} = \{ v \in V ; \ \sigma(v) \leqslant \delta \},\$$

we assume that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \sup_{w \in V} \frac{1}{\sigma(w)} \int_{\Sigma_{\delta}} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 0$$
(1.11)

These assumptions provide actually a new practical criteria ensuring the existence (and uniqueness) of an invariant density:

Theorem 1.2. Assume that \mathcal{K} is an irreducible operator satisfying Assumptions 1.1 and the measure m is such that there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that, for any bounded set $S \subset V$, there is c(S) > 0 such that

$$\sup_{\nu \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m} \big(\{ (v, w) \in S \times S ; |(v - w) \cdot \nu| < \varepsilon \} \big) \leqslant c(S)\varepsilon^{\alpha}, \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$
(1.12)

Then, there exists a unique $\Psi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{A})$ spatially homogeneous with

$$\Psi(v) > 0, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \Psi(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 1$$

such that

$$(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})\Psi = 0 = \mathcal{K}\Psi.$$

Moreover, $\Psi \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0-1}$.

Remark 1.3. We recall that \mathcal{K} is irreducible if there exists no non trivial $\Omega \subset \mathbb{T}^d \times V$ such that \mathcal{K} leaves invariant $L^1(\Omega)$ which is identified to the closed subspace of \mathbb{X}_0 of functions vanishing a.e. outside Ω . Practical criterion ensuring the irreducibility of \mathcal{K} is given in [36, Proposition 7]. In particular, \mathcal{K} is irreducible if $\mathbf{k}(v, w) > 0$ for $\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m}$ -a.e. $(v, w) \in V \times V$. Notice that the existence and uniqueness of a steady solution has been obtained, under different assumptions in [36]. The approach followed here is technically different from [36] and, as said, resort to different assumptions (see Proposition 5.1 for details).

Remark 1.4. Notice that, if $k(\cdot, \cdot)$ satisfies a detailed balance condition, i.e. there exists a positive spatially homogeneous density $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(v)$, $\mathcal{M} \in L^1(V)$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\mathcal{M}(w) = \mathcal{M}(v)\boldsymbol{k}(v,w), \qquad \forall v, w \in V$$

then, up to a normalisation factor, $\Psi = \mathcal{M}$ is an invariant density and assumption (1.11) is not needed for our analysis. Of course, assumption (1.12) is satisfied if m is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure over \mathbb{R}^d which is the framework we will further adopt in the paper.

A second set of Assumptions, most of technical nature, is the following

Assumption 1.5. The measure m(dv) is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure

$$\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{v}) = \boldsymbol{m}(\boldsymbol{v})\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{v}$$

for some weight function m such that

$$\sup_{v \in V} |v \cdot \nabla_v \log \boldsymbol{m}(v)| < \infty.$$
(1.13)

Moreover, the kernel k(v, v') is such that there exist two positive constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that

$$\int_{V} |w \cdot \nabla_{w} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w)| \max\left(1, \sigma^{-1}(v)\right) \boldsymbol{m}(v) \mathrm{d}v \leqslant C_{1} \sigma(w) \qquad \forall w \in V$$
(1.14)

and

$$\int_{V} |v \cdot \nabla_{v} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w)| \, \boldsymbol{m}(v) \mathrm{d}v \leqslant C_{2} \sigma(w) \qquad \forall w \in V.$$
(1.15)

Remark 1.6. We will comment in Subsection 1.2 below on this set of assumptions as well as to the subsequent Assumption 1.1. We only mention here that property (1.13) is satisfied for instance for weight functions of the form

$$m(v) = (1 + |v|^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}, \qquad s \ge 0.$$

Our main result is the following

Theorem 1.7. Under Assumptions 1.1 and 1.5, if $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is an irreducible semigroup then for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$ there exist a constant $C_f > 0$ and

$$\Theta_f \in \mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$$

such that

$$\left\|\mathcal{V}(t)f - \varrho_f\Psi\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \frac{C_f}{(1+t)^{N_0-1}}\varepsilon(t) \qquad \forall t \ge 0,$$
(1.16)

where $\varrho_f := \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} f(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$ and $1 \qquad \parallel f^{\infty}$

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(t) = \frac{1}{1+t} + \left\| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \Theta_f(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0}, \qquad \lim_{t \to \infty} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}(t) = 0.$$
(1.17)

Moreover, for any p > 4, there is some positive constant K = K(p) > 0 such that

$$\left\| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \Theta_f(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant K \left(\omega_f\left(\frac{\pi}{t}\right) \right)^{\frac{p-4}{p}} \quad \forall t \ge 1$$
(1.18)

where $\omega_f : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$ denotes the minimal modulus of uniform continuity of the mapping Θ_f .

Remark 1.8. Notice that $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is irreducible if there is no invariant subspace $L^1(\Omega)$ of \mathbb{X}_0 left invariant by $\mathcal{V}(t)$ for any $t \geq 0$. One can prove that if \mathcal{K} is irreducible then so is $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ (see [36, Proposition 7]).

Remark 1.9. Recall that, in Assumption 1.1, we assumed $N_0 \ge 1$ to be an integer. Without such an assumption, i.e if $N_0 = \lfloor N_0 \rfloor + \alpha$, $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, our main decay rate will then read

$$\left\|\mathcal{V}(t)f - \varrho_{f}\Psi\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \frac{C_{f}}{(1+t)^{\lfloor N_{0} \rfloor - 1}} \varepsilon(t) \qquad f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_{0}}$$

In that case, we believe that, for concrete examples of collision kernel $\mathbf{k}(v, v')$, it should be possible to explicit $\varepsilon(t)$ through an identification of the modulus of continuity of Θ_f in terms of the non-integer part $\alpha = N_0 - \lfloor N_0 \rfloor \rfloor$.

Here above and in all the sequel, for any Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|_X)$ and any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we set

$$\mathscr{C}_0^k(\mathbb{R}, X) = \left\{ h \, : \, \mathbb{R} \to X \; ; \; \text{of class } \mathscr{C}^k \text{ over } \mathbb{R} \\ \text{and such that } \lim_{|\eta| \to \infty} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^j}{\mathrm{d}\eta^j} h(\eta) \right\|_X = 0 \qquad \forall j \leqslant k \right\}$$

and we endow $\mathscr{C}^k_0(\mathbb{R},X)$ with the norm

$$\|h\|_{\mathscr{C}^k_0(\mathbb{R},X)} := \max_{0 \le j \le k} \sup_{\eta} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^j}{\mathrm{d}\eta^j} h(\eta) \right\|_{X}$$

which makes it a Banach space. We of course adopt the notation $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, X) = \mathscr{C}_0^0(\mathbb{R}, X)$.

The above main result of the paper provides an explicit decay of the solution to (1.1). We strongly believe however that the interest of the present paper goes far beyond the mere convergence rate but it paves the way to a general abstract tauberian approach to the convergence rate of perturbed stochastic semigroup [28]. Moreover, because of the use of several fine collective compactness results and decay of Dyson-Phillips iterates, the paper contains several intermediate results of fundamental interest.

We can already mention that the function $\Theta_f(\eta)$ appearing in (1.18) is related to suitable derivatives of the trace along the imaginary axis $\lambda = i\eta$ ($\eta \in \mathbb{R}$) of the Laplace transform of suitable (large order) reminder of the Dyson-Phillips series defining the semigroup $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t \ge 0}$. See Theorem 2.6 and its proof in Section 2 for a more precise statement.

It is important to mention that, as a direct by-product of our construction, our analysis covers also the important case in which the initial datum f_0 is independent of x. In that case, the general solution f(x, v, t) = f(v, t) is also independent of x and satisfies the *spatially homogenous* version of (1.1) which can be rewritten as

$$\partial_t f(v,t) = \int_V \left[\boldsymbol{k}(v,v') f(t,v') - \boldsymbol{k}(v',v) f(t,v) \right] \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v') \,. \tag{1.19}$$

Models governed by eq. (1.19) are ubiquitous in the study of Markov processes and results like our main Theorem 1.7 provide in this case an estimate of the decay rate for the transition probability semigroup of a continuous time Markov jump process. For such jump processes, roughly speaking, positive lower bound on the transition kernel k(v, v') induces exponential convergence of the stochastic processes (this case is refer to as the "geometric case" in the study of Markov processes) whereas our degeneracy condition (1.9) prevents such an exponential convergence. Our result provides therefore a (seemingly sharp) "subgeometric" convergence rate for these kinds of processes. Our construction is quite involved and relies on various technical results of independent interest. As far as we know, most of our results are new and appear here for the first time.

1.2. About Assumptions 1.1 and 1.5. Let us comment a bit about Assumptions 1.1–1.5, referring the reader to the subsequent Section 2 for more details on that matter. We first observe that the conservative assumption (1.8) is natural to deal with Markov semigroups whereas, as said already, the degeneracy condition (1.9) is the one which prevents the existence of a spectral gap.

As illustrated by the above Theorem 1.7, the decay rate is *prescribed* by the maximal gain of integrability that the boundary operator is able to provide through the function ϑ_{N_0} where we notice that

$$\mathcal{K} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_{N_0}), \qquad \|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_{N_0})} \leqslant \|\vartheta_{N_0}\|_{\infty}.$$
(1.20)

This illustrates the fundamental role of (1.10) in Assumption 1.1. The fact that we assume here N_0 to be an integer is an artefact of the approach we follow since, as established in Theorem 2.6, $N_0 - 1$ is also the maximal regularity of the trace function $\Upsilon_n(\eta)f$ we can derive for $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$.

We already pointed out that a consequence of Assumptions 1.1 concerns the existence of an invariant density Ψ in Theorem 1.2 since it allows to apply the results from [36]. Moreover, (1.11) is the cornerstone hypothesis to establish that there exists q > 0 such that

$$\{ [\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})]^{\mathsf{q}} ; 0 \leq \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leq 1 \} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0) \text{ is collectively compact}$$
(1.21)

in Theorem 2.4. All these consequences of Assumptions 1.1 are the fundamental brick on which we build our theory. The role of Assumptions 1.5, on the contrary, is more of technical nature. Indeed, Assumptions 1.5 are technical requirements which allow to deduce the decay rate of iterates of $\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ on the imaginary axis with respect to $|\text{Im}\lambda|$. We refer to Theorem 2.4 and especially (2.11) for a precise statement. In particular, under such an assumption, we point out (see (2.12)) that

$$\int_{|\eta|>1} \|[\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}]^{\mathbf{p}}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \,\mathrm{d}\eta < \infty$$

for any p > 4 which is crucial for the estimate (1.18).

We wish to insist here on the fact that the assumption (1.11) is the one ensuring the above collective compactness (1.21) whereas (1.14)–(1.13) (together with the fact that m(dv) is absolutely continuous w. r. t. the Lebesgue measure) are those assumptions which provide *quantitative estimates* on the behaviour of iterates of $\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$. In particular, all the results of the paper which

resort only on some *qualitative* properties of $\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ remain valid *without the assumptions* (1.14)–(1.13). See for instance Theorem 6.3 and Remark 6.4 for an example of such qualitative results.

1.3. **Related literature.** A very precise exposition of modern tools developed for the convergence to equilibrium and stability of Markov processes is the monograph [30]. The bibliography about exponential convergence (geometric case) for such processes is too vast and, since our main purpose in the present work is rather the study of kinetic equation like (1.1), we refer the reader to [14] for a nice introduction to the field. We only mention here that such geometric convergence results usually resort to hypocoercivity results and Harris-type results (see for instance [13] for an application of Harris-type techniques to the study of fragmentation equation) or to a careful spectral analysis of the associated semigroup (see [37, 38] for very recent application to fragmentation models). For subgeometric convergence to equilibrium, a somehow concurrent approach (well-adapted to nonlinear models) is the so-called entropy method which consists in quantifying the entropy dissipation properties of the collisional operato to deduce establish the algebraic rate of convergence of the entropy (this, in turn, provides a decay in the usual L^1 -norm thanks to Csiszar-Kullback inequality). For linear model, this method has been applied in [12] for the linear Boltzmann equation or its relaxation model caricature [9].

For subgeometric convergence to equilibrium of Markov processes, Harris-type tools have been develop in the probabilistic community (see for instance [20, 6]) and we refer again the reader to [14] for a thorough description of such results. Subgeometric convergence rates have also been studied for classical models as the Fokker-Planck equation [23] and, for spatially homogeneous linear Boltzmann equation in a previous contribution by the authors [26].

As far as spatially inhomogeneous kinetic equations are concerned, the question of estimating the speed of approach to equilibrium for a non-homogeneous, linear transport equation with degenerated total scattering cross-section has been considered mainly in the context of the linearized Boltzmann or Landau equation (see for instance [10, 15] to mention just a few relevant results). Spectral gap estimates via the so-called hypocoercivity method have been derived in a L^2 -setting in [19, 21] while algebraic rate of convergence towards the equilibrium, still in the L^2 setting, has been established in [18] norm is established for a case in which the cross-section σ is depending on x and vanishes in some portion of the space. We also mention the recent contribution [7] in which a decay similar to the one in Theorem 1.7 is obtained in a L^2 framework.

For a purely L^1 -approach, the literature on the field is scarcer. We mention the contribution [34] and [11] which prove the existence of a spectral gap if σ is bounded for below by means of spectral analysis and Harris-type results respectively. Harris-type of results are actually providing subgeometric rate of convergence for linear Boltzmann equation with weak confining potentials in [11].

For "subgeometric" convergence to equilibrium for the degenerate linear kinetic equations (1.1) on the torus, as far as we know, the only previous work providing results similar to those obtained in the present paper is [24] in which $(V; \boldsymbol{m}(dv))$ is a probability space (we change slightly the quick presentation of this work in order to compare it to ours). The main assumption

in [24] is then

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{k}(\cdot,\cdot) \in L^{\infty}(V \times V, \boldsymbol{m} \otimes \boldsymbol{m}), \\ \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,v') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v') = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v',v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v'), \quad \boldsymbol{k}(v,v') \leqslant C \,\sigma(v) \sigma(v') \\ \int_{V} \sigma^{-a}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) < \infty \end{cases}$$
(1.22)

for some (maximal) a > 0. The analysis of [24] is carried out in the space

$$\boldsymbol{W}_{a} := \left\{ f \in \mathbb{X}_{0} ; \|f\|_{\boldsymbol{W}_{a}} := \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \left\| \widehat{f}(p) \right\|_{L^{1}(\mu_{a})} < \infty \right\}$$

where, for any Fourier mode $p \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, $\hat{f}(p)$ is the Fourier transform of f in the x-variable

$$\widehat{f}(p,\cdot) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} f(x,\cdot) \exp(i x \cdot p) \,\mathrm{d}x, \qquad p \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$

and

$$\|\widehat{f}(p)\|_{L^{1}(\mu_{a})} = \int_{V} \left|\widehat{f}(p,v)\right| \sigma^{-a}(v)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v), \quad p \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}$$

Under assumption (1.22), the main result in [24] is a convergence rate towards equilibrium of the type

$$\|\mathcal{V}(t)f - \varrho_f \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V}\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \frac{c}{(1+t)^a} \|f\|_{\mathbf{W}_a}, \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(1.23)

`

Notice that $||f||_{W_a}$ is a combination of the Wiener algebra norm in space variable x and the weighted norm with weight σ^{-a} in velocity. Moreover, under assumption (1.22), the unique steady equilibrium state is $\Psi = \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V}$. The strategy of [24] is completely different from ours and is based upon some Fourier diagonalization of the transport operator $v \cdot \nabla_x$, the inverse Laplace transform for each Fourier mode and the use of the theory of Fredholm determinants to derive (1.23). However, the result obtained is comparable to ours. Note that the boundedness of $k(\cdot, \cdot)$ and the finiteness of the measure m(dv) implies that $K : L^1(V) \to L^1(V)$ is weakly compact whereas, under assumption (1.22), one can check without difficulty that

$$\vartheta_{a+1}(v) = \frac{1}{\sigma(v)} \int_{V} \sigma^{-a-1}(v') \boldsymbol{k}(v,v') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v') \leqslant C \int_{V} \sigma^{-a}(v') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v') < \infty$$

i.e. (1.10) holds true with $N_0 = \lfloor a \rfloor + 1$. Our main result gives then a decay rate like $(1 + t)^{-N_0+1} = (1+t)^{-\lfloor a \rfloor}$. Note that the second assumption in (1.22) implies (1.11) which means that (1.22) implies all our Assumptions 1.1. However, the construction in [24] is independent of our set of assumptions 1.5. Even though the class of measure m(dv) is much general in [24] than in our presentation, our main result Theorem 1.7 provides a sharper rate of convergence rate if $a \in \mathbb{N}$: using O – o Landau's notation, our result improves the O $((1 + t)^{-a}) = O(1 + t)^{-N_0+1})$ rate in (1.23) into a

$$o((1+t)^{-N_0+1})$$

rate. Moreover, our result applies to a broader class of functions since W_a is a proper subspace of $\mathbb{X}_{N_0-1} = \mathbb{X}_a$. We also point out that the diagonilisation Fourier procedure makes the approach in [24] difficult to adapt to the case in which k (and thus σ) depends on x whereas our approach appears robust enough to allow to tackle this case.

We finally mention, on a different but related topic, the recent works [4, 3] and our contribution [27] consider linear transport equation for collisionless gas in which the scattering occurs only on the boundary of a bounded region and the return to equilibrium is induced by the boundary conditions. More precisely, in [4, 3], some *ad hoc* Harris-type results are tailored to treat such collisionless model whereas, in our contribution [27], a tauberian approach similar to the one we consider in the present work is devised. The results in [27] served as an inspiration for the techniques developed in the present paper.

1.4. **Strategy.** The general strategy to prove Theorem 1.7 is explained in full details in Section 2 in which the main steps are described. In a nutshell, we just mention here that our approach is Tauberian in essence since we will deduce the decay of the semigroup $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ for some fine properties of its Laplace transform along the imaginary axis $\lambda = i\eta$. This approach combines in a robust and efficient way the so-called *semigroup and resolvent approaches* for the study of the long-time behaviour of transport equation (see [32] for a comprehensive description of the semigroup approach and [31] for a first account of the resolvent one). As said, inspired by our results in [27], we device here a method which combines the two approaches. In particular, using that the semigroup $\mathcal{V}(t)$ is given by a Dyson-Phillips series

$$\mathcal{V}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} U_n(t) \tag{1.24}$$

where

$$U_{n+1}(t) = \int_0^t U_n(t-s)\mathcal{K} U_0(s) \mathrm{d}s, \qquad t \ge 0, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(1.25)

and we first establish, for $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$ a *universal* decay of each of the iterated $U_n(t)f$ as $t \to \infty$. Second, we carefully study the behaviour of some reminder of the above Dyson-Phillips expansion

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{n+1}(t) = \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} U_k(t)$$

and shows that its Laplace transform

$$\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\lambda)f = \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathbf{S}_{n+1}(t) f dt, \qquad \operatorname{Re}\lambda > 0$$

can be extended, for suitable class of functions f, up to the imaginary axis $\lambda = i\eta$ with moreover a nice decay of the Laplace transform as $|\eta| \to \infty$. The existence of such a trace of $\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\lambda)f$ is based upon some important collective compactness arguments, as introduced in [1], and the consequences of those compactness argument to the spectral theory of some of the operators defining $\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\lambda)$ (see Section 3 for details). Using then the inverse Laplace transform, this allows to deduce our main decay estimate in Theorem 1.7. As said already, this very rough description is expanded in the next Section 2 which provides for a detailed description of the main technical difficulty as well as the organization of the paper (see Section 2.4).

We point out here that, even though our approach is inspired by our previous contribution [27], it differs from it in several technical and conceptual aspects. In particular, a crucial role in our analysis will be played by the family of operators

$$\mathsf{M}_{\lambda} := \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}), \qquad \operatorname{Re}\lambda > 0$$

where $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ is the resolvent of \mathcal{A} which can be easily extended in a family of stochastic operators along the imaginary axis $\operatorname{Re} \lambda = 0$ (see Section 4 for details). One can easily get convinced here by direct computations that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + \eta} f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0 \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

but

$$\sup_{\varepsilon>0} \|\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta} - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} > 0.$$

Therefore, the mapping $\varepsilon \ge 0 \mapsto M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}$ is strongly continuous but is not continuous in the operator norm topology whereas, in our construction in [27], the analogue of $M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}$ was played by a family of boundary operators was continuous in the operator norm up to $\varepsilon = 0$. To be able to deduce spectral properties of M_{λ} from the sole strong continuity, we have to resort to several *collective compactness results* proving in particular that there exists q > 0 such that

$$\left\{\mathsf{M}^{\mathsf{q}}_{\lambda} ; 0 \leq \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leq 1\right\} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})$$

is collectively compact. The fact that we are dealing only with some *iterate* of M_{λ} and not with M_{λ} itself prevents us to use *directly* known functional analysis results linking the collective compactness and the strong convergence and forces us to tailor some specific extension of the results of [1] here. This use of collective compactness is one of main difference between the the approach followed in [27] and the one cooked up for the present contribution.

2. General strategy and main results

Our general strategy to investigate the time-decay of $\mathcal{V}(t)f$ is based upon a general and robust approach which fully exploits semigroup and resolvent interplays.

2.1. **Preliminary facts.** We recall that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}, \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{A}))$ generates a C_0 -semigroup $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t \ge 0}$ given by (1.24) and (1.25) and the key basic observation is the decay of $U_0(t)$ on the hierarchy of spaces \mathbb{X}_k , namely

Lemma 2.1. Given $k \ge 0$, one has

$$\|U_0(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \left(\frac{k}{e\,t}\right)^k \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_k}, \qquad \forall t > 0, \qquad f \in \mathbb{X}_k.$$
(2.1)

Moreover, for any $f \in X_{k+1}$ *, it holds*

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \|U_{0}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k}} \, \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k+1}} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{k} \|U_{0}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \, \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \Gamma(k+1)\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k+1}}$$
(2.2)

where $\Gamma(\cdot)$ is the usual Gamma function.

Proof of Lemma 2.1. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_k$ and t > 0 be fixed. For simplicity, we introduce $g(x, v) = \sigma(v)^{-k} |f(x, v)|, (x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V$. One has then

$$||U_0(t)f||_{\mathbb{X}_0} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma(v)^k e^{-t\sigma(v)} |g(x - tv, v)| \mathrm{d}x \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma(v)^k e^{-t\sigma(v)} |g(y, v)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$
(2.3)

where we performed the change of variable y = x - tv, dy = dx. Using the elementary inequality

$$u^k e^{-u} \leqslant \left(\frac{k}{e}\right)^k \qquad \forall u \geqslant 0$$
 (2.4)

and applying it with $u = t\sigma(v)$, one has

$$\|U_0(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \left(\frac{k}{t\,e}\right)^k \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |g(y,v)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = \left(\frac{k}{t\,e}\right)^k \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma(v)^{-k} |f(y,v)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$

which gives (2.1). Now, one deduces also from (2.3) and Fubini's theorem that

$$\int_0^\infty \|U_0(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \int_0^\infty \|U_0(t)g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} e^{-t\sigma(v)} |g(y,v)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |g(y,v)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_0^\infty e^{-t\sigma(v)} \mathrm{d}t = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma(v)^{-1}(v) |g(y,v)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \leqslant \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k+1}}$$

whereas

$$\int_0^\infty t^k ||U_0(t)f||_{\mathbb{X}_0} dt = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y,v)| dy \, \boldsymbol{m}(dv) \int_0^\infty t^k e^{-t\sigma(v)} dt$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma^{-k}(v) |f(y,v)| dy \, \boldsymbol{m}(dv) \int_0^\infty (t\sigma(v))^k e^{-t\sigma(v)} dt$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma^{-k-1}(v) |f(y,v)| dy \, \boldsymbol{m}(dv) \int_0^\infty \tau^k e^{-\tau} d\tau$$

where we performed the change of variable $\tau = t \sigma(v)$ in the last step. This gives the last estimate.

2.2. Decay of the Dyson-Phillips iterated. We extend the decay of the semigroup $(U_0(t)))_{t \ge 0}$ obtained in Lemma 2.1 to the iterates $(U_k(t))_{t \ge 0}$ for any $k \ge 1$. To do so, we first observe that for any $t \ge 0$, $U_0(t)$ commute with any multiplication operator depending on the velocity i.e.

$$U_0(t)(\varpi f) = \varpi U_0(t)f$$

for any $\varpi = \varpi(v) \in L^{\infty}(V)$. Moreover, $U_0(t)$ has an exponential decay on any region in which σ is bounded away from zero. Namely, for any $\delta > 0$, introduce

$$\Lambda_{\delta} := \{ v \in V ; \ \sigma(v) \ge \delta \}, \qquad \Sigma_{\delta} = V \setminus \Lambda_{\delta}$$

one has

$$\|U_0(t)\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant e^{-t\delta} \|\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant e^{-t\delta} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Introducing for any $\delta > 0$, the operator $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$ given by

$$\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}f(x,v) = \mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}\mathcal{K}f(x,v) \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_{0}, \quad (x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^{d} \times V$$
(2.5)

as well as

$$\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)} = \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} , \qquad (2.6)$$

one can check the following

Lemma 2.2. For any $n \in \{1, ..., N_0\}$,

$$\|\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \delta^n \|\vartheta_n\|_{\infty}, \qquad \forall 0 \leqslant n \leqslant N_0.$$
(2.7)

Having such a property in mind, we can deduce the decay of $U_k(t)$ as $t \to \infty$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ resulting in

Proposition 2.3. Assume that

$$f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$$

then, for any $n \ge 1$, there exists $C_n > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\sum_{k=0}^{n} U_k(t) f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant C_n \left(\frac{\log t}{t}\right)^{N_0} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}} \qquad \forall t > 0.$$

$$(2.8)$$

The proof is based on a splitting of each term $U_k(t)$ as

$$U_k(t) = U_k^{(\delta)}(t) + \overline{U}_k^{(\delta)}(t)$$

where $U_k^{(\delta)}(t)$ is constructed as a Dyson-Phillips iterated involving *only* the operator $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ whereas the reminder terms make appear *at least once* the difference $\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ and, as such, can be made small with respect to δ by virtue of Lemma 2.2. For the part involving only $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$, we are dealing with a Dyson-Phillips iterate associated with a collision frequency which is *bounded away from zero* we can deduce a full exponential decay of $U_k^{(\delta)}(t)$ and, optimizing the parameter δ , we deduce the algebraic decay of $U_k(t)$. Details are given in Appendix A.

2.3. Representation formulae for remainder terms. On the basis of Proposition 2.3, one sees that, to capture a decay of $\mathcal{V}(t)f$, it is enough to focus on the decay of the reminders

$$S_{n+1}(t) := \mathcal{V}(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n} U_k(t), \qquad n \ge 0, \ t > 0.$$
(2.9)

This is where the resolvent approach enters in the game since it will be convenient to observe that such a reminder admits a useful representation formula as an inverse Laplace transform. We recall here that, for $\text{Re}\lambda > 0$, the resolvent of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}$ exists and is given by

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\right]^n$$
(2.10)

where the series converge in operator norm.

Before such a representation, let us explain here the main important consequences of Assumptions 1.1-1.5 we refer to Section 3 for a complete proof.

Theorem 2.4. If \mathcal{K} satisfies Assumptions 1.1, then there exists $q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\{ [\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})]^{\mathsf{q}} ; 0 \leq \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leq 1 \} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$$

is collectively compact. Moreover, if K satisfies also Assumptions 1.5, there exists $C_0 > 0$ such that

$$\left\| \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K} \right]^2 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} + \left\| \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right]^2 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \frac{C_0}{\sqrt{|\lambda|}}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+ \setminus \{0\}.$$
(2.11)

In particular, for any p > 4, there is $C_p > 0$ such that

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \ge 0} \int_{|\eta| > 1} \| [\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}]^{\mathsf{p}} \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \, \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C_{\mathsf{p}} < \infty.$$
(2.12)

Remark 2.5. We point here that the collective compactness properties is a consequence of Assumption (1.11) and is crucial in particular for the existence of an invariant density Ψ of $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in Theorem 1.2 (we refer to [36] for details on that matter).

It is well-established that the reminder $S_{n+1}(t)$ of the Dyson-Phillips series here above admits the following Laplace transform:

$$\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\lambda)f = \int_0^\infty \exp(\lambda t) \, \mathbf{S}_{n+1}(t) f \, \mathrm{d}t$$

= $\sum_{k=n}^\infty \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{k+1} f, \qquad \forall \mathrm{Re}\lambda > 0, f \in \mathbb{X}_0.$ (2.13)

This allows to express in a natural way $S_{n+1}(t)f$ as the inverse Laplace transform of $\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon+i\eta)$ $(\eta \in \mathbb{R}, \varepsilon > 0)$ (see Proposition A.5 in Appendix A).

The crucial point in our analysis is then to extend the representation formula (A.13) up to the boundary $\varepsilon = 0$. Of course, since $0 \in \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{A})$ we cannot expect to define $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ for $\operatorname{Re}\lambda = 0$ using (2.10). However, under assumption (1.8), it is possible to extend the definition of $\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ to $\lambda = 0$ by observing that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\varphi = \mathsf{M}_0\varphi, \qquad \varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

exists with, for almost every $(x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V$,

$$\mathsf{M}_{0}\varphi(x,v) = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right)\varphi(x-tw,w)\mathrm{d}t$$

Notice indeed that, for $\varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0, \varphi \ge 0$,

$$\|\mathbf{M}_{0}\varphi\|_{0} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \varphi(x - tw, w) \mathrm{d}t$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} \varphi(y, w) \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}t \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} \varphi(y, w) \mathrm{d}y \frac{1}{\sigma(w)} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} \varphi(y, w) \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$
(2.14)

where we used the change of variable y = x - tw in the second identity and (1.8) for the last one. Thus, M₀ is stochastic, i.e. mass-preserving on the positive cone of X₀:

$$\|\mathsf{M}_0\varphi\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = \|\varphi\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \qquad \forall \varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0, \ \varphi \ge 0.$$

In particular,

$$\|\mathsf{M}_0\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = 1.$$

More generally, it is possible to define, for any $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f, \qquad f \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$

The properties of the operator $M_{i\eta}$ are the cornerstone of our analysis which, somehow, culminates with the following result : **Theorem 2.6.** Let Assumptions 1.1 and 1.5 be in force, Let $f \in X_{N_0}$ be such that

$$\varrho_f = \int_{\Omega \times V} f(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 0.$$
(2.15)

Then, the following holds:

(1) For any $n \ge 0$ the limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathscr{S}_n(\varepsilon + i\eta) f_s$$

exists in $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$. Its limit is denoted $\Upsilon_n(\eta) f$. (2) For any $n \ge 5 \cdot 2^{N_0-1}$, the trace function

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \Upsilon_n(\eta) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

and its derivatives of order $k \in \{0, ..., N_0 - 1\}$ are integrable, i.e.

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}} \Upsilon_{n}(\eta) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}\eta < \infty \qquad \forall k \in \{0, \dots, N_{0} - 1\}.$$

Consequently, for $n \ge 5 \cdot 2^{N_0-1} - 1$ and $f \in X_{N_0}$ satisfying (2.15), one has

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{n+1}(t)f = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\ell}^{\ell} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta, \qquad \forall t > 0$$
(2.16)

where the convergence holds in \mathbb{X}_0 and

$$S_{n+1}(t)f = \left(-\frac{i}{t}\right)^{N_0 - 1} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}^{N_0 - 1}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{N_0 - 1}} \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \,\mathrm{d}\eta \tag{2.17}$$

holds true for any $t \ge 0$ where the convergence of the integral holds in \mathbb{X}_0 .

We admit this result for a little while, the whole rest of the paper being devoted to a complete proof of this fundamental Theorem. Let us illustrate right away how to deduce our main result from Theorem 2.6:

Proof of Theorem 1.7. Let us fix $f \in X_{N_0}$. To prove the result, we can assume without loss of generality that $\rho_f = 0$. Of course, the term $\Theta_f(\cdot)$ is given by

$$\Theta_f(\eta) = \frac{\mathrm{d}^{N_0 - 1}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{N_0 - 1}} \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \in \mathbb{X}_0, \qquad \eta \in \mathbb{R}$$

for some suitable choice of $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Recall first that, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and any $t \ge 0$

$$\mathcal{V}(t)f = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} U_k(t)f = \sum_{k=0}^{n} U_k(t) + S_{n+1}(t)f$$

where, according to Proposition 2.3,

$$\left\|\sum_{k=0}^{n} U_k(t) f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant C_n \left(\frac{\log}{1+t}\right)^{-N_0}, \qquad \forall t \ge 0$$

for some positive constant C_n depending on n and f (but not on t). Choosing now $n \ge 2^{N_0-1}p$ and using (2.17), one obtains

$$\|\mathcal{V}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq C_n (1+t)^{-N_0-1} + t^{-N_0-1} \mathcal{F}_n(t)$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}_{n}(t) = \left\| \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}^{N_{0}-1}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{N_{0}-1}} \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta \right\|_{\mathbb{X}}$$

is such that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathcal{F}_n(t) = 0$ according to Riemann-Lebesgue Theorem (recall the mapping $\eta \mapsto \frac{\mathrm{d}^{N_0-1}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{N_0-1}} \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$ is integrable over \mathbb{R} according to (2.17)). This proves the first part of the result.

Let us now prove the second part of it. According to (2.11), one deduces very easily that, for any p > 4, there is $C_p > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{\mathsf{p}}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant C_{\mathsf{p}} |\eta|^{-\frac{\mathsf{p}}{4}}, \qquad \forall |\eta| > 1$$

from which, for R > 1,

$$\int_{|\eta|>R} \left\|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{\mathsf{p}}\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant \frac{8C_{\mathsf{p}}}{\mathsf{p}-4} R^{-\frac{\mathsf{p}-4}{4}} =: \tilde{C}(\mathsf{p})R^{-\beta}, \qquad \forall R > 1$$
(2.18)

with $\beta = \frac{p-4}{4}$. Since the mapping

$$\Theta_f : \eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \frac{\mathrm{d}^{N_0 - 1}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{N_0 - 1}} \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$, it is uniformly continuous. This allows to define a (minimal) modulus of continuity

$$\omega_f(s) := \sup \left\{ \left\| \Theta_f(\eta_1) - \Theta_f(\eta_2) \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} ; \, \eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathbb{R}, \, |\eta_1 - \eta_2| \leqslant s \right\}, \quad s \ge 0.$$

The estimate then comes from some standard reasoning about Fourier transform. Namely, introducing the Fourier transform of the (Bochner integrable) function Θ_f as

$$\widehat{\Theta}_f(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \exp(i\eta t) \Theta_f(\eta) d\eta \in \mathbb{X}_0, \qquad t \ge 0$$

one has then, since $e^{i\pi}=-1=\exp(i\pi t/t),\,t>0,$

$$\widehat{\Theta}_{f}(t) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \exp\left(i\eta t + i\frac{\pi}{t}t\right) \Theta_{f}(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \exp\left(iyt\right) \Theta_{f}\left(y - \frac{\pi}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}y$$

which gives, taking the mean of both the expressions of $\Theta_f(t)$,

$$\widehat{\Theta}_{f}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \left(\Theta_{f}(\eta) - \Theta_{f}\left(\eta - \frac{\pi}{t}\right)\right) d\eta$$

Consequently, if one assumes that $R > 2\pi$,

$$\left\|\widehat{\Theta}_{f}(t)\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \int_{|\eta| \leqslant R} \left\|\Theta_{f}(\eta) - \Theta_{f}\left(\eta - \frac{\pi}{t}\right)\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}\eta + \int_{|\eta| > \frac{R}{2}} \left\|\Theta_{f}(\eta)\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}\eta$$

where we used that $\{\eta \in \mathbb{R} ; |\eta + \frac{\pi}{t}| > R\} \subset \{\eta \in \mathbb{R} ; |\eta| > R - \pi\} \subset \{\eta \in \mathbb{R} ; |\eta| > \frac{R}{2}\}$ since $t \ge 1, R - \pi > \frac{R}{2}$. Therefore, using the modulus of continuity ω_f and (2.18), we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|\widehat{\Theta}_{f}(t)\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &\leq R\omega_{f}\left(\frac{\pi}{t}\right) + \int_{|\eta| > \frac{R}{2}} \left\|\Theta_{f}(\eta)\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &\leq R\omega_{f}\left(\frac{\pi}{t}\right) + 2^{\beta}\tilde{C}(\mathsf{p})R^{-\beta}\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_{0}}}, \qquad \forall R > 2\pi, \qquad t \geqslant 1. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.19)$$

Optimising then the parameter R, i.e. choosing

$$R = \left(\frac{2^{\beta}\beta \,\tilde{C}(\mathbf{p}) \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}}}{\omega_f\left(\frac{\pi}{t}\right)}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta+1}}$$

(up to work with $t \ge t_0 \ge 1$ to ensure that $R > 2\pi$), we obtain the desired estimate since $\frac{\beta}{\beta+1} = \frac{p-4}{p}$.

2.4. **Organization of the paper.** The rest of the paper is devoted to the proof of Theorem 2.6. More precisely, in Section 3 we deduce from Assumptions 1.1 the main collective compactness properties and decay estimates which will play a fundamental role for the proof of Theorem 2.6. In Section 4, we established the preliminary results about the regularity of some of the terms appearing in the resolvent $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ and establish the existence of some of their limit along the imaginary axis $\lambda = i\eta$, $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. In Section 5, we especially focus on the spectral properties of M_{λ} and, in a particular way, on its spectral behaviour around $\lambda = 0$. We use, in a crucial way in this part, Anselone's collective compactness theory and the results established in Section 3. Section 6 establish the existence of the extension of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ to the imaginary axis. In Section 7, we finally provide the full proof of Theorem 2.6. The paper ends with three Appendices containing several of the main technical aspects of the proofs. Namely, Appendix A is devoted to the proof of Proposition 2.3, Appendix B establishes some of the technical properties of M_{λ} used in Section 5 and Appendix C recalls the main aspects of Anselone's collective compactness theory we use in the paper.

3. Consequences of Assumptions 1.1 and 1.5

We comment here on the main consequences of our set of Assumptions on the operator \mathcal{K} given in Assumptions 1.1. Namely, the following two Theorems 3.1 and 3.5 provides a complete proof of Theorem 2.4.

3.1. A criterion for collective compactness of some power. We begin with by showing how Assumption 1.1 is the key argument to deduce the collective compactness of some power of $\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ in Theorem 2.4. Our scope is to prove the following

Theorem 3.1. Let us assume that $\mathcal{K} : L^1(V) \to L^1(V)$ is a weakly compact operator and its kernel satisfies (1.8) together with (1.11). We also assume the measure m to satisfy (1.12). Then, there exists $q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the family of operators

$$\left\{\mathsf{M}^{\mathsf{q}}_{\lambda} ; 0 \leqslant \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leqslant 1\right\} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})$$

is collectively compact.

Remark 3.2. We insist here on the fact that the collective compactness provided by Theorem 3.1 is the crucial argument in the proof of an invariant density Ψ in Theorem 1.2 as obtained in [36].

The proof of Theorem 3.1 resorts on similar results in [36] and on a suitable approximation argument. We use here notations of Section 2.2. Namely, for any $\delta > 0$, we recall from (2.5)

$$\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} : \varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0 \mapsto \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\varphi(x,v) = \mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}(v) \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\varphi(x,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$

It is clear that $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$ with $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\varphi(x,v) \leq \mathcal{K}\varphi(x,v)$ for any $\varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0, \varphi \ge 0$. One has the following:

Lemma 3.3. For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sup_{\mathrm{Re}\lambda \ge 0} \left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^n - \left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^n \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \le n\mu_{\delta}$$

where

$$\mu_{\delta} = \sup_{w \in V} \frac{1}{\sigma(w)} \int_{\Sigma_{\delta}} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v), \qquad \Sigma_{\delta} = V \setminus \Lambda_{\delta} = \{ v \in V ; \ \sigma(v) \leq \delta \}.$$

Proof. The proof is made by induction over $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Observing that $\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ is an integral operator of the form

$$(\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)})\varphi(x, v) = \mathbf{1}_{\Sigma_{\delta}}(v) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w)\varphi(x, w) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$

one already saw that

$$\|\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = \|(\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)})\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \|\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)}.$$

Since

$$\|\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)} = \sup_{w \in V} \frac{1}{\sigma(w)} \int_V \mathbf{1}_{\Sigma_{\delta}}(v) \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = \mu_{\delta}$$

this proves the result for n = 1. Let us assume the result to be true for some $n \ge 1$. One has

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \end{bmatrix}^{n+1} - \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \end{bmatrix}^{n+1} = \left(\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\right)\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\right]^{n} + \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\left(\left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\right]^{n} - \left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\right]^{n}\right).$$

Observing that

$$\left\| \left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^n \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \left\| \left[\mathcal{K} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^n \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \left\| \mathsf{M}_0^n \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant 1,$$

for any $\operatorname{Re}\lambda \ge 0, n \in \mathbb{N}$, one deduces that

$$\left\| \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right]^{n+1} - \left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right]^{n+1} \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leq \left\| \left(\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \right) \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} + \left\| \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right]^n - \left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right]^n \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}$$

Using the induction hypothesis, one sees that

$$\left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{n+1} - \left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{n+1} \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leq \mu_{\delta} + n\mu_{\delta} = (n+1)\mu_{\delta}$$

which proves the result.

We now recall some result which is somehow proven in [36, Theorem 18] (but not stated as below):

18

Lemma 3.4. Let us assume that $\mathcal{K} : L^1(V) \to L^1(V)$ is a weakly compact operator and its kernel satisfies (1.8) together with (1.11) while the measure m satisfies (1.12). There exists N large enough (depending only on m) such that, for any $\delta > 0$,

$$\left\{ \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \right]^N ; \operatorname{Re} \lambda \in [0, 1] \right\} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$$

is collectively compact

Proof. Recall the definition of the Dyson-Phillips (1.24)–(1.25). Since the measure $\boldsymbol{m}(dv) = \boldsymbol{m}(v)dv$ satisfies (1.12), one can apply [34, Theorem 13] to assert that there exists $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $U_j(t)$ is compact for any $j \ge N_0$ and any $t \ge 0$. Let us now consider $\delta > 0$ and recall that $\Lambda_{\delta} = \{v \in V ; \sigma(v) \ge \delta\}$ and $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} = \mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}\mathcal{K}$. One observes that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}} = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta})$ where $\mathcal{A}_{\delta} = \mathcal{A}\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}$ is identified with the advection operator \mathcal{A} on Λ_{δ} . We also define the sequence of Dyson-Phillips iterated $\left(U_j^{(\delta)}(t)\right)_j$ associated to $\mathcal{A}_{\delta} = \mathcal{A}\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}$ and $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$, i.e.

$$U_j^{(\delta)}(t) = \int_0^t U_0^{(\delta)}(t-s)\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}U_{j-1}^{(\delta)}(s)\mathrm{d}s, \qquad j \ge 1$$

and $\left(U_0^{(\delta)}(t)\right)_{t \ge 0}$ is the C_0 -semigroup in \mathbb{X}_0 generated by $\mathcal{A}_{\delta} = \mathcal{A}\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}$. One observes that

$$U_j^{(\delta)}(t) \leqslant U_j(t), \qquad \forall t \ge 0, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}$$

Therefore, by a domination argument, $U_j^{(\delta)}(t)$ is weakly-compact for any $j \ge N_0$ and, consequently, $U_j^{(\delta)}(t)$ is compact for any $j \ge N_1 = 2N_0 + 1$ (see [32, Theorem 2.6 and Corollary 2.1, p. 16]). It follows then that the mapping

$$t \ge 0 \mapsto U_j^{(\delta)}(t) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$$

is continuous (in operator norm) for $j \ge N_2 = N_1 + 1$ (see [32, Corollary 2.2, p. 10]).

Now, observe that, on Λ_δ the collision frequency is bounded from below, one has

 $s(\mathcal{A}_{\delta}) < 0.$

Then, since

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) U_{j}^{(\delta)}(t) \mathrm{d}t = \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\right]^{j} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta})$$

where the integral is converging in operator norm for any $\text{Re}\lambda \ge 0$, we deduce that

$$\left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}_{\delta})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}
ight]^{N_{2}+1}$$
 is compact for any $\operatorname{Re}\lambda > s(\mathcal{A}_{\delta})$.

Since, for any $\operatorname{Re}\lambda > s(\mathcal{A}_{\delta})$, the mapping

$$t \ge 0 \mapsto \exp\left(-it \operatorname{Im}\lambda\right) \left[\exp\left(-t \operatorname{Re}\lambda\right) U_{j}^{(\delta)}(t)\right] \mathrm{d}t \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})$$

is Bochner integrable, one has

$$\left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\right]^{j}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) U_{j}^{(\delta)}(t) \mathrm{d}t$$

is compact for $j \geqslant N_2$ and ${
m Re}\lambda > s({\cal A}_\delta)$ and, by Riemann-Lebesgue Theorem,

$$\lim_{|\mathrm{Im}\lambda|\to\infty} \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \exp\left(-i\,t\,\mathrm{Im}\lambda\right) \left[\exp\left(-t\mathrm{Re}\lambda\right) U_{j}^{(\delta)}(t) \right] \mathrm{d}t \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} = 0$$

according to Riemann-Lebesgue Theorem. It follows that

$$\lim_{|\mathrm{Im}\lambda|\to\infty}\sup_{\mathrm{Re}\lambda\in[0,1]}\left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}}\exp\left(-i\,t\,\mathrm{Im}\lambda\right)\left[\exp\left(-t\mathrm{Re}\lambda\right)U_{j}^{(\delta)}(t)\right]\mathrm{d}t\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}=0.$$

Indeed,

$$\left\{\exp\left(-\bullet\operatorname{Re}\lambda\right)U_{j}^{\left(\delta\right)}(\bullet) ; \operatorname{Re}\lambda\in\left[0,1\right]\right\}$$

is a compact subset of $L^1(\mathbb{R}^+\,,\,\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0))$ since the mapping

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda \in [0,1] \mapsto \exp\left(-\bullet \operatorname{Re}\lambda\right) U_{j}^{(\delta)}(\bullet) \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{+}, \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0}))$$

is continuous. Thus,

$$\lim_{|\mathrm{Im}\lambda|\to\infty} \sup_{\mathrm{Re}\lambda\in[0,1]} \left\| \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}_{\delta})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \right]^{N_{2}+1} \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} = 0, \qquad \forall \delta > 0$$

and finally

$$\left\{ \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta}) \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \right]^{N_{2}+1}, \quad 0 \leq \operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq 1 \right\}$$

is collectively compact. One gets the conclusion since $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$.

Proof of Theorem 3.1. The previous Lemma 3.3 shows that, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $[\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})]^n$ can be approximated in the operator norm by $[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})]^n$ as $\delta \to 0$ uniformly with respect to λ in the set

$$\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re}\lambda \in [0,1]\}.$$

Therefore, to prove Theorem 3.1, it is enough to prove that there exists $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that, for *any fixed* $\delta \in [0, 1]$, the set of operators

$$\left\{ \left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^m ; \ 0 \leq \operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq 1 \right\} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$$

is collectively compact. One notices now that, for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \ge 2$,

$$\left[\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\right]^{m} = \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\right]^{m-2}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}), \qquad \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}.$$
(3.1)

We deduce from the previous Lemma that we can find m large enough (*independent of* δ) so that

$$\left\{ \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \right]^{m-2} ; \operatorname{Re} \lambda \in [0, 1] \right\} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$$

is collectively compact. Since

$$\left| \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \varphi \right| \leq \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A}_{\delta}) \mathsf{M}_{0} |\varphi|$$

for any $\varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0$ with $\mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A}_{\delta})$ and M_0 both bounded. One deduces that

$$\left\{ \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\varphi \; ; \; \|\varphi\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant 1 \; \; ; \; \; 0 \leqslant \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leqslant 1 \right\}$$

is a bounded subset of X_0 . From the collective compactness of $\left\{ \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{\delta}) \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \right]^{m-2} \right\}_{\mathrm{Re}\lambda \in [0,1]}$, one deduces that

$$\left\{ \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \right]^{m-2} \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\varphi \; ; \; \|\varphi\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant 1 \; ; \; 0 \leqslant \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leqslant 1 \right\}$$

is included in some compact of \mathbb{X}_0 . This ends the proof since $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$.

20

3.2. **Decay of** $\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}$. The scope here is to prove the following result

Theorem 3.5. If \mathcal{K} satisfies Assumption 1.5, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\left\| \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K} \right]^2 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} + \left\| \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right]^2 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{|\lambda|}}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+, \quad |\lambda| \ge 1.$$
(3.2)

We will divide the proof in several lemmas which contain the crucial estimates of our analysis. We begin with the following easy consequences of Assumption 1.5

Lemma 3.6. Let \mathcal{K} satisfy Assumption 1.5 and introduce

$$\boldsymbol{K}_2(v,w',w) = \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{k}(w,w')\boldsymbol{m}(w), \qquad \forall v,w,w' \in V^3.$$

Then, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d}w \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \mathbf{K}_2(v, w', w) \right| \max\left(1, \sigma^{-1}(v)\right) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ \leqslant C \, \sigma(w') \,, \qquad \forall w' \in V,$$

Moreover,

$$|w \cdot \nabla_w \sigma(w)| \leq C_1 \sigma(w), \qquad \forall w \in V.$$

Proof. Noticing that

$$w \cdot \nabla_{w} \mathbf{K}_{2}(v, w', w) = \left[\mathbf{k}(v, w) \left(w \cdot \nabla_{w} \mathbf{k}(w, w')\right) + \mathbf{k}(w, w') \left(w \cdot \nabla_{w} \mathbf{k}(v, w)\right)\right] \mathbf{m}(w) + \mathbf{k}(v, w) \mathbf{k}(w, w') w \cdot \nabla_{w} \mathbf{m}(w),$$

it holds, for s = 0, 1,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d}w \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \mathbf{K}_2\left(v, w', w\right) \right| \sigma^{-s}(v) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathbf{k}(w, w') \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \mathbf{k}(v, w) \right| \sigma^{-s}(v) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sigma^{-1}(w) \left(\sigma(w) \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \mathbf{k}(w, w') \right| \right) \vartheta_s(w) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \vartheta_s(w) \mathbf{k}(w, w') \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \log \mathbf{m}(w) \right| \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \end{split}$$

which results in

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d}w \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \boldsymbol{K}_2(v, w', w) \right| \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \leqslant C \sigma(w')$$

with $C = C_1 + \|\vartheta_s\|_{\infty} (C_2 + \sup_w |w \cdot \nabla_w \log \boldsymbol{m}(w)|) < \infty$ where we used (1.7), (1.14)–(1.13) and the conservative assumption (1.8). For the estimate of $w \cdot \nabla \sigma(w)$, one simply observes that, due to the conservative assumption

$$w \cdot \nabla \sigma(w) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} w \cdot \nabla_w \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$

so that

$$|w \cdot \nabla_w \sigma(w)| \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |w \cdot \nabla_w \boldsymbol{k}(v, w)| \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \leq C_1 \sigma(w)$$

according to (1.14).

Let $\lambda = \varepsilon + i\eta$, $\varepsilon \ge 0$, $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. The proof of Theorem 3.5 consists in actually estimating

$$\|\mathcal{KR}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)}.$$

One checks easily that

$$\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K} f(x, v) = \int_{V} \mathbf{k}(v, w) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\left(\lambda + \sigma(w)\right) t\right) \mathrm{d}t \int_{V} \mathbf{k}(w, w') f(x - tw, w') \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w').$$

Therefore

$$\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K} f(x, v) = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\left(\lambda + \sigma(w)\right)t\right) \mathrm{d}t$$
$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{k}(w, w') f(x - tw, w') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \,.$$

We split the integral over time into $\int_{\delta}^{\infty} + \int_{0}^{\delta}$ and write accordingly

$$\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda) + \mathcal{U}_{\delta}'(\lambda)$$

where, in $\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)$, we restrict the time integral to the set $[\delta, \infty)$ and $\mathcal{U}'_{\delta}(\lambda)$ is defined with the time integral over $(0, \delta)$. The estimate of $\|\mathcal{U}'_{\delta}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)}$ is the easiest one.

Lemma 3.7. For any $\delta > 0$ it holds

$$\|\mathcal{U}_{\delta}'(\lambda)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} \leqslant \delta \,\|\vartheta_{s}\|_{\infty} \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}}$$

for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}$ and any $s \leqslant N_0$ (where we recall that $\vartheta_0 \equiv 1$).

Proof. By definition

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{U}_{\delta}'(\lambda)f(x,v) &= \int_{V} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') \int_{0}^{\delta} \exp\left(-\left(\lambda + \sigma(w)\right)t\right) \mathrm{d}t \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{k}(w,w') f(x-tw,w') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ \text{for any } f \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}, \, (x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^{d} \times V, \, \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}. \text{ Thus,} \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{U}_{\delta}'(\lambda)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{V} \sigma^{-s}(v)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\int_{0}^{\delta} \mathrm{d}t \int_{V} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{k}(w,w') |f(x-tw,w')|\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w'). \end{aligned}$$

One easily sees, with the change of variables $x \mapsto y = x - tw$ that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{U}_{\delta}'(\lambda)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} |f(y, w')| \mathrm{d}y \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') \\ &\int_{0}^{\delta} \mathrm{d}t \int_{V \times V} \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{k}(w, w') \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\leqslant \delta \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{s}\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} \sigma(w') |f(y, w')| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') \end{aligned}$$

where we used that ${\rm Re}\lambda \geqslant 0,\, \sigma \geqslant 0$ and

$$\int_{V\times V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{k}(w,w')\sigma^{-s}(v)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') = \int_{V} \sigma(w)\vartheta_{s}(w)\boldsymbol{k}(w,w')\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w).$$

This gives the desired estimate.

It remains to estimate $\|\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)}$. One begins with the following representation of $\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)$

Lemma 3.8. For any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}$, $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$ and any $(x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V$ one has

$$\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)f(x,v) = \int_{[0,1]^d \times V} \widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w')f(y,w')\mathrm{d}y\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w')$$
(3.3)

where

$$\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(z, v, w') = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{z-k}{t}\right)\right) \times \\ \times \mathbf{k}\left(v, \frac{z-k}{t}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{z-k}{t}, w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{z-k}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}t, \qquad z \in \mathbb{R}^d, v, w \in V.$$

Proof. By definition,

$$\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)f(x,v) = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\left(\lambda + \sigma(w)\right)t\right) \mathrm{d}t$$
$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{k}(w,w')f(x-tw,w')\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w).$$

We recall that functions over \mathbb{T}^d are identified with functions defined over \mathbb{R}^d which are $[0,1]^d$ -periodic. Given $t \ge \delta$, one performs the change of variable

$$y := x - tw, \qquad \mathrm{d}y = t^d \mathrm{d}w, \tag{3.4}$$

and

$$\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)f(x,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\times V} f(y,w') \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \\ \mathbf{1}_{\frac{x-y}{t}\in V}(t) \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{x-y}{t}\right)\right) \, \boldsymbol{k}\left(v,\frac{x-y}{t}\right) \boldsymbol{k}\left(\frac{x-y}{t},w'\right) \boldsymbol{m}\left(\frac{x-y}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}t \, .$$

Given $z \in \mathbb{R}^d, w' \in V,$ we introduce the function

$$H_{\lambda}(z,v,w') = \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathbf{1}_{\frac{z}{t} \in V}(t) \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{z}{t}\right)\right) \mathbf{k}\left(v,\frac{z}{t}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{z}{t},w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{z}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}t$$

so that

$$\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)f(x,v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times V} H_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w')f(y,w') \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w').$$

Notice that \mathbb{R}^d admits the following partition representation

$$\mathbb{R}^d = \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(k + [0, 1]^d \right)$$

so that, using the \mathbb{Z}^d -periodicity of $f(\cdot, w')$, we have

$$\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)f(x,v) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \int_{k+[0,1]^d} \mathrm{d}y \int_V H_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w')f(y,w')\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w')$$
$$= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \int_{[0,1]^d \times V} H_{\lambda}(x-y-k,v,w')f(y,w')\mathrm{d}y\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w')$$

which results in (3.3).

With this representation, the key estimate is provided by the following

Lemma 3.9. There exists $C_3 > 0$ (depending only on $d, C_1, C_2, \|\sigma\|_{\infty}, \|v \cdot \nabla_v \log m\|_{\infty}$ and $\|\vartheta_s\|_{\infty}$) such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \max\left(1, \sigma^{-1}(v)\right) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{[0,1]^d} \left| \widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w') \right| \mathrm{d}x \leqslant \frac{C_3}{|\lambda|} \left(\frac{1}{\delta} + 1\right) \sigma(w')$$

for any $y, w' \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V$, $\delta > 0, \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+ \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof. We begin with the following observation, valid for any $u \in \mathbb{R}^d$, and which is obtained thanks to a simple use of integration by parts,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathbf{k}\left(v,\frac{u}{t}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{u}{t},w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{u}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left[t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \mathbf{k}\left(v,\frac{u}{t}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{u}{t},w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right] \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{\lambda} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \mathbf{k}\left(v,\frac{u}{t}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{u}{t},w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{u}{t}\right) \right|_{t=\delta}^{\infty} \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left[t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \mathbf{k}\left(v,\frac{u}{t}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{u}{t},w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right] \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\quad +\frac{1}{\lambda} \delta^{-d} \exp\left(-\delta\sigma\left(\frac{u}{\delta}\right)\right) \mathbf{k}\left(v,\frac{u}{\delta}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{u}{\delta},w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{u}{\delta}\right) \exp\left(-\lambda\delta\right) \end{split}$$

Recalling that we introduced $K_2(v, w', w) = k(v, w)k(w, w')m(w)$, for any $v, w, w' \in V^3$, one sees that, for $v, u, w' \in V^3$ and $t > \delta$, one has alors

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left[t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \mathbf{k} \left(v, \frac{u}{t}\right) \mathbf{k} \left(\frac{u}{t}, w'\right) \mathbf{m} \left(\frac{u}{t}\right) \right] \\ = t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \left[-\frac{d}{t} - \sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right) + \frac{u}{t} \cdot \nabla\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right) \right] \mathbf{K}_{2} \left(v, w', \frac{u}{t}\right) \\ + t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \left(-\frac{u}{t^{2}} \cdot \nabla_{3} \mathbf{K}_{2} \left(v, w', \frac{u}{t}\right) \right) \right]$$

where $\nabla_3 K_2(v, w', w)$ denotes the gradient with respect to the third variable $w \in \mathbb{R}^3$. In particular

$$\frac{1}{t}\nabla_{3}\boldsymbol{K}_{2}\left(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{w}',\frac{\boldsymbol{u}}{t}\right) = \nabla_{\boldsymbol{u}}\boldsymbol{K}_{2}\left(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{w}',\frac{\boldsymbol{u}}{t}\right).$$

From this, one has

$$\begin{split} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathbf{k}\left(v,\frac{u}{t}\right) \mathbf{k}\left(\frac{u}{t},w'\right) \mathbf{m}\left(\frac{u}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \left[-\frac{d}{t} - \sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right) + \frac{u}{t} \cdot \nabla\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right] \mathbf{K}_{2}\left(v,w',\frac{u}{t}\right) \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{u}{t}\right)\right) \frac{u}{t} \cdot \nabla_{u} \mathbf{K}_{2}\left(v,w',\frac{u}{t}\right) \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\lambda} \delta^{-d} \exp\left(-\delta\sigma\left(\frac{u}{\delta}\right)\right) \mathbf{K}_{2}\left(v,w',\frac{u}{\delta}\right) \exp\left(-\lambda\delta\right) \,. \end{split}$$

Consequently, recalling that

$$\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(z,v,w') = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{z-k}{t}\right)\right) \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) \mathbf{K}_2\left(v,w',\frac{z-k}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}t$$

one deduces that

$$\begin{split} \left| \widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(z,v,w') \right| &\leq \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{z-k}{t}\right)\right) \mathbf{K}_{2}\left(v,w',\frac{z-k}{t}\right) \\ & \left| -\frac{d}{t} - \sigma\left(\frac{z-k}{t}\right) + \frac{z-k}{t} \cdot \nabla\sigma\left(\frac{z-k}{t}\right) \right| \,\mathrm{d}t \\ & + \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{z-k}{t}\right)\right) \left| \frac{z-k}{t} \cdot \nabla_{z} \mathbf{K}_{2}\left(v,w',\frac{z-k}{t}\right) \right| \,\mathrm{d}t \\ & + \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \delta^{-d} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \exp\left(-\delta\sigma\left(\frac{z-k}{\delta}\right)\right) \mathbf{K}_{2}\left(v,w',\frac{z-k}{\delta}\right). \end{split}$$

Therefore, using periodicity once again,

$$\begin{split} \int_{[0,1]^d} \left| \widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w') \right| \mathrm{d}x &\leq \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{x-y}{t}\right)\right) \\ & \left(\frac{d}{\delta} + \sigma\left(\frac{x-y}{t}\right) + \left|\frac{x-y}{t} \cdot \nabla\sigma\left(\frac{x-y}{t}\right)\right|\right) \mathbf{K}_2\left(v,w',\frac{x-y}{t}\right) \mathrm{d}x \\ & + \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} t^{-d} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-t\sigma\left(\frac{x-y}{t}\right)\right) \left|\frac{x-y}{t} \cdot \nabla_x \mathbf{K}_2\left(v,w',\frac{x-y}{t}\right)\right| \mathrm{d}x \\ & + \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \delta^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-\delta\sigma\left(\frac{x-y}{\delta}\right)\right) \mathbf{K}_2\left(v,w',\frac{x-y}{\delta}\right) \mathrm{d}x \end{split}$$

Performing the backward change of variables with respect to (3.4), i.e. setting $x \mapsto w = \frac{x-y}{t}$ for the first two integrals and using that

$$\int_{\delta}^{\infty} \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \frac{1}{\sigma(w)}, \qquad \forall w \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

one deduces that

$$\begin{split} \int_{[0,1]^d} \left| \widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w') \right| \mathrm{d}x &\leq \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{d}{\delta} + \sigma\left(w\right) + |w \cdot \nabla \sigma\left(w\right)| \right) \mathbf{K}_2\left(v,w',w\right) \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d}w \\ &+ \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \mathbf{K}_2\left(v,w',w\right) \right| \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d}w \\ &+ \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-\delta \sigma\left(w\right)\right) \mathbf{K}_2\left(v,w',w\right) \mathrm{d}w \end{split}$$

where we performed the change of variable $x \mapsto w = \frac{x-y}{\delta}$ for the last integral. Integrating now with respect to $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we deduce that, for s = 0, 1,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{[0,1]^d} \left| \widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w') \right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{d}{\delta} + \sigma\left(w\right) + |w \cdot \nabla \sigma\left(w\right)| \right) \boldsymbol{K}_2\left(v,w',w\right) \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d}w \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \left| w \cdot \nabla_w \boldsymbol{K}_2\left(v,w',w\right) \right| \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d}w \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-\delta\sigma\left(w\right)\right) \boldsymbol{K}_2\left(v,w',w\right) \mathrm{d}w \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \end{split}$$

Noticing that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \boldsymbol{K}_2(v, w', w) \, \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = \sigma(w) \vartheta_s(w) \boldsymbol{k}(w, w') \boldsymbol{m}(w)$$

and using Lemma 3.6, we obtain that, or s = 0, 1

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{[0,1]^d} \left| \widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w') \right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \left(\frac{d}{\delta} + \|\sigma\|_{\infty} + C_1 \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \right) \|\vartheta_s\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \boldsymbol{k}\left(w,w'\right) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &\quad + \frac{C}{|\lambda|} \sigma(w') + \frac{\|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_s\|_{\infty}}{|\lambda|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \boldsymbol{k}\left(w,w'\right) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \end{split}$$

from which we easily derive the conclusion.

Remark 3.10. We insist on the fact that the change of variables (3.4) (and its backward counterpart) is the only part of our analysis in which we use the fact that m(dv) is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure. We strongly believe that, at a price of additional technical calculations, our analysis can be extended to a larger class of measures m(dv) satisfying (1.12).

We have all at hands to prove the result

Proof of Theorem 3.5. Recalling that, for any $\delta > 0$ and any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}$

$$\mathcal{KR}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}=\mathcal{U}_{\delta}(\lambda)+\mathcal{U}_{\delta}'(\lambda)$$

we deduce from (3.3) that, for s = 0, 1,

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} &\leqslant \|\mathcal{U}_{\delta}'(\lambda)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} \left|f(y,w')\right| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w') \int_{V} \sigma^{-s}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{[0,1]^{d}} \left|\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}(x-y,v,w')\right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leqslant \delta \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{s}\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} + \frac{C_{3}}{|\lambda|} \left(\frac{1}{\delta} + 1\right) \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} \end{split}$$

where we used Lemmas 3.7 and 3.9 in the second estimate. Optimizing now the parameter δ , we deduce that

$$\|\mathcal{KR}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_s)} \leq 2\sqrt{\frac{C_3\|\sigma\|_{\infty}}{|\lambda|}} + \frac{C_3}{|\lambda|}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+ \setminus \{0\}$$

For s = 0, we deduce from this that there exists $C_4 > 0$ such that, for $|\lambda| > 1$,

$$\left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \right]^2 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \| \mathcal{KR}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)} \| \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_{-1})} \leqslant \frac{C_4}{\sqrt{|\lambda|}}$$

since $\sup_{\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_{-1})} \leqslant 1$. Now, with s = 1, we deduce in the same way that there is $C_5 > 0$ such that

$$\left\| \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K} \right]^2 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \| \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A}) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_1,\mathbb{X}_0)} \| \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K} \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)} \leqslant \frac{C_5}{\sqrt{|\lambda|}} \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)} \leq \frac{C_5}{\sqrt{|\lambda|}}$$

since $\|\mathcal{KR}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)} \leqslant \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\mathcal{KR}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_1)}$. This proves the result.

4. Regularity and extension results

From now, we will always assume that Assumptions 1.1 and 1.5 are in force.

4.1. About the resolvent of A. We recall that under Assumption (1.9) one has

$$0 \in \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{A}).$$

More precisely, since \mathcal{A} generates a C_0 -group in \mathbb{X}_0 , one can prove (see [33]) that there exists $\lambda_{\star} > 0$ such that

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{A}) = \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \; ; \; -\lambda_{\star} \leqslant \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leqslant 0 \}.$$
(4.1)

This shows in particular that

$$i\eta \in \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{A}) \qquad \quad \forall \eta \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Regarding the behaviour of $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$, one first observes that, by virtue of (4.1)

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = \infty.$$
(4.2)

However, studying the behaviour of $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$ on the hierarchy of spaces \mathbb{X}_k , $k \ge 1$ yields better estimates:

Proposition 4.1. For any $f \in X_0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, the mapping

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^k(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, given $s \in \mathbb{R}$, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{s+1}$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) j$$

exists in $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_s)$. This limit is denoted $\mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$, i.e.

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0 \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_{s+1}.$$
(4.3)

Proof. We begin with the first part of the Proposition. Observing that

$$\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f = \int_0^\infty e^{-i\eta t} e^{-\varepsilon t} U_0(t) f \mathrm{d}t$$

where the mapping $t \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto e^{-\varepsilon t} U_0(t) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$ is Bochner integrable, one deduces from Riemann-Lebesgue Theorem that the mapping $\eta \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$ belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$, in particular

$$\lim_{|\eta| \to \infty} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$
(4.4)

Given $k \in \mathbb{N}$, because

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f = (-i)^k \int_0^\infty t^k e^{-i\eta t} e^{-\varepsilon t} U_0(t) f \,\mathrm{d}t$$

the exact same argument shows that

$$\lim_{|\eta|\to\infty} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

which proves that $\eta \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$ belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^k(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$. Let us focus now on the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$ be given, we deduce from Lemma 2.1 and the dominated convergence theorem that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_0^\infty e^{-i\eta t} e^{-\varepsilon t} U_0(t) f dt = \int_0^\infty e^{-i\eta t} U_0(t) f dt$$

exists in $\mathbb{X}_0.$ The limit is of course denoted $\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})f$ and one has

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon+i\eta,\mathcal{A})f-\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \int_{0}^{\infty} \left|e^{-\varepsilon t}-1\right| \|U_{0}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}t \qquad \forall \eta \in \mathbb{R}, \, \varepsilon > 0.$$

Thus

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$
(4.5)

still using the fact that $t \mapsto ||U_0(t)f||_{\mathbb{X}_0}$ is integrable over $[0, \infty)$ and the dominated convergence theorem. Now, given $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f \in \mathbb{X}_{s+1}$, setting

$$g(x,v) = \sigma^s(v)f(x,v)$$

one sees that $g \in \mathbb{X}_1$ and $U_0(f)g(x,v) = \sigma^s(v)U_0(t)f(x,v)$. Applying (4.5) to g, we deduce that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0$$

and the result follows.

Remark 4.2. One deduces from the above Proposition and Banach-Steinhaus Theorem [8, Theorem 2.2, p. 32] that

$$C_s := \sup\left\{ \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{s+1}, \mathbb{X}_s)} ; \varepsilon \in (0, 1] ; \eta \in \mathbb{R} \right\} < \infty \qquad \forall s \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.6)

We deduce then the following

Corollary 4.3. Given $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a given compact interval. If

$$g : \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+ \longmapsto g(\lambda) \in \mathbb{X}_{s+1}$$

is a continuous mapping such that the limit

$$\widetilde{g}(\eta) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} g(\varepsilon + i\eta)$$

exists in \mathbb{X}_{s+1} uniformly with respect to $\eta \in I$. Then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})g(\varepsilon + i\eta) = \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\widetilde{g}(\eta)$$

in \mathbb{X}_s where the convergence is uniform with respect to $\eta \in I$.

Proof. The proof is a simple adaptation of the one in [27, Corollary 4.14]. Details are omitted. \Box

Remark 4.4. If $I = \mathbb{R}$, the above result still holds true under the additional assumption that

$$\lim_{|\eta| \to \infty} \|g(\varepsilon + i\eta)\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s+1}} = 0 \qquad \forall \varepsilon > 0$$

and, in such a case, the convergence of $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})g(\varepsilon + i\eta)$ towards $\mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\widetilde{g}(\eta)$ holds in $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_s)$.

The convergence established in Prop. 4.1 extends to derivatives of $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$

Lemma 4.5. Given $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $f \in \mathbb{X}_{k+1}$, it holds

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

Consequently, the mapping

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^k(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$.

Proof. As already established

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f = (-i)^k \int_0^\infty e^{-i\eta t} t^k e^{-\varepsilon t} U_0(t) f \mathrm{d}t, \qquad \varepsilon > 0$$

and, since

$$\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})f = \int_0^\infty e^{-i\eta t} U_0(t) f \mathrm{d}t$$

one sees easily that, if $f \in \mathbb{X}_{k+1}$,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k}\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})f = (-i)^k \int_0^\infty e^{-i\eta t} t^k U_0(t) f \mathrm{d}t$$

is well-defined in X_0 thanks to Lemma 2.1. One concludes then exactly as in Prop. 4.1.

Remark 4.6. The above formula extends trivially to derivative of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, A)$ with respect to λ and one has

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k}} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, A) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{k} \left\| U_{0}(t) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \Gamma(k+1) \| f \|_{\mathbb{X}_{k+1}}$$
(4.7)

thanks to (2.2).

4.2. **Definition and properties of** M_{λ} . The above results allow us to define a *bounded* linear operator

$$\mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$$

as the strong limit of $\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})$ as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$, i.e.

$$\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\varphi := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\varphi, \qquad \forall \varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

where the limit is meant in X_0 . Indeed, recall that, for any $f \in X_0$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} = 0$$

and, since $\mathcal{K} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_0)$, one deduces that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0, \tag{4.8}$$

where

$$\mathsf{M}_{i\eta} = \mathcal{KR}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0).$$

Remark 4.7. It is easy to check that $M_{i\eta}$ given by,

$$\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f(x,v) := \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-t\left(i\eta + \sigma(w)\right)\right) f(x-tw,w)\mathrm{d}t, \qquad f \in \mathbb{X}_{0}.$$

In particular, one sees that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} \mathrm{d}x\,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)\int_{V}\boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)\int_{0}^{\infty}\exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right)|f(x-tw,w)\mathrm{d}t\\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V}\sigma^{-1}(w)|f(y,w)|\mathrm{d}y\,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)\int_{V}\boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \end{split}$$

where we used the change of variable $x \mapsto y = x - tw$ to compute the integral over \mathbb{T}^d . Using then assumption (1.8), we obtain

$$\|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant 1.$$

Notice that, with straightforward computations, one has

$$[\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f](x, v) = \int_{V} \mathbf{k}(v, w)\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{0}^{\infty} [\exp(-\varepsilon t) - 1] \exp(-(i\eta + \sigma(w))t) f(x - tw, w)\mathrm{d}t \quad (4.9)$$

for almost every $(x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V$ and any $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$. In particular,

$$\sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y, w)| \left[1 - \frac{\sigma(w)}{\varepsilon + \sigma(w)}\right] \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \,. \tag{4.10}$$

This allows to recover (4.8) by a simple use of the dominated convergence theorem.

From the above definition, and with a slight abuse of notations, we set

$$\mathsf{M}_{\lambda} := \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}), \qquad \forall \mathrm{Re}\lambda \ge 0$$

so that $M_{i\eta}$ is the strong limit of $M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}$ in X_0 . One actually has the following regularizing properties of $M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}$:

Lemma 4.8. For any $k \in \{0, ..., N_0\}$ one has

$$\sup\left\{\left\|\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0},\mathbb{X}_{k})}, \operatorname{Re}\lambda \geq 0\right\} \leq \left\|\vartheta_{k}\right\|_{\infty} < \infty.$$
(4.11)

Proof. Given $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$, $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge 0$ and $k \ge 0$, one has

$$\|\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k}} \leqslant \|\mathsf{M}_{0}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k}}$$

and it suffices to prove the result for $M_0 f$. One checks easily that

$$\|\mathsf{M}_0 f\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y, w)| \, \mathrm{d} y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d} w) \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \sigma^{-k}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d} v) \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w)t\right) \, \mathrm{d} t$$

i.e.

$$\|\mathsf{M}_0 f\|_{\mathbb{X}_1} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y, w)| \, \mathrm{d}y \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)}{\sigma(w)} \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)}{\sigma^k(v)} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \vartheta_k(w) \, |f(y, w)| \, \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$

which proves the result since $\vartheta_k \in L^{\infty}(V, \boldsymbol{m})$ as soon as $k \leqslant N_0$.

Remark 4.9. *The same proof shows that, actually,*

$$\|\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} \frac{\sigma(w)}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \sigma(w)} |f(y, w)| \,\mathrm{d}y \,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$

for any $f \in X_0, \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$. Thefore,

$$\|\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \sup_{w} \frac{\sigma(w)}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \sigma(w)} = \frac{\|\sigma\|_{\infty}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \|\sigma\|_{\infty}}$$
(4.12)

since the mapping $x \mapsto \frac{x}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + x}$ is increasing for $\operatorname{Re}\lambda > 0$.

With this, one can prove that the above convergence in (4.8) extends to the stronger norm \mathbb{X}_k for $k \leq N_0$ and to iterations of $\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})$:

Lemma 4.10. Let $f \in X_0$. Then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} = 0, \qquad \forall k \leqslant N_0.$$
(4.13)

Moreover, for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \right]^j f - \mathsf{M}^j_{i\eta} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} = 0$$
(4.14)

uniformly with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$ for any $k \leq N_0$.

Proof. Recalls that (4.9) gives the expression of $\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f$. In particular, for any $k \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} \\ \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y, w)| \left[1 - \frac{\sigma(w)}{\varepsilon + \sigma(w)}\right] \left(\frac{1}{\sigma(w)} \int_V \sigma^{-k}(v) \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)\right) \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y, w)| \left[1 - \frac{\sigma(w)}{\varepsilon + \sigma(w)}\right] \vartheta_k(w) \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w). \end{split}$$

Thus, for $k \leq N_0$, since $\vartheta_k \in L^{\infty}(V)$, we deduce that

$$\sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} \leqslant \|\vartheta_k\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y, w)| \left[1 - \frac{\sigma(w)}{\varepsilon + \sigma(w)}\right] \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$
(4.15)

and recover (4.13) by a simple use of the dominated convergence theorem. Let us prove now (4.14) by induction on $j \in \mathbb{N}$. For j = 1, the result is exactly (4.8). Assume the result to be true for $j \ge 1$. Given $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$, set

$$g(\varepsilon,\eta) = \mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f.$$

Since $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} g(\varepsilon, \eta) = \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} f$ in $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$ then

$$\{g(\varepsilon,\eta) ; \eta \in \mathbb{R} ; \varepsilon \in [0,1]\}$$

is a compact subset of X_0 We notice now that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{j+1} f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{j+1} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k}} &\leq \left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{j} g(\varepsilon, \eta) - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{j} g(\varepsilon, \eta) \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k}} \\ &+ \left\| \vartheta_{k} \right\|_{\infty}^{j} \left\| \mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} f \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}. \end{split}$$

where we used (4.11). The compactness of the family $\{g(\varepsilon,\eta) ; \eta \in \mathbb{R} ; \varepsilon \in [0,1]\} \subset \mathbb{X}_0$ together with the induction hypothesis easily gives then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \right]^j g(\varepsilon, \eta) - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^j g(\varepsilon, \eta) \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} = 0.$$

This readily implies that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \left[\mathcal{KR}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{j+1} f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{j+1} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_k} = 0$$

which achieves the inductive proof.

Remark 4.11. Notice that an easy consequence of (4.13) together with Corollary 4.3 is that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathcal{K} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathcal{K} \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k-1}} = 0, \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$
(4.16)

and any $k \leq N_0$.

Remark 4.12. As in Corollary 4.3, we deduce in particular that, if $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a given compact interval and $g : \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+ \longmapsto g(\lambda) \in \mathbb{X}_0$ is a continuous mapping such that the limit

$$\widetilde{g}(\eta) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} g(\varepsilon + i\eta)$$

exists in X_0 uniformly with respect to $\eta \in I$. Then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{\eta \in I} \|\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}g(\varepsilon + i\eta) - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\widetilde{g}(\eta)\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0$$
(4.17)

for any $s \leq N_0$. As in Remark 4.4, if $I = \mathbb{R}$, the limit (4.17) still holds true under the additional assumption that

$$\lim_{|\eta| \to \infty} \|g(\varepsilon + i\eta)\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s+1}} = 0 \qquad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

In such a case, one has $M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}g(\varepsilon+i\eta)$ converges to $M_{i\eta}\widetilde{g}(\eta)$ in $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{X}_s)$.

4.3. About the differentiability of M_{λ} . Let us now focus on the strong differentiability of the mapping $\lambda \mapsto M_{\lambda}$ at $\lambda = 0$. We begin with observing that the above computations all deal with limit of operators related to $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})$ for a given η (i.e. they concern limits along *horizontal lines*) since this is enough for our analysis. Regarding the limiting behaviour around $\lambda = 0$, we will need to allow a convergence in the usual sense in \mathbb{C} . Namely, we can reformulate our results as follows with the exact same proofs. We collect the results we will need later on in the following

Theorem 4.13. For any $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{s+1}$,

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to 0\\ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+}} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f - \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0.$$
(4.18)

Let $f \in X_0$. Then

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to 0 \\ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}}} \|\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f - \mathsf{M}_{0}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k}} = 0,$$

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to 0 \\ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}}} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f - \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{0}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k-1}} = 0, \quad \forall k \leq N_{0}, \quad (4.19)$$

Moreover, for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to 0\\ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}}} \left\| \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{j} f - \mathsf{M}_{0}^{j} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k}} = 0$$
(4.20)

uniformly with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$ for any $k \leq N_0$.

Proof. The proof is exactly the same as the ones derived in the previous subsection. For instance, for $f \in X_1$, one has

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})f - \mathcal{R}(0,\mathcal{A})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \int_0^\infty \left|e^{-\lambda t} - 1\right| \|U_0(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \mathrm{d}t \qquad \forall \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+.$$

Then, since for any $t \ge 0$, $\lim_{\lambda \to 0} |e^{-\lambda t} - 1| = 0$, $\sup_{t\ge 0} |e^{-\lambda t} - 1| \le 2$ for any $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$ and since $t \mapsto ||U_0(t)f||_{\mathbb{X}_0}$ is integrable over $[0, \infty)$, we deduce from the dominated convergence theorem that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

We conclude then to (4.18) as in the proof of (4.3). The other results are based upon the same arguments. Details are left to the reader.

For the first derivative of M_{λ} one has the following ¹

Lemma 4.14. For any $f \in X_1$, the limit

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} f$$

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \{ \ldots \} = \lim_{\substack{\lambda \to 0 \\ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+}} \{ \ldots \}.$$

¹In all the sequel, when considering $\lim_{\lambda\to 0}$, we will always assume that λ approaches 0 belonging to $\overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$, i.e.

exists in \mathbb{X}_0 and is denoted $\mathsf{M}'_0 f$. Moreover, one has

$$\left\|\mathsf{M}_{0}'f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{1}}.$$

Proof. Given $f \in X_1$, let

$$\mathsf{M}'_0 f(x,v) = \int_V \mathbf{k}(v,w) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_0^\infty t \, \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) f(x-tw,w) \mathrm{d}t, \qquad (x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V.$$

One has, with the usual change of variables $x \mapsto y = x - tw$ and since

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{M}_{0}'f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} |f(y,w)| \,\mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{0}^{\infty} t \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \,\mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} |f(y,w)| \,\mathrm{d}y \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)}{\sigma^{2}(w)} \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} |f(y,w)| \,\mathrm{d}y \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)}{\sigma(w)} \end{split}$$

which proves that

$$\|\mathsf{M}_0'f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_1}.$$

Noticing now that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}f(x,v) = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{0}^{\infty} t \, \exp\left(-\left(\lambda + \sigma(w)\right)t\right) f(x-tw,w) \mathrm{d}t$$

one gets that $\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} f - \mathsf{M}'_{0} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} = 0$ thanks to the dominated convergence theorem.

We can extend this to higher power of M_{λ} under the sole assumption that $f \in X_1$, namely **Proposition 4.15.** For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, set

$$\mathsf{L}_n(\lambda) = \mathsf{M}^n_{\lambda}, \qquad \forall \mathrm{Re}\lambda \geqslant 0.$$

Then, for any $p \in \{1, ..., N_0\}$, if $f \in \mathbb{X}_p$ there exists $\mathsf{L}_n^{(p)}(0)f \in \mathbb{X}_s$ for any $s \leqslant N_0$ such that

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to 0\\\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^p}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^p} \mathsf{L}_n(\lambda) f - \mathsf{L}_n^{(p)}(0) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0$$

and

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}} \left\| \mathsf{L}_{n}^{(p)}(\lambda) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} \leqslant \left\| \mathsf{L}_{n}^{(p)}(0) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} \leqslant \|\vartheta_{s}\|_{\infty} C_{n,p} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{p}}, \tag{4.21}$$

where

$$C_{n,p} = \sum_{|\mathbf{r}|=p} {p \choose \mathbf{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \|\vartheta_{r_j}\|_{\infty}$$

with $\mathbf{r} = (r_1, \dots, r_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ is a multi-index such that $|\mathbf{r}| = \sum_{j=1}^n r_j = p$ and $\binom{p}{\mathbf{r}} = \frac{p!}{r_1! \dots r_n!}$.

The proof of this result is deferred to Appendix B.

5. Spectral properties of M_{λ} along the imaginary axis

Recall that we defined

$$\mathsf{M}_{\lambda} := \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}), \qquad \qquad \operatorname{Re}\lambda \geqslant 0$$

so that

$$\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\varphi(x,v) = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\left(\lambda + \sigma(w)\right)t\right)\varphi(x-tw,w)\mathrm{d}t,$$

for any $\varphi \in \mathbb{X}_0$, and a.e $(x, v) \in \Omega \times V$. We study here more carefully the properties of $M_{i\eta}$ for $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. We begin with the following which, as we shall see allow to prove Theorem 1.2 in the Introduction.

Proposition 5.1. Assume that \mathcal{K} is an irreducible operator satisfying Assumptions 1.1 and the measure m satisfies (1.12). There exists a positive $\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$ such that

$$\mathsf{M}_0 \, \varphi_0 = \varphi_0, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \varphi_0(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 1.$$

Proof. Recall that M_0 is stochastic, power-compact and irreducible. Consequently, its spectral radius $r_{\sigma}(M_0) = 1$ is an algebraically simple and isolated eigenvalue of M_0 and there is a normalised and positive eigenfunction $\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_0$ such that

$$\mathsf{M}_0 \, \varphi_0 = \varphi_0, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \varphi_0 \, \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 1.$$

In particular, one can define

$$\Psi(x,v) = \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-s\sigma(v)\right)\varphi_0(x-sv,v)\mathrm{d}s, \qquad \forall (x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times V \tag{5.1}$$

and checks easily that

$$\begin{split} \|\Psi\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} &= \int_{V} \sigma(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-s\sigma(v)\right) \,\varphi_{0}(x-sv,v) \,\mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} \varphi_{0}(y,v) \,\mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = \|\varphi_{0}\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \end{split}$$

i.e. $\Psi \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}$. Then, since $\mathcal{K} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_{N_0})$, one has $\mathcal{K}\Psi \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$, i.e. $\mathsf{M}_0\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$. Since $\varphi_0 = \mathsf{M}_0\varphi_0$, we deduce that $\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$ and this proves the Proposition.

The above Proposition as well as its proof allow to prove the existence and uniqueness of the invariant density

Proof of Theorem 1.2. With the notations of the above proof, recall that we define Ψ through (5.1) with $\Psi \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}$. Since we prove that $\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$ one actually has that

$$\Psi \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0-1}.$$

Moreover, a simple computation shows that

$$U_0(t)\Psi(x,v) = \exp\left(-t\sigma(v)\right) \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-s\sigma(v)\right) \varphi_0(x - (t+s)v, v) ds$$
$$= \int_t^\infty \exp\left(-s\sigma(v)\right) \varphi_0(x - sv, v) ds$$

so that,

$$t^{-1}(U_0(t)\Psi(x,v) - \Psi(x,v)) = -\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \exp(-s\sigma(v))\varphi_0(x - sv,v) ds$$

and one sees that $\Psi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{A})$ with

$$\mathcal{A}\Psi = \lim_{t \to 0^+} t^{-1} \left(U_0(t)\Psi - \Psi \right) = -\varphi_0$$

where the limit is meant in \mathbb{X}_0 . Since $\mathcal{K}\Psi = \mathsf{M}_0\varphi_0$, the identity $\mathsf{M}_0\varphi_0 = \varphi_0$ gives

$$\left(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}\right)\Psi = 0$$

i.e. Ψ is the invariant density of $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t \ge 0}$. The fact that the invariant density with unit norm is unique comes from the irreducibility of $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t \ge 0}$. Notice that, then since the same result can also be proven in the spatially homogeneous case, i.e. considering only the semigroup generated by \mathcal{K} , one sees that there also exists a unique invariant density $\widetilde{\Psi}$ to \mathcal{K} , i.e. $\widetilde{\Psi} = \widetilde{\Psi}(v) > 0$ such that $\mathcal{K}\widetilde{\Psi} = 0$. In such case of course, $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})\widetilde{\Psi} = 0$ and, by uniqueness, $\Psi = \widetilde{\Psi}$ which proves that Ψ turns out to be spatially homogeneous.

Remark 5.2. Notice that, in the above proof, the definition we gave of Ψ is somehow the expression we would deduce from $\mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A})\varphi_0$ if $0 \notin \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{A})$. Of course, what happens here is that, because $\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_1$, the expression still makes sense. This idea will be the cornerstone of our construction of the trace of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ along the imaginary axis in Proposition 4.1.

Proposition 5.3. *For any* $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ *with* $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge 0$ *,*

$$r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) < 1.$$

Proof. We already saw in (4.12) that

$$\|\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \frac{\|\sigma\|_{\infty}}{\mathrm{Re}\lambda + \|\sigma_{\infty}\|_{\infty}}, \qquad \forall \mathrm{Re}\lambda > 0.$$

In particular, for $\text{Re}\lambda > 0$, $r_{\sigma}(M_{\lambda}) < 1$. Let us focus on the case $\text{Re}\lambda = 0$. For $\lambda = i\eta$, one has

$$\mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$$
 with $|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}| \leq \mathsf{M}_0$

where $|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|$ denotes the absolute value operator of $\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}$ (see [16]). The operator M_0 being power compact, the same holds for $|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|$ by a domination argument so that

$$r_{\rm ess}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|) = 0$$

where $r_{\text{ess}}(\cdot)$ denotes the essential spectral radius. We prove that $r_{\sigma}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|) < 1$ by contradiction: assume, on the contrary, $r_{\sigma}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|) = 1 > r_{\text{ess}}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|) = 0$, then $r_{\sigma}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|)$ is an isolated eigenvalue of $|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|$ with finite algebraic multiplicity and also an eigenvalue of the dual operator, associated to a nonnegative eigenfunction. From the fact that $|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}| \leq \mathsf{M}_0$ with $|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}| \neq \mathsf{M}_0$, one can invoke [29, Theorem 4.3] to get that

$$r_{\sigma}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|) < r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{M}_0) = 1$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore, $r_{\sigma}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|) < 1$ and, since $r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}) \leq r_{\sigma}(|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}|)$, the conclusion holds true.

Theorem 5.4. If $\mathcal{K} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$ satisfies Assumption 1.1 then $i\mathbb{R} \subset \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$.

Proof. From Proposition 5.3 and Banach-Steinhaus Theorem [8, Theorem 2.2, p. 32], for any $\eta \neq 0$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup \|\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} < \infty.$$
(5.2)

Recall that, for $\text{Re}\lambda > 0$,

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^n = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) \,. \tag{5.3}$$

Now, combining (4.11) and (4.6) one has

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1], \eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leq C_1 \|\vartheta_1\|_{\infty} < \infty$$

which, thanks to (5.2), yields

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} < \infty.$$

This, together with (4.2) and (5.3) proves that, for any $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$, $\eta \neq 0$, it holds

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = \infty,$$

whence $i\eta \in \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ for any $\eta \neq 0$. Recalling that $0 \in \mathfrak{S}_p(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ we get the conclusion. \Box

5.1. Spectral properties of M_{λ} in the vicinity of $\lambda = 0$. We recall that, being M_0 stochastic power-compact and irreducible, the spectral radius $r_{\sigma}(M_0) = 1$ is an algebraically simple and isolated eigenvalue of M_0 and there exists 0 < r < 1 such that

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{M}_0) \setminus \{1\} \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} \ ; \ |z| < r\}$$

and there is a normalised and positive eigenfunction φ_0 such that

(

$$\mathsf{M}_{0}\,\varphi_{0} = \varphi_{0}, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} \varphi_{0}\,\mathrm{d}x\,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 1. \tag{5.4}$$

Because M_0 is stochastic, the dual operator M_0^{\star} (in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d \times V, \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v))$) admits the eigenfunction

$$\varphi_0^\star = \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V}$$

associated to the algebraically simple eigenvalue 1 and the second part of (5.4) reads

$$\langle \varphi_0, \varphi_0^{\star} \rangle = 1$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the duality production between \mathbb{X}_0 and its dual \mathbb{X}_0^* . Notice that then, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{M}_0^n) \setminus \{1\} \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z| < r\}$$

with

$$\mathsf{M}_0^n \varphi_0 = \varphi_0, \qquad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The spectral projection of M_0 associated to the eigenvalue 1 coincide then with that associated to M_0^n (see Theorem C.1), i.e

$$\mathsf{P}(0) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{M}_0) dz = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{M}_0^n) dz$$

where $r_0 > 0$ is chosen so that $\{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z-1| = r_0\} \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z| > r\}.$

We recall that Theorem 3.1 established the fact that there exists $q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\left\{\mathsf{M}^{\mathsf{q}}_{\lambda} \; ; \; 0 \leqslant \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leqslant 1\right\} \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})$$

is collectively compact. From now on, we set

$$\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} = \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{q}}, \qquad 0 \leqslant \operatorname{Re} \lambda \leqslant 1.$$

A first consequence of this collective compactness and the strong convergence of $M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}$ towards $M_{i\eta}$ is the following

Lemma 5.5. For any $\eta_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$, there is $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2} |\eta_0|$ such that, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$, $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{|\eta - \eta_0| < \delta} \left\| \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f - \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$

Proof. Notice that the strong convergence

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f = \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta}) f$$

can be proven for any $\eta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ thanks to the collective compactness assumption and [1, Theorem 5.3 (d)]. The fact that the convergence is uniform with respect to η and that the uniform convergence transfers from $\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})$ to $\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})$ is deduced as follows. For the uniform convergence, we closely follow the proof of [1, Theorem 5.3 (d)]. First, recall that, for any $\eta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}, r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{H}_{i\eta}) < 1$ thanks to Proposition 5.3. Then, according to [1, Theorem 5.3] that, for any $\bar{\eta} \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$,

$$\lim_{\eta \to \bar{\eta}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta}) f - \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\bar{\eta}}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0 \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0 \,, \tag{5.5}$$

due to the collective compactness of $\{\mathsf{H}_{i\eta}, \eta \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Let us consider $\eta_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ and observe that, if $0 < \delta < \frac{|\eta_0|}{2}$ then, $\eta \neq 0$ whenever $|\eta - \eta_0| < \delta$. According to Proposition 5.3, there is $\varrho \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{M}_{i\eta_0}) < \varrho < 1. \tag{5.6}$$

For $\lambda = \varepsilon + i\eta$,

$$\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{H}_{\lambda} = \left[\mathbf{I} - \left(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}\right) \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0})\right] \left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}\right)$$

and, due to the collective compactness of $\{(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}) \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}); 0 < \varepsilon < 1\}$ and the strong convergence of H_{λ} to $\mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}$ as $\lambda \to i\eta_0$, we deduce from [1, Lemma 5.2] that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to i\eta_0} \left\| \left[\left(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0} \right) \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}) \right]^2 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = 0$$

and there exist $\varepsilon_0 > 0, \delta > 0$ such that

$$\left\| \left[\left(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_{0}} \right) \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_{0}}) \right]^{2} \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \forall \lambda = \varepsilon + i\eta, \quad 0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_{0}, \quad |\eta - \eta_{0}| < \delta.$$

In particular, for $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$, and $|\eta - \eta_0| < \delta$, $\mathbf{I} - (\mathbf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathbf{H}_{i\eta_0}) \mathcal{R}(1, \mathbf{H}_{i\eta_0})$ is invertible and there exists C > 0 such that

$$\sup_{\substack{0 \leqslant \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0 \\ \eta - \eta_0 \mid < \delta}} \left\| \mathcal{R} \left(1, \left(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0} \right) \mathcal{R} (1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}) \right) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} < \infty.$$

This gives that, for any $\lambda = \varepsilon + i\eta$ with $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$, $|\eta - \eta_0| < \delta$, $\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{H}_{\lambda}$ is invertible with

$$\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) = \mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0})\mathcal{R}\bigg(1,\left(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}-\mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0}\right)\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta_0})\bigg)$$

with

$$\sup_{\substack{0 \leqslant \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0 \\ |\eta - \eta_0| < \delta}} \| \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = M < \infty.$$

This shows that there exists $R \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) < R \qquad \forall \lambda = \varepsilon + i\eta, \qquad \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0), \quad |\eta - \eta_0| < \delta.$$

Since $r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) = r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})$, we deduce that

$$r_{\sigma}(\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}) < R < 1$$
 $\forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0), \quad \eta \in (\eta_0 - \delta, \eta_0 + \delta).$

Then, from the identity

$$\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) - \mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta}) = \mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})\left(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta}\right)\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta})$$

we deduce that, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta})f - \mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &\leq \|\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \left\|(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta})\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta})f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \\ &\leq M \left\|(\mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon+i\eta} - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta})\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \right. \end{aligned} \tag{5.7}$$

Now, according to Lemma 4.10 (see Eq. (4.14)), one has

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}g - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta}g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0 \qquad \forall g \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$
(5.8)

Let now $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$. According to (5.5), the family

 $\{g(\eta) = \mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{i\eta})f \ ; \ \eta \in [\eta_0 - \delta, \eta_0 + \delta]\} \quad \text{ is a relatively compact subset of } \mathbb{X}_0$

and we deduce then easily from (5.8) that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in [\eta_0 - \delta, \eta_0 + \delta]} \left\| \mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon + i\eta} g(\eta) - \mathsf{H}_{i\eta} g(\eta) \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

Thanks to (5.7), we deduce that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{|\eta - \eta_0| \leqslant \delta} \left\| \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f - \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{i\eta}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0, \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$

Recalling that

$$\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})f = \sum_{j=0}^{\mathsf{q}-1} \mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}^{j}f \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_{0}$$

we deduce from the above convergence of $\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})$ and (4.14) pointing out that all convergence holds uniformly with respect to $\eta \in [\eta_0 - \delta, \eta_0 + \delta]$.

Thanks to Theorem 3.1, the spectral structure of M_0^q is inherited by both H_λ and M_λ for λ small enough. In the sequel, for any $z_0 \in \mathbb{C}$, r > 0, the disc of center z_0 and radius r > 0 is denoted:

$$\mathbb{D}(z_0, r) := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z - z_0| < r \}.$$

One has

Theorem 5.6. For any $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$ the spectrum of M_{λ} is given by

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) = \{0\} \cup \{\mu_j(\lambda) \; ; \; j \in \mathbb{N}_{\lambda} \subset \mathbb{N}\}\$$

where, \mathbb{N}_{λ} is a (possibly finite) subset of \mathbb{N} and, for each $j \in \mathbb{N}_{\lambda}$, $\mu_j(\lambda)$ is an isolated eigenvalue of M_{λ} of finite algebraic multiplicities and 0 being the only possible accumulation point of the sequence $\{\mu_j(\lambda)\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{\lambda}}$. Moreover,

$$|\mu_j(\lambda)| < 1$$
 for any $j \in \mathbb{N}_{\lambda}$, $\lambda \neq 0$.

Finally, there exist $\delta_0 > 0$ and $r_0 \in (0,1)$ such that, for any $|\lambda| \leq \delta_0, \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$,

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) \cap \mathbb{D}(1, r_0) = \{\mu(\lambda)\}$$
(5.9)

where $\mu(\lambda)$ is an algebraically simple eigenvalue of M_{λ} such that

$$\lim_{\lambda\to 0}\mu(\lambda) =$$

1

and there exist an eigenfunction φ_{λ} of M_{λ} and an eigenfunction $\varphi_{\lambda}^{\star}$ of $(M_{\lambda})^{\star}$ associated to $\mu(\lambda)$ such that

$$\langle \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \rangle = 1, \qquad \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \| \varphi_{\lambda} - \varphi_{0} \|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} = 0$$

and the spectral projection $\mathsf{P}(\lambda)$ associated to $\mu(\lambda)$ ($\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$) is given by

$$\mathsf{P}(\lambda)\psi = \langle \psi, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \rangle \varphi_{\lambda}, \qquad \psi \in \mathbb{X}_{0}$$
(5.10)

and is such that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathsf{P}(\lambda)\psi - \mathsf{P}(0)\psi \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0, \qquad \forall \psi \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$
(5.11)

Proof. Since H_{λ} is compact, the structure of $\mathfrak{S}(M_{\lambda})$ follows. The fact that all eigenvalues have modulus less than one comes from Proposition 5.3. This gives the first part of the Proposition. For the second part, the *collective compactness* of $\{H_{\lambda}, 0 \leq \text{Re}\lambda \leq 1\}$ is used in a crucial way. Indeed, recall that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \|\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}\varphi - \mathsf{H}_{0}\varphi\|_{\mathbb{X}} = 0, \qquad \forall \varphi \in \mathbb{X}.$$

This, together with the collective compactness of the family $\{H_{\lambda}; 0 \leq \text{Re}\lambda \leq 1\}$ give the separation of the spectrum thanks to [1, Theorem 5.3 and Proposition 6.3]. Namely, there exist δ_0, r_0 small enough such that, for $|\lambda| < \delta_0$ small enough, the curve $\{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z - 1| = r_0\}$ is separating the spectrum $\mathfrak{S}(H_{\lambda})$ into two disjoint parts, say

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) = \mathfrak{S}_{\mathrm{in}}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) \cup \mathfrak{S}_{\mathrm{ext}}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})$$

where $\mathfrak{S}_{in}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z-1| < r_0\} = \mathbb{D}(1, r_0) \text{ and } \mathfrak{S}_{ext}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z-1| > r_0\}.$ Moreover, the spectral projection of H_{λ} associated to $\mathfrak{S}_{in}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})$, defined as,

$$\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) \mathrm{d}z, \tag{5.12}$$

is such that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda)\varphi - \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(0)\varphi \right\|_{\mathbb{X}} = 0 \qquad \forall \varphi \in \mathbb{X}$$

and

$$\dim(\operatorname{Range}(\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda))) = \dim(\operatorname{Range}(\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(0))), \qquad |\lambda| < \delta_0, \operatorname{Re}\lambda \ge 0.$$

Now, from the same consideration as those in the beginning of Section 5.1,

$$\dim(\operatorname{Range}(\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(0))) = 1.$$

Therefore, dim(Range($\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda)$)) = 1 for $|\lambda| < \delta_0$, Re $\lambda \ge 0$, i.e.

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\rm in}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) = \mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) \cap \mathbb{D}(1, r_0) = \{\nu(\lambda)\}$$

reduces to some *algebraically simple* eigenvalue of H_{λ} . From Theorem C.1 (and Remark C.2) in Appendix C, one deduces that there exists a unique eigenvalue $\mu(\lambda)$ of M_{λ} such that

$$\nu(\lambda) = \mu(\lambda)^{\mathsf{q}}$$

that eigenvalue $\mu(\lambda)$ is simple and

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\rm in}(\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) = \mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) \cap \mathbb{D}(1, r_0) = \{\mu(\lambda)\}, \qquad |\lambda| < \delta_0, \operatorname{Re}\lambda \ge 0.$$

Notice that, clearly

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \mu(\lambda) = 1 \qquad (\operatorname{Re}\lambda \ge 0)$$

while, defining

$$\mathsf{P}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}\left(z, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\right) \mathrm{d}z, \qquad |\lambda| \leq \delta_0$$

one deduces again from Theorem C.1 that

$$\mathsf{P}(\lambda) = \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda), \qquad |\lambda| \leqslant \delta_0.$$

In particular, (5.11) holds true. Setting then

$$\varphi_{\lambda} := \mathsf{P}(\lambda)\varphi_0, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+$$

where φ_0 is the eigenfunction of M₀ in (5.4), one sees that φ_{λ} converges to P(0) $\varphi_0 = \varphi_0 \neq 0$ as $\lambda \to 0$. Thus, $\varphi_{\lambda} \neq 0$ for λ small enough and, since $\mu(\lambda)$ is algebraically simple, φ_{λ} is an eigenfunction of M_{λ} for $|\lambda|$ small enough. Setting

$$\beta_{\lambda} := \langle \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle \neq 0$$

one sees that $\lim_{\lambda\to 0} \beta_{\lambda} = \beta_0 = \langle \varphi_0, \varphi_0^{\star} \rangle = 1$ where we recall $\varphi_0^{\star} = \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V}$. In particular, for $|\lambda|$ small enough, $\beta_{\lambda} \neq 0$ and, setting

$$\varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} = \frac{1}{\beta_{\lambda}} \mathsf{P}^{\star}(\lambda) \varphi_{0}^{\star}$$

one checks easily that

$$\langle \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \rangle = \beta_{\lambda}^{-1} \langle \mathsf{P}(\lambda) \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle = \beta_{\lambda}^{-1} \langle \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle = 1$$

and, since $P(\lambda)$ is of rank one, the expression (5.10) follows.

Remark 5.7. Notice that, in full generality, it is not true that M^*_{λ} converges strongly to M^*_0 as $\lambda \to 0$ in \mathbb{X}^*_0 . In particular, one cannot conclude that φ^*_{λ} converges to φ^*_0 in \mathbb{X}^*_0 . However, from the strong convergence of $P(\lambda)$ to P(0) and the convergence of φ_{λ} to φ_0 , one deduces that

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \langle \psi, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \rangle &= \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \beta_{\lambda}^{-1} \langle \psi, \mathsf{P}^{\star}(\lambda) \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle \\ &= \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \beta_{\lambda}^{-1} \langle \mathsf{P}(\lambda) \psi, \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle = \beta_{0}^{-1} \langle \mathsf{P}(0) \psi, \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle = \langle \psi, \mathsf{P}(0)^{\star} \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle \end{split}$$

so that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \langle \psi, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \psi(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \qquad \forall \psi \in \mathbb{X}_0$$
(5.13)

i.e. $\varphi_{\lambda}^{\star}$ converges to $\varphi_{0}^{\star} = \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V}$ in the weak-* topology of \mathbb{X}_{0}^{\star} as $\lambda \to 0$.

We can upgrade the convergence in (5.11) as follows

Corollary 5.8. Let $f \in X_s$, $s \leq N_0$. Then

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \|\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f - \mathsf{P}(0)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0.$$

Proof. The proof is based upon the following observation: if $f \in X_s$ and $g(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(z, M_\lambda) f \in X_0$ with $|z - 1| = r_0$, then

$$zg(\lambda) = f + \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}g(\lambda).$$

Since $\lim_{\lambda\to 0} \|g(\lambda) - g(0)\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$ one has, from the regularising effect of M_{λ} that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \|\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}g(\lambda) - \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}g(0)\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} = 0$$

as soon as $s \leq N_0$. This proves (because $f \in \mathbb{X}_s$) that

$$g(\lambda) = z^{-1}f + z^{-1}\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}g(\lambda) \in \mathbb{X}_s$$

and

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \|g(\lambda) - g(0)\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0$$

where the convergence is actually uniform with respect to $z \in \Gamma = \{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z-1| = r_0\}$ since $\sup_{z \in \Gamma} |z|^{-1} < \infty$. Equivalently

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \sup_{z \in \Gamma} \|\mathcal{R}(z, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda})f - \mathcal{R}(z, \mathsf{M}_{0})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} = 0.$$
(5.14)

Since

$$\mathsf{P}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\Gamma} \mathcal{R}(z, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) f \mathrm{d}z, \qquad \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}, \quad |\lambda| \leqslant \delta_{0}$$

this gives the conclusion.

From now, we define $\delta > 0$ small enough, so that the rectangle

$$\mathscr{C}_{\delta} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \; ; \; 0 \leq \operatorname{Re}\lambda \leq \delta \; , \; |\operatorname{Im}\lambda| \leq \delta \right\} \subset \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \; ; \; |\lambda| < \delta_0 \right\},$$

where δ_0 is introduced in the previous Theorem 5.6. In the sequel, the notion of differentiability of functions $h : \lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta} \mapsto h(\lambda) \in Y$ (where Y is a given Banach space) is the usual one but, if $\operatorname{Re}\lambda = 0$, we have to emphasize the fact that limits are always meant in $\overline{\mathbb{C}_+}^2$

Lemma 5.9. For any $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta}$, we denote with $\mathsf{P}(\lambda)$ the spectral projection associated to the simple eigenvalue $\mu(\lambda)$ of M_{λ} as defined in Theorem 5.6. For any $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$, the mapping

$$\lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta} \longmapsto \mathsf{P}(\lambda) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

is differentiable and

$$\mathsf{P}'(0)f = -\frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_0)\mathsf{H}'_0\mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_0)f\mathrm{d}z$$

where $H'_0 = L_q^{(1)}(0)$ is the derivative of H_λ at $\lambda = 0$.

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to \lambda_0 \\ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+}} \left\| \frac{h(\lambda) - h(\lambda_0)}{\lambda - \lambda_0} - h'(\lambda_0) \right\|_Y = 0$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{Y}$ is the norm on *Y*.

²This means for instance that, if $\lambda_0 \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta}$ with $\operatorname{Re}\lambda_0 > 0$, h is differentiable means that it is holomorphic in a neighborhood of λ_0 whereas, for $\lambda_0 = i\eta_0$, $\eta_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, the differentiability at λ_0 of h at means that there exists $h'(\lambda_0) \in Y$ such that

Proof. Recall that, being $\mu(\lambda)$ a simple eigenvalue of M_{λ} , we deduce from Theorem C.1 that

$$\mathsf{P}(\lambda) = \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda)$$

where $\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda)$ is the spectral projection associated to $\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} = \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{q}}$ and its simple eigenvalue $\mu^{\mathsf{q}}(\lambda)$. One has then, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$

$$\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})f\mathrm{d}z.$$

As soon as $z \notin \mathfrak{S}(M_{\lambda})$ for any $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta}$, one has

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})f = -\mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}\right)\mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})f,$$

so that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f = -\frac{1}{2i\pi}\oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}\right)\mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda})f\mathrm{d}z \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta}.$$

Now, since $\{H_{\lambda} ; 0 \leq \text{Re}\lambda \leq 1\}$ is collectively compact and H_{λ} converges strongly to H_0 on \mathbb{X}_0 as $\lambda \to 0$, we deduce from [1, Theorem 5.3] that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \sup_{|z-1|=r_0} \left\| \mathcal{R}(z, \mathsf{H}_{\lambda})g - \mathcal{R}(z, \mathsf{H}_0)g \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0 \qquad \forall g \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$
(5.15)

Now, recall from Lemma 4.15 that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{H}_{\lambda} \psi - \mathsf{H}_{0}^{\prime} \psi \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} = 0$$

for any $\psi \in \mathbb{X}_1$ where $\mathsf{H}'_0 = \mathsf{L}^{(1)}_{\mathsf{q}}(0)$. Introducing

$$\psi(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(z, \mathsf{H}_{\lambda})f$$

which depends on $z \in \mathbb{D}(1, r_0)$, one can argue as in the proof of Corollary 5.8 to deduce that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \|\psi(\lambda) - \psi(0)\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} = 0 \qquad s \leqslant N_0$$

where the convergence is uniform with respect to $z \in \mathbb{D}(1, r_0)$. One deduces then that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \sup_{|z-1|=r_0} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{H}_{\lambda} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) f - \mathsf{H}_0' \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_0) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

and then, thanks to (5.15) again, we deduce that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \sup_{|z-1|=r_0} \left\| \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{H}_{\lambda} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\lambda}) f - \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_0) \mathsf{H}'_0 \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_0) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

which proves the differentiability in 0 of $P(\lambda)f$. The same computations also give

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\eta}\mathsf{P}(\varepsilon+i\eta) = -\frac{1}{2i\pi}\oint_{\{|z-1|=r_0\}} \mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\eta}\mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}\right)\mathcal{R}(z,\mathsf{H}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})\mathrm{d}z, \qquad \forall \eta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}.$$

Using now Lemma B.2 which asserts that $\frac{d}{d\eta}M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}$ converges to $\frac{d}{d\eta}M_{i\eta}$ as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ uniformly with respect to η , we can prove as in Lemma 4.15 that the same holds for $\frac{d}{d\eta}H_{\varepsilon+i\eta}$ and one deduces the second part of the Lemma.

We deduce from this the differentiability of the simple eigenvalue $\mu(\lambda)$

Lemma 5.10. With the notations of Theorem 5.6, the function $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta} \mapsto \mu(\lambda) \in \mathbb{C}$ is differentiable with derivative $\mu'(\lambda)$ such that the limit

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \mu'(\lambda) = \mu'(0)$$

exists with $\mu'(0) < 0$.

Proof. Recall that we introduced in the proof of Theorem 5.6 the function $\varphi_{\lambda} = \mathsf{P}(\lambda)\varphi_0$ as well as the unique eigenfunction $\varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \in \mathbb{X}_0^{\star}$ of $\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{\star}$ associated to $\mu(\lambda)$ and such that $\langle \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \rangle = 1$ where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the duality bracket between \mathbb{X}_0 and its dual \mathbb{X}_0^{\star} . Since $\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_1$, the mapping $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta} \mapsto \varphi_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{X}_0$ is differentiable with

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\varphi_{\lambda} = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathsf{P}(\lambda)\varphi_{0}, \qquad \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}$$

according to Lemma 5.9. Since

$$\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\varphi_{\lambda} = \mu(\lambda)\varphi_{\lambda},$$

and the mapping $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+ \mapsto \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$ is analytic while $\mu(\lambda)$ is a *simple* eigenvalue, we deduce from [22, Chapter II-1] that, for any $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$, the derivative $\mu'(\lambda)$ exists with

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\right)\varphi_{\lambda} + \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\varphi_{\lambda} = \mu'(\lambda)\varphi_{\lambda} + \mu(\lambda)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\varphi_{\lambda}.$$

Taking now the duality bracket of this identity with $\varphi^{\star}_{\lambda}$ and noticing that

$$\left\langle \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \varphi_{\lambda}, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{\star} \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \right\rangle = \mu(\lambda) \left\langle \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \right\rangle$$

we get that

$$\left\langle \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\right)\varphi_{\lambda},\varphi_{\lambda}^{\star}\right\rangle = \mu'(\lambda)\langle\varphi_{\lambda},\varphi_{\lambda}^{\star}\rangle = \mu'(\lambda).$$

One sees that

$$\begin{split} \left| \left\langle \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \right) \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \right\rangle - \left\langle \mathsf{M}_{0}^{\prime} \varphi_{0}, \varphi_{0}^{\star} \right\rangle \right| \\ & \leq \left| \left\langle \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \right) \left(\varphi_{\lambda} - \varphi_{0} \right), \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \right\rangle \right| + \left| \left\langle \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \right) \varphi_{0} - \mathsf{M}_{0}^{\prime} \varphi_{0}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \right\rangle \right| \\ & + \left| \left\langle \mathsf{M}_{0}^{\prime} \varphi_{0}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} - \varphi_{0}^{\star} \right\rangle \right| \end{split}$$

where the first and second terms on the right-hand side converges to zero as $\lambda \to 0$ since

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \|\varphi_{\lambda} - \varphi_{0}\|_{\mathbb{X}_{1}} = 0 \qquad \text{and} \quad \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \right) \varphi_{0} - \mathsf{M}_{0}' \varphi_{0} \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} = 0$$

(recall that $\varphi_0 \in \mathbb{X}_1$) while the third term goes to zero as $\lambda \to 0$ since $\varphi_{\lambda}^{\star}$ converges to φ_0^{\star} in the weak- \star topology of \mathbb{X}_0^{\star} . We deduce from this that

$$\mu'(0) = \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \mu'(\lambda) = \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\langle \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\right) \varphi_{\lambda}, \varphi_{\lambda}^{\star} \right\rangle = \langle \mathsf{M}_{0}' \varphi_{0}, \varphi_{0}^{\star} \rangle.$$

Therefore, using Lemma 4.15 (see in particular (B.1)) and since $\varphi_0^* = 1$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \mu'(0) &= \int_{\Omega \times V} \mathsf{M}'_0 \varphi_0(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &= -\int_{\Omega \times V} \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_0^\infty t \exp\left(-\sigma(w)t\right) \, \varphi_0\left(x - tw, w\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \varphi_0(y, w) \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_0^\infty t \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \varphi_0(y, w) \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \sigma^{-2}(w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \end{split}$$

i.e.

$$\mu'(0) = -\int_{\Omega \times V} \varphi_0(y, w) \sigma^{-1}(w) \mathrm{d} y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d} w)$$

and the negativity of $\mu'(0)$ follows since $\varphi_0 > 0$.

We deduce from this the following fundamental result for our construction of the strong limit of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ at 0,

Proposition 5.11. Let $f \in X_1$ be such that P(0)f = 0. Then,

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) \mathsf{P}(\lambda) f,$$

exists in \mathbb{X}_0 and is denoted by $\Phi_0 f$. Moreover,

$$\Phi_0 f = -\frac{1}{\mu'(0)} \mathsf{P}'(0) f.$$

Proof. Recall that, since $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$, the derivative $\mathsf{P}'(0)f$ is well-defined whereas, as observed, $\mu'(0) \neq 0$. We simply observes then that, given $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+ \setminus \{0\}$,

$$(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) \mathsf{P}(\lambda)\varphi = (1 - \mu(\lambda)) \mathsf{P}(\lambda)\varphi \qquad \forall \varphi \in \mathbb{X}_{0}$$

which implies obviously that

$$\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{\lambda})\mathsf{P}(\lambda)\varphi = \frac{1}{1-\mu(\lambda)}\mathsf{P}(\lambda)\varphi, \qquad \forall \varphi \in \mathbb{X}_{0}$$

provided $\lambda \neq 0$ so that $\mu(\lambda) \neq 1$ (and in particular $1 \notin \mathfrak{S}(\mathsf{M}_{\lambda})$). Then, for $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$ with $\mathsf{P}(0)f = 0$ one can write, for $|\lambda|$ small enough,

$$\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{\lambda})\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f = \frac{1}{1-\mu(\lambda)}\left(\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f - \mathsf{P}(0)f\right) = \frac{\lambda}{1-\mu(\lambda)}\left(\frac{\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f - \mathsf{P}(0)}{\lambda}\right).$$

Now, because $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$,

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f - \mathsf{P}(0)}{\lambda} = \mathsf{P}'(0)f$$

where the convergence holds in \mathbb{X}_0 while, since $\mu'(0) \neq 0$, $\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{\lambda}{1-\mu(\lambda)} = -\frac{1}{\mu'(0)}$ which gives the result.

6. The extension of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ to the imaginary axis

6.1. Existence of the boundary function for $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$. We begin with the extension of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ far away from zero:

Lemma 6.1. Let $\eta_0 \neq 0$ be given. Then, there is $\delta > 0$ (small enough) such that, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{|\eta - \eta_0| \leq \delta} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f - \left[\mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f \right] \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

Proof. We recall that, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$, Lemma 5.5 established that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{|\eta - \eta_0| < \delta} \left\| \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta})g - \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})g \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

holds for any $g \in X_0$. Recalling that (4.17) holds in particular for s = 1, i.e.

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{|\eta - \eta_0| < \delta} \left\| \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) g - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}) g \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_1} = 0, \qquad \forall g \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

we deduce from Corollary 4.3 that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sup_{|\eta - \eta_0| < \delta} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0 \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$

...

Combining this with (4.3) and the fact that

$$\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f = \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta})f$$

we deduce the result.

This shows that, away from zero, it is possible to extend the resolvent of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f$ along the imaginary axis, i.e. for $\lambda = i\eta$. The extension for $\lambda = 0$ is much more involved and follows the approach of [27, Section 4]. For such a case, recalling that, with the definition of P_0 and \mathbf{P} , given $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$,

$$\mathsf{P}(0)f = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \mathsf{P}f = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \varrho_f = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} f(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 0.$$

We introduce then

$$\mathbb{X}_k^0 := \{ f \in \mathbb{X}_k ; \ \varrho_f = 0 \}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

which is a closed subspace of \mathbb{X}_k . Notice that, endowed with the \mathbb{X}_k -norm, \mathbb{X}_k^0 is a Banach space. Since the semigroup $(\mathcal{V}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ generated by $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}$ is conservative:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \mathcal{V}(t) f \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} f \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v), \qquad \forall t \ge 0, \quad f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

one has

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega \times V} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) f \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) &= \int_{\Omega \times V} \left(\int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} V(t) f \mathrm{d}t \right) \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\Omega \times V} f \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v), \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+ \end{split}$$

and therefore the resolvent and all its iterates $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})^k$ leave \mathbb{X}_0^0 invariant $(k \ge 0)$. We deduce from Proposition 5.11 the following

Lemma 6.2. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$ with $\varrho_f = 0$, i.e. $f \in \mathbb{X}_1^0$, then

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f,$$

exists in \mathbb{X}_0 . We denote it by $\mathcal{R}(0)f$ and has

$$\mathcal{R}(0)f = \mathcal{R}(0,\mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(0,\mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{0}\left[\mathcal{R}\left(1,\mathsf{M}_{0}\left(\mathbf{I}-\mathsf{P}(0)\right)\right)f + \Phi_{0}f\right]$$

Proof. With the previous notations, if $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$, using the fact that M_{λ} and $P(\lambda)$ commute, one has

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda})f$$

= $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) (\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(\lambda))f + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda})\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f$ (6.1)
= $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} (\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(\lambda)))f + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda})\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f$.

We investigate separately the convergence of each of the last three terms. First, since $f \in \mathbb{X}_1$,

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) f - \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

Now, for the second term, recall that $H_{\lambda} = M_{\lambda}^{q}$. Since $\{H_{\lambda} (\mathbf{I} - P(\lambda))\}_{\text{Re}\lambda \in [0,1]}$ is collectively compact and strongly converges to $H_0(\mathbf{I} - P(0))$ as $\lambda \to 0$ with $r_{\sigma} (H_0(\mathbf{I} - P(0))) < 1$, we deduce from the convergence of the spectrum established in [1, Theorem 5.3(a)] that, for $\delta > 0$ small enough, there is $c \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$r_{\sigma} (\mathsf{H}_{\lambda} (\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(\lambda))) \leq c < 1, \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{\delta}.$$

Moreover, we deduce from [1, Theorem 5.3 (d)] that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathcal{R} \left(1, \mathsf{H}_{\lambda} \left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(\lambda) \right) \right) g - \mathcal{R} \left(1, \mathsf{H}_{0} \left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0) \right) \right) g \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} = 0, \qquad \forall g \in \mathbb{X}_{0}.$$

Arguing exactly as in the proof of Lemma 6.1, we deduce first that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \mathcal{R} \left(1, \mathsf{H}_{\lambda} \left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(\lambda) \right) \right) g - \mathsf{M}_{0} \mathcal{R} \left(1, \mathsf{H}_{0} \left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0) \right) \right) g \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{1}}, \qquad \forall g \in \mathbb{X}_{0}$$

and then

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \mathcal{R}\left(1, \mathsf{H}_{\lambda}\left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(\lambda)\right)\right) f - \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{0} \mathcal{R}\left(1, \mathsf{H}_{0}\left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0)\right)\right) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} = 0.$$

The convergence of the third term is dealt with in the same way. Indeed, since $f \in X_1^0$, we deduce from Proposition 5.11 that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \|\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda})\mathsf{P}(\lambda)f - \Phi_0 f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

Then, as before,

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) \mathsf{P}(\lambda) f - \mathsf{M}_{0} \Phi_{0} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{1}} = 0$$

and subsequently

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\lambda} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}) \mathsf{P}(\lambda) f - \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{0} \Phi_{0} f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} = 0$$

We proved the convergence of the three terms in the right-hand-side of (6.1) and this shows the result. \Box

We deduce from this the following which holds under Assumption 1.1 but *does not resort* on (1.14)–(1.13) and the fact that m(dv) is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure (see also Remark 6.4):

Theorem 6.3. Let $f \in X_1$ with $\rho_f = 0$, i.e. $f \in X_1^0$, then the limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f,$$

exists in \mathbb{X}_0 . We denote it by $\mathcal{R}(\eta)f$ and has

$$\mathcal{R}(\eta)f = \begin{cases} \mathcal{R}(i\eta, A)f + \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f, & \text{if } \eta \neq 0\\ \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_0\left[\mathcal{R}\left(1, \mathsf{M}_0\left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0)\right)\right)f + \Phi_0 f\right] & \text{if } \eta = 0 \end{cases}$$

Moreover, the convergence of $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f$ to $\mathcal{R}(\eta)f$ is uniform with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. The convergence of $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f$ towards the desired limit is just the combination of the two previous Lemmas. We only need to check the uniform convergence in the vicinity of $\eta = 0$ and near infinity. Let us first prove that the convergence is uniform with respect to $|\eta| \leq \delta$. According to (4.17) and Corollary 4.3, we only need to prove that the convergence in \mathbb{X}_0

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f = \Psi(\eta)$$

is uniform with respect to $|\eta| < \delta$ where

$$\Psi(\eta) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f & \text{if } \eta \neq 0\\ \mathcal{R}\left(1, \mathsf{M}_0\left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0)\right)\right)f + \Phi_0 f & \text{if } \eta = 0. \end{cases}$$

We argue by contradiction, assuming that there exist c > 0, a sequence $(\varepsilon_n)_n \subset (0, \infty)$ converging to 0 and a sequence $(\eta_n)_n \subset (-\delta, \delta)$ such that

$$\left\|\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon_{n}+i\eta_{n}})-\Psi(\eta_{n})\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \geqslant c > 0.$$
(6.2)

Up to considering a subsequence, if necessary, we can assume without loss of generality that $\lim_n \eta_n = \eta_0$ with $|\eta_0| \leq \delta$. First, one sees that then $\eta_0 = 0$ since the convergence of $\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})f$ to $\Psi(\eta)$ is actually uniform in any neighbourhood around $\eta_0 \neq 0$ (see Lemma 5.5). Because $\eta_0 = 0$, defining $\lambda_n := \varepsilon_n + i\eta_n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the sequence $(\lambda_n)_n \subset \mathscr{C}_{\delta}$ is converging to 0. Now, from Lemma 6.2 one has

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda_n}) f = \mathcal{R}\left(1, \mathsf{M}_0\left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0)\right)\right) f + \Phi_0 f$$

as $n \to \infty$. Moreover, one also has

$$\Psi(\eta_n) = \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta_n})f$$

also converges as $n \to \infty$ towards $\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_0(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0))) f + \Phi_0 f$ still thanks to Lemma 6.2 (recall the convergence holds for $\lambda \to 0$, $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$ including the case of purely imaginary λ). This contradicts (6.2). The uniform convergence in the vicinity of $\eta = 0$ together with Lemma 6.1, we deduce that, for any $\eta_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_1^0$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{|\eta - \eta_0| \leq \delta} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f - \mathcal{R}(\eta)f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

To prove that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f - \mathcal{R}(\eta)f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

we only to check that there is R > 0 (large enough) such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{|\eta| > R} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f - \mathcal{R}(\eta)f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

One observes that, for $|\eta| > R > 0$,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f - \mathcal{R}(\eta)f &= \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f\right] \\ &+ \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\right]\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f \\ &+ \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\left[\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta})f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f\right] \end{split}$$

where the two first terms converge to 0 as $\varepsilon \to 0$ uniformly with respect to $|\eta| > R$ according to Eq. (4.3) in Proposition 4.1. To prove the result, we only need to prove that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{|\eta| > R} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}) f \right] \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

which is deduced from Remark 4.4 since one checks easily that

$$\lim_{|\eta|\to\infty} \left\|\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})f-\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{1}}=0$$

This proves the convergence is uniform with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$.

Remark 6.4. For any $f \in \mathbb{X}_1^0$, the above Theorem asserts that the resolvent of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f$ admits a trace $\mathcal{R}(\eta)f$ on the boundary $\lambda = i\eta, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\eta \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\eta)f$ belonging to $\mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$ and, in particular, to $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$. Therefore, according to Ingham's theorem (see e.g. [17, Theorem 1.1]), we directly deduce that $\mathcal{V}(t)f \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$ for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_1^0$ which, in turns, implies that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|\mathcal{V}(t)f - \varrho_f \Psi\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0 \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_1.$$

By a density argument, the above still holds for any $f \in X_0$, providing a new non quantitative convergence to equilibrium under the sole assumption of collective compactness in Theorem 2.4. Notice here indeed that, up to now, we did not use the quantitative estimate (2.11) which is the only one in our analysis which requires assumptions (1.14)–(1.13) and the fact that m(dv) is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure.

Again, under additional integrability of f, one can upgrade the convergence as follows

Corollary 6.5. Let $N \in \{1, \ldots, N_0\}$ and $f \in \mathbb{X}_N^0$, then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) f - \mathcal{R}(\eta) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N-1}} = 0.$$

Proof. For N = 1, the result is nothing but Theorem 6.3. For $N \ge 1$, the proof is similar and based upon the representation

$$\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f = \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f + \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta})f, \qquad \varepsilon > 0, \eta \in \mathbb{R}.$$

First, for $f \in \mathbb{X}_k$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k-1}} = 0.$$

We saw in the previous proof that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f - \Psi(\eta) \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

as soon as $f\in\mathbb{X}_{1}^{0}.$ According to Remark 4.12 (see Eq. (4.17)), this implies that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \|\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f - \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \Psi(\eta)\|_{\mathbb{X}_N} = 0$$

for any $N \leq N_0$. Then, according to Remark 4.4

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}) f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \Psi(\eta) \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N-1}} = 0$$
(6.3)

and the result follows since $\mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\Psi(\eta) = \mathcal{R}(\eta)f - \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$.

6.2. **Regularity of the boundary function.** The previous results ensure that the extension $\mathcal{R}(\eta)$ of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})$ to the imaginary axis $\lambda = i\eta$ is continuous and tends to zero at infinity, namely,

$$\mathcal{R}(\cdot)f \in \mathscr{C}_0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_{k-1}), \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_k^0, \qquad k = 1, \dots, N_0$$

We need to extend this regularity to capture some differentiability property. The key point is the well-known formula for the resolvent: for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and any $\varepsilon > 0, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}}\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon+i\eta,\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{K})f = (-i)^{k}k!\left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon+i\eta,\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{K})\right]^{k+1}f.$$

In particular, from Lemma 4.5, we also recall that, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{k+1}$, the mapping

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^k(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$. To prove then that the same holds for the boundary function of $\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f$ we need to investigate iterates of the resolvent. To do so, we recall the notation introduced in (A.13), for $\varepsilon > 0, \eta \in \mathbb{R}, n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathscr{S}_n(\varepsilon + i\eta) = \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}^k = \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta}^n \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta})$$

so that

$$\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) = \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) + \mathscr{S}_0(\varepsilon + i\eta).$$

According to (6.3), for any $j \leq N_0$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \mathscr{S}_0(\varepsilon + i\eta)g - \mathscr{S}_0(i\eta)g \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{j-1}} = 0, \qquad \forall g \in \mathbb{X}_1^0$$

where

$$\mathscr{S}_{0}(i\eta) = \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\Psi(\eta) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})g & \text{if } \eta \neq 0\\ \mathcal{R}(0, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{0}\mathcal{R}\left(1, \mathsf{M}_{0}\left(\mathbf{I} - \mathsf{P}(0)\right)\right)g + \Phi_{0}g & \text{if } \eta = 0 \end{cases}$$

One has then the following

Lemma 6.6. Let $N \in \{1, \ldots, N_0\}$, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_N^0$ and any $k \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, one has

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) \right]^k f - \mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N-k}} = 0$$

where $\mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f \in \mathbb{X}_{N-k}^0$ for any $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. In particular, if $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}^0$ then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) \right]^k f - \mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0 - k}} = 0, \qquad \forall k \in \{1, \dots, N_0\}$$

Proof. Let $N \in \{1, ..., N_0\}$ be given. The proof is made by induction over $k \in \{1, ..., N\}$. For k = 1, the result is exactly Corollary 6.5. Let us assume that the result is true for $k \in \{1, ..., N-1\}$ and let us prove it for k + 1. As part of the induction assumption, one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 0.$$

Observe that

$$[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})]^{k+1} f = \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) [\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})]^k f + \mathscr{S}_0(\varepsilon + i\eta) [\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})]^k f.$$

According to the induction hypothesis,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) \right]^k f = \mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f$$

holds in \mathbb{X}_{N-k} uniformly with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. Thanks to Corollary 4.3 (and since $N-k \ge 1$),

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) \right]^k f = \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f$$

holds in $\mathbb{X}_{N-k-1} = \mathbb{X}_{N-(k+1)}$ uniformly with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. Now, since $\mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f \in \mathbb{X}_{N-k}^0$ by induction assumption, we can resume the proof of Corollary 4.3 together with (6.3) to deduce also that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathscr{S}_0(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) \right]^k f = \mathscr{S}_0(i\eta) \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f$$

holds true in \mathbb{X}_{N-k-1} uniformly with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. We deduce that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) \right]^{k+1} f - \left[\mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{k+1} f - \mathscr{S}_0(i\eta) \mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N-k-1}} = 0$$

which proves the result with

$$\mathcal{R}(\eta)^{k+1}f = \left[\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})\right]^{k+1}f - \mathscr{S}_0(i\eta)\mathcal{R}(\eta)^k f.$$

This achieves the induction and proves the Lemma.

A fundamental consequence is

Corollary 6.7. For any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}^0$, the mapping

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \mathcal{R}(\eta) f$$

defined in Theorem 6.3 belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{X}_0)$ and the convergence

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f = \mathcal{R}(\eta)f$$

holds in $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0).$

Proof. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}^0$ be fixed. Since, for any $k \in \{0, \dots, N_0 - 1\}$ and any $\varepsilon > 0, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^{\kappa}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}}\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon+i\eta,\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{K})f = (-i)^{k}k!\left[\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon+i\eta,\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{K})\right]^{k+1}f$$

the result follows directly from Lemma 6.6 where the derivatives of $\mathcal{R}(\eta)f$ are defined by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathcal{R}(i\eta) f = (-i)^k k! \left[\mathcal{R}(i\eta) \right]^{k+1} f$$

for any $k \in \{0, \dots, N_0 - 1\}$.

B. LODS AND M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI

7. The boundary function of $\mathscr{S}_n(\lambda)$

This section is devoted to the construction of the trace along the imaginary axis, that is when $\lambda = i\eta, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$, of

$$\mathscr{S}_n(\lambda)f = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^n \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda})f, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, \operatorname{Re}\lambda \ge 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N}$$

for a suitable class of function f. Recall that $\mathscr{S}_n(\lambda)$ has been introduced in (A.13). Of course, the crucial observation is the alternative representation of $\mathscr{S}_n(\lambda)f$ as

$$\mathscr{S}_{n}(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}) - \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{k} \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{+}$$
(7.1)

We already investigated the existence and regularity of the traces on the imaginary axis of the first two terms in the right-hand-side of (7.1) so we just need to focus on the properties of the *finite sum*

$$s_n(\lambda) := \sum_{k=0}^n \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^k \qquad \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+.$$
(7.2)

All the above results allow to prove the regularity the *finite* sum $s_n(\lambda)$ defined by (7.2), the proof of which is deferred to Appendix B:

Lemma 7.1. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$ be fixed. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, the mapping

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto s_n(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$
 belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0 - 1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} s_n(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \qquad k \in \{0, \dots, N_0 - 1\}$$

exist uniformly with respect to $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$. In particular, the mapping

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto s_n(i\eta)f := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} s_n(\varepsilon + i\eta)f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{X}_0).$

We have all the tools to prove the first point in Theorem 2.6

Proposition 7.2. Let $f \in X_{N_0}$ be such that

$$\varrho_f = \int_{\Omega \times V} f(x, v) \mathrm{d}x \otimes \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 0.$$
(7.3)

Then, for any $n \ge 0$ the limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathscr{S}_n(\varepsilon + i\eta) f,$$

exists in $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{X}_0)$. Its limit is denoted $\Upsilon_n(\eta)f$.

Proof. We know from Corollary 6.7 that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f = \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$$

holds in $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{X}_0).$ In the same way, Lemma 4.5 shows that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})f = \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})f$$

holds in $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$. Since one sees easily from Lemma 7.1 that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} s_n(\varepsilon + i\eta) f = s_n(i\eta) f \qquad \text{in} \quad \mathscr{C}_0^{N_0 - 1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$$

we get the result from the representation (7.1) which asserts that $\mathscr{S}_n(\varepsilon + i\eta)f = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K})f - \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f - s_{n-1}(\varepsilon + i\eta)f$.

In the following, we show also that, if *n* is large enough, the boundary function $\Upsilon_n(\cdot)f$ and its derivatives are integrable which proves the second point of Theorem 2.6

Proposition 7.3. Assume that $n \ge 5 \cdot 2^{N_0-1}$ and $f \in \mathbb{X}^0_{N_0}$. Then, the derivatives of the trace function

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \Upsilon_n(\eta) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

are integrable, i.e.

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}} \Upsilon_{n}(\eta) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}\eta < \infty \qquad \forall k \in \{0, \dots, N_{0} - 1\}.$$

Proof. Let $k \in \{0, ..., N_0 - 1\}$ be given as well as $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}^0$. Using the continuity of $\frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \Upsilon_n(\eta) f$, it is clear that the mapping

$$\eta \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \Upsilon_n(\eta) f$$

is locally integrable. It is enough then to prove that there is R > 0 such that

$$\int_{|\eta|>R} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \Upsilon_n(\eta) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \mathrm{d}\eta < \infty \qquad \forall k \in \{0, \dots, N_0 - 1\}.$$
(7.4)

We recall that, for any p > 4,

$$\int_{|\eta|>1} \left\|\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{\mathsf{p}}\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \mathrm{d}\eta < \infty.$$

We fix p > 4 in all the rest of the proof. We recall that

$$\mathsf{G}_m(\lambda) = [\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}]^m, \quad \forall \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+, \quad m \in \mathbb{N}$$

and we choose R > 0 large enough so that

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{p}}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \qquad \text{for } |\eta| > R.$$

For $|\eta| > R$, we use the following representation of $\Upsilon_N(\eta) f$:

$$\Upsilon_n(\eta)f = \mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^n \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f, \qquad |\eta| > R.$$

Writing,

$$\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{j}f = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty}\sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1}\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^{m\mathsf{p}+r}f$$

we have

$$\begin{split} \Upsilon_n(\eta)f &= \mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}^n \mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{i\eta})f = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1} \mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})\right]^{m\mathsf{p}+r+n} f \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1} \left[\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\right]^{m\mathsf{p}+r+n} \mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})f \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1} \mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}(i\eta)\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})f \,. \end{split}$$

Let us fix then $|\eta|>R.$ Thanks to Leibniz rule

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}}\Upsilon_{n}(\eta)f = (-i)^{k}\sum_{m=0}^{\infty}\sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1}\sum_{j=0}^{k}\binom{k}{j}\mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}^{(j)}(i\eta)\left[\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k-j}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k-j}}\mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A})f\right]$$

so that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}} \Upsilon_{n}(\eta) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &\leqslant \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \binom{k}{j} \left\| \mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}^{(j)}(i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k-j}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k-j}} \mathcal{R}(i\eta,\mathcal{A}) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \\ &\leqslant \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \binom{k}{j} (k-j)! \left\| \mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}^{(j)}(i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \| f \|_{\mathbb{X}_{k-j+1}} \end{split}$$

where we used (4.7). Since $\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k-j+1}} \leqslant \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}}$, we get

$$\left\|\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}}\Upsilon_{n}(\eta)f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_{0}}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left\|\mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}^{(j)}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}.$$
(7.5)

We use now Lemma B.5 (see Eq. (B.6)) to estimate, given m, r, n

$$\left\|\mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}^{(j)}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{j0})} \leqslant \bar{C}_{j} \left(m\mathsf{p}+r+n\right)^{j} \left\|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{m\mathsf{p}+r+n-j}{2^{j}}\rfloor}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$

Since $j\leqslant k$ and $r\leqslant \mathsf{p}-\mathsf{1},$ setting $\boldsymbol{C}_k=\max_{j\leqslant k}\bar{C}_j,$ one has

$$\left\|\mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}^{(j)}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant C_{k}\left((m+1)\mathsf{p}+n\right)^{k} \left\|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{m\mathsf{p}+r+n-j}{2^{j}}\rfloor}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$

Then, since $n \ge 2^k \mathsf{p} + k \ge 2^j \mathsf{p} + j$, one has $\lfloor \frac{m\mathsf{p}+r+n-j}{2^j} \rfloor \ge \mathsf{p} + \lfloor \frac{m}{2^j} \rfloor \mathsf{p}$, i.e.

$$\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{m\mathsf{p}+r+n-j}{2^{j}}\rfloor}(i\eta) = \mathsf{G}_{b}(i\eta)\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{p}}(i\eta)\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{m}{2^{j}}\rfloor\mathsf{p}}(i\eta)$$

for some $b \ge 0$, and we deduce from Lemma B.4 that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathsf{G}_{m\mathsf{p}+r+n}^{(j)}(i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} &\leqslant C_{k} \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{1}\|_{\infty} \|\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{p}}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \left((m+1)\mathsf{p}+n \right)^{k} \left\| \mathsf{G}_{\lfloor \frac{m}{2^{j}} \rfloor \mathsf{p}}(i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \\ &\leqslant C_{k} \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{1}\|_{\infty} \|\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{p}}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \left((m+1)\mathsf{p}+n \right)^{k} 2^{-\lfloor \frac{m}{2^{j}} \rfloor} \end{split}$$

since $\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor \frac{m}{2^j} \rfloor \mathsf{p}}(i\eta) = \mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{p}}(i\eta)^{\lfloor \frac{m}{2^j} \rfloor}$ and we choose R > 0 such that $\|\mathsf{G}_p(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leq \frac{1}{2}$ for $|\eta| > R$. Noticing that

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=0}^{\mathsf{p}-1} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left((m+1)\mathsf{p}+n \right)^{k} 2^{-\lfloor \frac{m}{2^{j}} \rfloor} \leq \mathsf{p}(k+1) \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left((m+1)\mathsf{p}+n \right)^{k} 2^{-\lfloor \frac{m}{2^{k}} \rfloor} < \infty$$

we deduce from (7.5) that there is a positive constant $\alpha_k(n) > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}}\Upsilon_{n}(\eta)f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \alpha_{k}(n)\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_{0}}}\|\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{p}}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \qquad \forall |\eta| > R.$$
(7.6)

We deduce then (7.4) thanks to (2.12).

We have all in hands to give the full proof of Theorem 2.6 from which, as pointed out in Section 2, our main convergence Theorem 1.7 is deduced.

Proof of Theorem 2.6. The previous two propositions give a complete proof of points (1) and (2) of Theorem 2.6. In turns, recalling that (see Proposition A.5 in Appendix A)

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{n+1}(t)f = \frac{\exp(\varepsilon t)}{2\pi} \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int_{-\ell}^{\ell} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta, \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$
(7.7)

for any t > 0, $\varepsilon > 0$, we deduce from the uniform convergence obtained in Proposition 7.2 together with the integrability condition in Proposition 7.3 that, for any $f \in X_{N_0}$ and any $t \ge 0$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left((\varepsilon + i\eta)t\right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \Upsilon_{n+1}(\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta$$

where the convergence occurs in X_0 as soon as $n + 1 \ge 5 \cdot 2^{N_0 - 1}$ thanks to the dominated convergence theorem. This, together with (A.14) shows (2.16). The proof of (2.17) is then deduced easily after $N_0 - 1$ integration by parts, using again Proposition 7.3. This achieves the proof. \Box

Appendix A. Properties of the Dyson-Phillips iterated

A.1. Continuous dependence with respect to \mathcal{K} . We begin with recalling that the Dyson-Phillips iterated are depending continuously of $\mathcal{K} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$. We can be more precise here. Namely, let us consider a sequence $(\mathcal{K}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of boundary operators

$$(\mathcal{K}_n)_n \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_0), \qquad \|\mathcal{K}_n\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant 1, \qquad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$$

and introduce $V_0(t) = U_0(t)$ and

$$V_{n+1}(t) = \int_0^t V_n(t-s)\mathcal{K}_{n+1}U_0(s)\mathrm{d}s, \qquad t \ge 0, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (A.1)

Then

Proposition A.1. For any $n \ge 1$ and any $t \ge 0$, $V_n(t) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$ with

$$\|V_n(t)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \prod_{j=1}^n \|\mathcal{K}_j\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)}, \qquad n \ge 1, \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(A.2)

Proof. The proof is made by induction. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}$ and $t \ge 0$ be fixed. For n = 1, one has

$$\|V_1(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = \int_0^t \|U_0(t-s)\mathcal{K}_1 U_0(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \int_0^t \|\mathcal{K}_1 U_0(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \mathrm{d}s$$

since $U_0(t)$ is a contraction in X_0 . Then, one deduces

$$\|V_1(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq \|\mathcal{K}_1\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)} \int_0^t \|U_0(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} \mathrm{d}s.$$

Since $U_0(s)$ commutes with $\varpi_{-1}(v) = \min(1, \sigma(v))$, one has

$$\|U_0(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \varpi_{-1}(v) e^{-s\sigma(v)} |f(x,v)| \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$

and, since $\varpi_{-1} \leq \sigma$,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^t \|U_0(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} \mathrm{d}s &\leq \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(x,v)| \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_0^t \sigma(v) e^{-s\sigma(v)} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(x,v)| \left(1 - e^{-t\sigma(v)}\right) \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \leq \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \end{split}$$

This proves (A.2) for n = 1. Assume then the result to be true for $n \ge 1$ and let us prove for n + 1. One has, as before,

$$\begin{aligned} \|V_{n+1}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &\leq \sup_{s \in [0,t]} \|V_{n}(t-s)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{K}_{n+1}U_{0}(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq \sup_{s \in [0,t]} \|V_{n}(t-s)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathcal{K}_{n+1}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_{0})} \int_{0}^{t} \|U_{0}(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}} \mathrm{d}s \end{aligned}$$

We saw how to estimate this last integral and, with the induction hypothesis $\sup_{s \in [0,t]} ||V_n(t-s)||_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leq \prod_{j=1}^n ||\mathcal{K}_j||_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)}$, we deduce that

$$\|V_{n+1}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq \prod_{j=1}^{n+1} \|\mathcal{K}_j\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0}$$

which proves the result.

A.2. Decay of the iterates. We extend the decay of the semigroup $(U_0(t)))_{t \ge 0}$ obtained in Lemma 2.1 to the iterates $(U_k(t))_{t \ge 0}$. We recall that, for any $\delta > 0$, we introduce

$$\Lambda_{\delta} := \{ v \in V ; \ \sigma(v) \ge \delta \}, \qquad \Sigma_{\delta} = V \setminus \Lambda_{\delta}$$

and $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$ given by (2.5), i.e.

$$\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}f(x,v) = \mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}}\mathcal{K}f(x,v) \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_{0}, \quad (x,v) \in \mathbb{T}^{d} \times V$$

We prove here Lemma 2.2 which investigate the size of $\|\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_0)}$.

Proof of Lemma 2.2. Introduce

$$\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)} = \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} \tag{A.3}$$

so that

$$\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}f(x,v) = \mathbf{1}_{\Sigma_{\delta}}(v)\mathcal{K}f(x,v).$$

Then, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_{-1}$, one has, for any $n \ge 0$,

$$\begin{split} \|\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Sigma_{\delta}} |\mathcal{K}f(x,v)| \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{V} \mathbf{1}_{\Sigma_{\delta}}(v) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) |f(x,w)| \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} |f(x,w)| \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{V} \mathbf{1}_{\Sigma_{\delta}}(v) \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \frac{\sigma^{n}(v)}{\sigma^{n}(v)} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\leqslant \delta^{n} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} |f(x,w)| \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{V} \sigma^{-n}(v) \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v). \end{split}$$

By definition of ϑ_n , we deduce that

$$\|\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \delta^n \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma(w)\vartheta_n(w) |f(x,w)| \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$

i.e.

$$\|\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \delta^n \|\vartheta_n\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma(w) |f(x,w)| \mathrm{d}x \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \leqslant \delta^n \|\vartheta_n\|_{\infty} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{-1}}$$

as soon as $\vartheta_n \in L^{\infty}(V)$. This gives (2.7).

Before proving the precise decay of $U_k(t)$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, for the clarity of exposition, we give full details for the decay of $U_1(t)$.

Lemma A.2. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$. Then, there exists some universal constant $C_1 > 0$ (depending only on \mathcal{K} , N_0 but not on f) such that

$$||U_1(t)f||_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq C_1 \left(\frac{\log t}{t}\right)^{N_0} ||f||_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}}, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

Proof. The proof is based upon the decomposition of \mathcal{K} for small and large collision frequency. Namely, for some $\delta > 0$ to be determined, we use the above splitting

$$\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} + \overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}$$

where $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ is defined in (2.5) and

$$U_1(t) = U_1^{(\delta)}(t) + \overline{U}_1^{(\delta)}(t), \qquad t > 0, \qquad \delta > 0$$

where $U_1^{(\delta)}(t), \overline{U}_1^{(\delta)}(t)$ are given by

$$U_1^{(\delta)}(t) = \int_0^t U_0(t-s)\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}U_0(s)ds, \qquad \overline{U}_1^{(\delta)}(t) = \int_0^t U_0(t-s)\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}U_0(s)ds$$

Let now fix $k \ge 1$, $f \in \mathbb{X}_k$, t > 0.

$$\|U_{1}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leq \|U_{1}^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} + \|\overline{U}_{1}^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leq \|U_{1}^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} + \|\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_{0})}\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}}$$

where we used (A.2). Using now (2.7),

$$\|U_{1}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \delta^{N_{0}} \|\vartheta_{N_{0}}\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} + \|U_{1}^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \qquad \forall \delta > 0, \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(A.4)

Let us focus then on the estimate for $U_1^{(\delta)}(t)f.$ Given $s\in [0,t],$ one computes easily

$$U_0(t-s)\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}U_0(s)f(x,v) = \mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_\delta}(v)\int_V \mathbf{k}(v,w)\exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v) - s\sigma(w)\right)f(x-tv+s(v-w),w)\,\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$

so that

$$\begin{split} \|U_1^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} &\leqslant \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \Lambda_\delta} \mathrm{d}x \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v) - s\sigma(w)\right) |f(x-tv+s(v-w),w)| \ \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y,w)| \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\Lambda_\delta} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v) - s\sigma(w)\right) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \end{split}$$

Introducing again

$$g(x,v) = \sigma(v)^{-k} f(x,v)$$

and using Fubini's Theorem, we get

$$\|U_1^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma^k(w) \Theta_1^{(\delta)}(t,w) |g(y,w)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \tag{A.5}$$

where

$$\Theta_{1}^{(\delta)}(t,w) = \int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v) - s\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \exp\left(-t\sigma(v)\right)\boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \frac{\exp\left(t\left[\sigma(v) - \sigma(w)\right]\right) - 1}{\sigma(v) - \sigma(w)} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)$$

(where we notice that, if $\sigma(v) = \sigma(w)$ the last quotient is equal to 1). Notice that, since $\exp(-(t-s)\sigma(v) - s\sigma(w)) \leq \exp(-s\sigma(w))$ for any v, w and any $s \in [0, t]$ we have,

$$\Theta_{1}^{(\delta)}(t,w) \leqslant \int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left(-s\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \frac{1}{\sigma(w)} \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) = 1$$

for any $t \ge 0$, $w \in V$.

To estimate the integral in the right-hand-side of (A.5), we estimate $\Theta_1^{\delta}(t,w)$ distinguishing between the two cases

$$w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}$$
 or $w \notin \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}$.

Assume first that $w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}$, i.e. $\sigma(w) \ge \frac{\delta}{2}$. Then, for any $v \in V$, $\sigma(v) - \sigma(w) \le \sigma(v) - \frac{\delta}{2}$ and, since the mapping

$$u \in \mathbb{R} \longmapsto \frac{e^u - 1}{u}$$

is nondecreasing, we get that

$$\frac{\exp\left(t\left[\sigma(v)-\sigma(w)\right]\right)-1}{\sigma(v)-\sigma(w)} \leqslant \frac{\exp\left(t\left[\sigma(v)-\frac{\delta}{2}\right]\right)-1}{\sigma(v)-\frac{\delta}{2}}.$$

i.e.

$$\Theta_1^{(\delta)}(t,w) \leqslant \int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \frac{\exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) - \exp\left(-t\sigma(v)\right)}{\sigma(v) - \frac{\delta}{2}} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v), \qquad w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}.$$

Now, for $v \in \Lambda_{\delta}$,

$$\sigma(v) - \frac{\delta}{2} \ge \frac{\delta}{2}$$
 and $\frac{\exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) - \exp\left(-t\sigma(v)\right)}{\sigma(v) - \frac{\delta}{2}} \le \frac{2}{\delta}\exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right)$

from which we get

$$\Theta_1^{(\delta)}(t,w) \leqslant \frac{2\sigma(w)}{\delta} \exp\left(-\frac{\delta}{2}\right), \qquad w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}$$
(A.6)

where we used that $\int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \mathbf{k}(v, w) \mathbf{m}(dv) \leq \int_{V} \mathbf{k}(v, w) \mathbf{m}(dv) = \sigma(w)$. Inserting this into (A.5) we deduce

$$\begin{split} \|U_1^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} &\leqslant \frac{2}{\delta} \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \sigma^{k+1}(w) |g(y,w)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}^c} \sigma^k(w) \Theta_1^{(\delta)}(t,w) \, |g(y,w)| \, \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w). \end{split}$$

For $w \notin \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}$, i.e. $\sigma(w) \leq \frac{\delta}{2}$, we simply recall that $\Theta_1^{(\delta)}(t, w) \leq 1$ and of course $\sigma^k(w) \leq \left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^k$ so that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}^c} \sigma^k(w) \Theta_1^{(\delta)}(t,w) |g(y,w)| \, \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \leqslant \left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^k \|g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0}$$

which, combined with the previous estimate gives

$$\|U_1^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \frac{2}{\delta} \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \|\sigma^{k+1}g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^k \|g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \qquad \forall \delta > 0$$

Adding this to (A.4) and with $k = N_0$, we get

$$\|U_1(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \frac{2}{\delta} \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \|\sigma^{k+1}g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{N_0} \|g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \delta^{N_0} \|\vartheta_{N_0}\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0}, \qquad \delta > 0.$$

Observing that

$$\|\sigma^{k+1}g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \|g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = \|\sigma f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \|\sigma^{-k}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq (1 + \|\sigma\|_{\infty}) \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_k}$$

and there is a positive constant $C > 0$ such that

$$\|U_1(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant C\left(\frac{2}{\delta}\exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) + \left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{N_0}\right)\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}}, \qquad \forall \delta > 0.$$

Choosing, for t > e,

$$\delta = 2(N_0 + 1)\frac{\log t}{t}$$

we deduce that there is $C_0 > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|U_1(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} &\leq C\left(\frac{1}{(N_0+1)t^{N_0}\log t} + (N_0+1)^{N_0}\left(\frac{\log t}{t}\right)^{N_0}\right) \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}} \\ &\leq C_0\left(\frac{\log t}{t}\right)^{N_0} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}}, \qquad t > e \end{aligned}$$

which gives the result.

We generalise this approach to the other iterates

Lemma A.3. Let $f \in \mathbb{X}_{N_0}$. For any $n \ge 1$ there exists some universal constant $C_n > 0$ (depending only on \mathcal{K} , n, N_0 but not on f) such that

$$\|U_n(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant C_n \left(\frac{\log t}{t}\right)^{N_0} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}}, \qquad \forall t > 0.$$

Proof. The proof uses the same ideas introduced in the proof for n = 1. Given $\delta > 0$, we still introduce the splitting $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}^{(\delta)} + \overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}$ which gives, by a simple combinatorial argument that, for $n \ge 1$, one can write

$$U_n(t) = U_n^{(\delta)}(t) + \overline{U}_n^{(\delta)}(t)$$

where $U_n^{(\delta)}(t)$ is constructed as a Dyson-Phillips iterated involving *only* the operator $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ whereas the reminder term $\overline{U}_n^{(\delta)}(t)$ is the some of $2^n - 1$ operators

$$\overline{U}_n^{(\delta)}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{2^n - 1} \boldsymbol{V}_n^{(j)}(t)$$

where, for any $j \in \{1, ..., 2^n - 1\}$, $V_n^{(j)}(t)$ is defined by (A.1) for a (finite) family of operators $(\mathcal{K}_1, ..., \mathcal{K}_n)$ where there is at least one $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ such that $\mathcal{K}_i = \overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}$ (the other ones being indifferently $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ or $\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}$). Using Proposition A.1, and recalling that $\|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1}, \mathbb{X}_0)} \leq 1$ one has then

$$\|\boldsymbol{V}_{n}^{(j)}(t)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \|\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(0)}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_{0})}.$$

Therefore

$$\left\|\overline{U}_{n}^{(\delta)}(t)f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leq \left(2^{n}-1\right)\|\overline{\mathcal{K}}^{(\delta)}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{-1},\mathbb{X}_{0})}\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}}$$

and

$$\|U_n(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq \|U_n^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + C(2^n - 1)\,\delta^{N_0}\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0}, \qquad t > 0, \qquad \delta > 0 \qquad (A.7)$$

where we used (2.7) . We focus now on the expression of $U_n^{(\delta)}(t)f$. From the subsequent Lemma, we have

$$\|U_n^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w) |f(y,w)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \tag{A.8}$$

where $\Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w)$ is defined by

$$\Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w) = \int_{\Lambda_\delta} \prod_{j=1}^n \boldsymbol{k}(v_j,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v_1) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v_n)$$
$$\int_{\Delta_t} \prod_{j=1}^n \exp\left(-(s_{j-1}-s_j)\sigma(v_j)\right) \exp\left(-s_n\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s_1 \dots \mathrm{d}s_n.$$
(A.9)

where we used the convention $s_0 = t$ and Δ_t denotes the simplex

$$\Delta_t = \left\{ (s_1, \dots, s_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ ; \ 0 \leqslant s_n \leqslant s_{n-1} \leqslant \dots s_1 \leqslant t \right\}.$$

We saw in Lemma A.2 that

$$\Theta_1^{(\delta)}(s,w) \leqslant \frac{2\sigma(w)}{\delta} \exp\left(-s\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \qquad \text{for } w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}$$

and $\Theta_1^{(\delta)}(s,w) \leqslant 1$ for any $s \ge 0, w \in V$. Let us prove a similar estimate holds true for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The fact that

$$\Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w) \leqslant 1$$
 for any $t \ge 0$ and any $w \in V$ (A.10)

is easily seen by induction since

$$\Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w) = \int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_0^t \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v)\right) \Theta_{n-1}^{(\delta)}(s,w) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Let now $w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}$ be fixed. We estimate, for $(v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \Lambda_{\delta}^n$ the integral on the simplex Δ_t as in the previous Lemma starting from the integral with respect to s_n . For fixed (s_1, \ldots, s_{n-1}) we have, as in Lemma A.2

$$\begin{aligned} G_1(s_{n-1}, v_n, w) &:= \int_0^{s_{n-1}} \exp\left(-(s_{n-1} - s_n)\sigma(v_n) - s_n\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s_n \\ &\leqslant \exp\left(-s_{n-1}\sigma(v_n)\right) \int_0^{s_{n-1}} \exp\left(s_n\left(\sigma(v_n) - \frac{\delta}{2}\right)\right) \mathrm{d}s_n \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{\sigma(v_n) - \frac{\delta}{2}} \exp\left(-s_{n-1}\frac{\delta}{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Since $\sigma(v_n) \ge \delta$ we get $\sigma(v_n) - \frac{\delta}{2} \ge \frac{1}{2}\sigma(v_n)$ and

$$\int_0^{s_{n-1}} \exp\left(-(s_{n-1}-s_n)\sigma(v_n)-s_n\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s_n \leqslant \frac{2}{\sigma(v_n)} \exp\left(-s_{n-1}\frac{\delta}{2}\right)$$

Now, for (s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2}) given, we multiply this by $\exp(-(s_{n-2} - s_{n-1})\sigma(v_{n-1}))$ and integrate with respect to s_{n-1} to get

$$\begin{aligned} G_2(s_{n-2}, v_{n-1}, v_n, w) &:= \int_0^{s_{n-2}} \exp\left(-(s_{n-2} - s_{n-1})\sigma(v_{n-1})\right) G(s_{n-1}, v_n, w) \mathrm{d}s_{n-1} \\ &\leqslant \frac{2}{\sigma(v_n)} \exp\left(-s_{n-2}\sigma(v_{n-1})\right) \int_0^{s_{n-2}} \exp\left(s_{n-1}\left(\sigma(v_{n-1}) - \frac{\delta}{2}\right)\right) \mathrm{d}s_{n-1} \\ &\leqslant \frac{2}{\sigma(v_n)} \exp\left(-s_{n-2}\sigma(v_{n-1})\right) \frac{\exp\left(s_{n-2}\left(\sigma(v_{n-1}) - \frac{\delta}{2}\right)\right) - 1}{\sigma(v_{n-1}) - \frac{\delta}{2}} \end{aligned}$$

and, as before,

$$G_2(s_{n-2}, v_{n-1}, v_n, w) \leqslant \frac{2}{\sigma(v_n)} \frac{2}{\sigma(v_{n-1})} \exp\left(-s_{n-2} \frac{\delta}{2}\right)$$

Iterating this process (recalling that $s_0 = t$, we end up with the following estimate for the integral over the simplex:

$$\int_{\Delta_t} \prod_{j=1}^n \exp\left(-(s_{j-1} - s_j)\sigma(v_j)\right) \exp\left(-s_n\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s_1 \dots \mathrm{d}s_n$$
$$\leqslant \frac{2^n}{\prod_{j=1}^n \sigma(v_j)} \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \quad \forall (v_1, \dots, v_n) \in \Lambda_{\delta}^n, \quad w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}.$$

Inserting this into (A.9) yields

$$\Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w) \leq 2^n \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{\boldsymbol{k}(v_j,w)}{\sigma(v_j)} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v_1) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v_n)$$

and, using that

$$\sigma(v_j) \geqslant \delta \qquad \text{whereas } \int_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \boldsymbol{k}(v_j, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d} v_j) \leqslant \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v_j, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d} v_j) = \sigma(w)$$

for any $j\in\{1,\ldots,n\}$ we obtain

$$\Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w) \leqslant \left(\frac{2\sigma(w)}{\delta}\right)^n \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right), \qquad \forall t \ge 0, \delta > 0, \qquad w \in \Lambda_{\frac{\delta}{2}}.$$
(A.11)

Inserting this, together with (A.10), into (A.8) gives

$$\begin{aligned} \|U_n^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} &\leqslant \int_V \mathbf{1}_{\Sigma_{\frac{\delta}{2}}} |f(y,w)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &+ \left(\frac{2}{\delta}\right)^n \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \int_V \sigma(w)^n |f(y,w)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \end{aligned}$$

Introducing as before $g(x,v) = \sigma^{-k}(v)f(x,v)$, we get

$$\|U_n^{(\delta)}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq \left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^k \|g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \left(\frac{2\|\sigma\|_{\infty}}{\delta}\right)^n \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0}$$

and, for $k = N_0$, using (A.7) we end up with

$$\begin{aligned} \|U_n(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} &\leq C(2^n - 1)\,\delta^{N_0} \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{N_0} \|g\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + \left(\frac{2\|\sigma\|_{\infty}}{\delta}\right)^n \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \\ &\leq C_1 \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}} \left(\left(\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{N_0} + \left(\frac{2}{\delta}\right)^n \exp\left(-t\frac{\delta}{2}\right)\right), \qquad \forall \delta > 0. \end{aligned}$$

where C_1 depends on n, N_0 and $\|\sigma\|_{\infty}$ but not on δ . Picking now, for t > e,

$$\delta = 2(n+N_0)\frac{\log t}{t}$$

one gets easily the result as in Lemma A.2.

We establish here the general estimate allowing the definition of $\Theta_n^{(\delta)}(t,w)$ that has been used in the previous Lemma. We give a more general result which applies to general integral operator \mathcal{K} and not only to $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$. The version for $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ being deduced obviously by observing that the kernel of $\mathcal{K}^{(\delta)}$ is $\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda_{\delta}} \mathbf{k}(v, w)$.

Lemma A.4. For

$$\mathcal{K}f(x,v) = \int_V \mathbf{k}(v,w)f(x,w)\mathrm{d}w$$

the norm of the Dyson-Phillips iterated $(U_n(t))_{n \ge 0}$ is such that

$$\|U_n(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \Theta_n(t, w) |f(y, w)| \mathrm{d}y \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w), \qquad \forall t \ge 0, \qquad n \ge 0$$

for any $f \in X_0$ where

$$\Theta_n(t,w) = \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_0^t \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v)\right)\Theta_{n-1}(s,w)\mathrm{d}s, \qquad n \ge 1$$

and $\Theta_0(s, w) = \exp(-s\sigma(w))$. In particular,

$$\Theta_n(t,w) = \int_V \prod_{j=1}^n \boldsymbol{k}(v_j,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v_1) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v_n)$$
$$\int_{\Delta_t} \prod_{j=1}^n \exp\left(-(s_{j-1}-s_j)\sigma(v_j)\right) \exp\left(-s_n\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s_1 \dots \mathrm{d}s_n. \quad (A.12)$$

where we used the convention $s_0 = t$ and Δ_t denotes the simplex

$$\Delta_t = \left\{ (s_1, \dots, s_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ ; \ 0 \leq s_n \leq s_{n-1} \leq \dots s_1 \leq t \right\}.$$

Proof. We prove the result by induction. For n = 0, the result is obvious. Assume the result to be true for some $n \ge 0$. Let us fix $t \ge 0, f \in \mathbb{X}_0$. Then, from

$$U_{n+1}(t)f = \int_0^t U_0(t-s)\mathcal{K}U_n(s)f\mathrm{d}s$$

one has, introducing $h_n(s, x, v) = U_n(s)f(x, v)$,

$$U_{n+1}(t)f(x,v) = \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)\sigma(v)} \mathrm{d}s \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v,w)h_n(s,x-(t-s)v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)$$

and, introducing the change of variable y = x - (t - s)v, we get easily

$$\begin{split} \|U_{n+1}f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)\sigma(v)} \mathrm{d}s \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) |h_n(s,y,w)| \boldsymbol{m}(dv) \\ &\leqslant \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_0^t \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v)\right) \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |h_n(s,y,w)| \mathrm{d}y \, \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \\ &\leqslant \int_V \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_0^t \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v)\right) \|U_n(s)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

which, thanks to the induction hypothesis, gives

$$\|U_{n+1}(t)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y,w)| \mathrm{d}y \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v,w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left(-(t-s)\sigma(v)\right) \Theta_n(s,w) \mathrm{d}s$$

from which the desired estimate easily follows. This achieves the proof by induction. One shows then by direct inspection that

$$\Theta_n(t,w) = \int_V \mathbf{k}(v_1,w)\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}v_1) \int_V \mathbf{k}(v_2,w)\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}v_2) \dots \int_V \mathbf{k}(v_n,w)\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}v_n)$$
$$\int_0^t \exp\left(-(t-s_1)\sigma(v)\right) \mathrm{d}s_1 \int_0^{s_1} \exp\left(-(s_1-s_2)\sigma(v_1)\right) \mathrm{d}s_2$$
$$\times \dots \int_0^{s_n} \exp\left(-(s_{n-1}-s_n)\sigma(v_n) - s_n\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}s_n$$
hich gives (A.12).

which gives (A.12).

Combining Lemmas 2.1 and A.3 one deduces easily Proposition 2.3

A.3. Inverse Laplace transform. We establish here a somehow classical result regarding the inverse Laplace transform where we recall that $S_{n+1}(t)$ has been defined in (2.9).

Proposition A.5. Under Assumption (2.12), for any $n \ge 5$ and any $f \in X_0$, one has

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{n+1}(t)f = \frac{\exp(\varepsilon t)}{2\pi} \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int_{-\ell}^{\ell} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta, \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_{0}$$

for any t > 0, $\varepsilon > 0$ where

$$\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\lambda)f := \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{k+1} f, \qquad \forall \operatorname{Re}\lambda > 0, f \in \mathbb{X}_0.$$
(A.13)

Proof. The fact that the Laplace transform of $S_{n+1}(t)f$ is exactly $\mathscr{S}_n(\varepsilon + i\eta)f$ is a well-known fact and the complex Laplace inversion formula [2, Theorem 4.2.21] allows to directly deduce that $S_{n+1}(t)f$ is the Cesarò limit of the family

$$\left(\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta\right)_{\ell}$$

One has to work a little bit more to deduce that it is a *classical limit*. We recall that

$$\int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\lambda t\right) U_n(t) dt = \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\right]^n \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\right]^n.$$

With this in mind, for any $n \ge 0$ and any $f \in X_0$, it holds

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp(-\lambda t) \mathbf{S}_{n+1}(t) f dt = \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp(-\lambda t) U_{k+1}(t) f dt$$
$$= \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \left[\mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right]^{k+1} f =: \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\lambda) f, \qquad \operatorname{Re}\lambda > 0$$

where we recall that, for $\operatorname{Re}\lambda > 0$, $\|\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} < 1$. Since moreover, for any $f \in \mathbb{X}_0$, the mapping $t \ge 0 \mapsto S_{n+1}(t)f$ is continuous and bounded, with $S_{n+1}(0)f = 0$, one applies the complex Laplace inversion formula [2, Theorem 4.2.21] to deduce

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{n+1}(t)f = \frac{\exp(\varepsilon t)}{2\pi} \lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{2L} \int_{-L}^{L} \mathrm{d}\ell \int_{-\ell}^{\ell} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta, \qquad \forall f \in \mathbb{X}_0 \quad (A.14)$$

for any t > 0, $\varepsilon > 0$, i.e. $S_{n+1}(t)f$ is the Cesarò limit of the family

$$\left(\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} \exp\left(i\eta t\right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta\right)_{\ell}$$

Let us prove it is actually a classical limit. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and $f \in X_0$. Recalling the notation,

$$\mathsf{M}_{\lambda} := \mathcal{K}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}), \qquad \operatorname{Re}\lambda > 0,$$

one has, for any ${\rm Re}\lambda>0$

$$\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{k+1} = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{n+1} \mathcal{R}(1, \mathsf{M}_{\lambda})$$

where we notice that, for $\lambda = \varepsilon + i\eta$,

$$\|\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \|\mathcal{R}(1,\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} < \infty.$$

Since $\sup_{\eta} \|\mathcal{R}(\varepsilon + i\eta, \mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$, we deduce that there exists $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon+i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant C_{\varepsilon} \left\|\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}, \qquad \forall \eta \in \mathbb{R}$$

For $n+1 \ge p$, one has $\left\|\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}^{n+1}\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{\mathbb{X}0})} \le \left\|\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}^{\mathsf{p}}\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}$, we deduce from (2.12) that there is $M_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \,\mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant M_{\varepsilon}, \qquad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

This of course implies that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\| \exp\left((\varepsilon + i\eta)t \right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant M_{\varepsilon} \exp(\varepsilon t), \qquad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

In particular, for any $f \in X_0$, the limit

$$\lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\ell}^{\ell} \exp\left(\left(\varepsilon + i\eta\right)t\right) \mathscr{S}_{n+1}(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \mathrm{d}\eta$$

exists in \mathbb{X}_0 . Since its Cesarò limit is $S_{n+1}(t)f$, we deduce the result.

Appendix B. Properties of the operator M_λ

We collect in this Appendix some technical results regarding the properties of M_{λ} .

B.1. **Proof of Proposition 4.15.** We given in this section the full proof of Proposition 4.15 which regards the norm of derivatives of

$$\mathsf{L}_{n}(\lambda) = \mathsf{M}_{\lambda}^{n} = \left[\mathcal{KR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\right]^{n}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{+}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We focus first one the convergence in X_0 . One checks easily by induction that, for any $f \in X_0$ and any $n \ge 1$,

$$\mathsf{L}_{n}(\lambda)f(x,v) = \int_{V^{n}} \mathbf{k}(v,w_{1})\mathbf{k}(w,w_{2})\dots\mathbf{k}(w_{n-1},w_{n})\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{1})\dots\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n})$$
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\sigma(w_{1})t\right)\mathrm{d}t_{1}\dots\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\sigma(w_{n})t_{n}\right)\times$$
$$\times \exp\left(-\lambda\sum_{j=1}^{n}t_{j}\right)f\left(x-\sum_{j=1}^{n}t_{j}w_{j},w_{n}\right)\mathrm{d}t_{n},$$

for any $(x,v)\in\mathbb{T}^d\times V,\lambda\in\mathbb{C}_+$ It is clear then that, for any $f\in\mathbb{X}_p$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^p}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^p} \mathsf{L}_n(\lambda) f(x,v) = (-1)^p \int_{V^{n-1}} \mathbf{k}(v,w_1) \mathbf{k}(w,w_2) \dots \mathbf{k}(w_{n-1},w_n) \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1) \dots \mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w_n)$$
$$\int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_1)t\right) \mathrm{d}t_1 \dots \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_n)t_n\right) \times$$
$$\times \left(\sum_{j=1}^n t_j\right)^p \exp\left(-\lambda \sum_{j=1}^n t_j\right) f\left(x - \sum_{j=1}^n t_j w_j, w_n\right) \mathrm{d}t_n$$

Set then, for any $f\in\mathbb{X}_p$ and any $(x,v)\in\mathbb{T}^d\times V,$

$$\mathsf{L}_{n}^{(p)}(0)f(x,v) = (-1)^{p} \int_{V^{n-1}} \mathbf{k}(v,w_{1})\mathbf{k}(w,w_{2})\dots\mathbf{k}(w_{n-1},w_{n})\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{1})\dots\mathbf{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n})$$
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\sigma(w_{1})t\right)\mathrm{d}t_{1}\dots\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\sigma(w_{n})t_{n}\right)\times$$
$$\times \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{j}\right)^{p} f\left(x - \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{j}w_{j},w_{n}\right)\mathrm{d}t_{n}.$$
 (B.1)

As before, one observes thanks to the change of variable $x \mapsto y = x - \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_j w_j$ that

$$\left\|\mathsf{L}_{n}^{(p)}(0)f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} |f(y, w_{n})| \Theta_{n, p}(w_{n}) \mathrm{d}y \,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n}) \tag{B.2}$$

where

$$\Theta_{n,p}(w_n) = \int_{V^n} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w_1) \dots \boldsymbol{k}(w_{n-1}, w_n) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1}) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \times \\ \times \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_1)t_1\right) \mathrm{d}t_1 \dots \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_n)t_n\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^n t_j\right)^p \mathrm{d}t_n \,.$$

We recall the multinomial formula

$$\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{j}\right)^{p} = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{r}|=p} {p \choose \boldsymbol{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{n} t_{j}^{r_{j}},$$

where $\boldsymbol{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ is a multi-index with $|\boldsymbol{r}| = \sum_{i=1}^n r_i = p$ and $\binom{p}{r} = \frac{p!}{r_1! \ldots r_n!}$. With this, one easily sees that

$$\int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_1)t_1\right) \mathrm{d}t_1 \dots \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_n)t_n\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^n t_j\right)^p \mathrm{d}t_n$$
$$= \sum_{|\mathbf{r}|=p} \binom{p}{\mathbf{r}} \int_{[0,\infty)^n} \prod_{j=1}^n t_j^{r_j} \exp\left(-\sigma(w_j)t_j\right) \mathrm{d}t_1 \dots \mathrm{d}t_n$$
$$= \sum_{|\mathbf{r}|=p} \binom{p}{\mathbf{r}} \prod_{j=1}^n \left(\frac{1}{\sigma(w_j)}\right)^{r_j+1}.$$

Therefore

$$\Theta_{n,p}(w_n) = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{r}|=p} {\binom{p}{\boldsymbol{r}}} \int_{V^n} \prod_{j=1}^n \left(\frac{1}{\sigma(w_j)}\right)^{r_j+1} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{j-1}, w_j) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1}) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_0) \,.$$

Let $\boldsymbol{r} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ with $|\boldsymbol{r}| = p$ be given. One sees that

$$\int_{V^n} \prod_{j=1}^n \left(\frac{1}{\sigma(w_j)}\right)^{r_j+1} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{j-1}, w_j) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1}) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_0)$$

$$= \sigma(w_n)^{-r_n-1} \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_0, w_1) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_1, w_2) \sigma(w_1)^{-r_1-1} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1)$$

$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_1, w_2) \sigma(w_2)^{-r_2-1} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_2) \dots \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{n-1}, w_n) \sigma(w_{n-1})^{-r_{n-1}-1} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1}).$$

Using the definition of ϑ_s in (1.7), one has, since $r_j \leqslant p \leqslant N_0$,

$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{0}, w_{1}) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{1}) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{1}, w_{2}) \sigma(w_{1})^{-r_{1}-1} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{1})$$

=
$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{1}, w_{2}) \sigma(w_{1})^{-r_{1}} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{1}) = \sigma(w_{2}) \vartheta_{r_{1}}(w_{2}) \leqslant \|\vartheta_{r_{1}}\|_{\infty} \sigma(w_{2}).$$

Computing then the integral with respect to $m(dw_2)$ and then to $m(dw_j)$ for increasing $j \in \{2, \ldots, n-1\}$, one easily checks that

$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{0}, w_{1}) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{1}) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{1}, w_{2}) \sigma(w_{1})^{-r_{1}-1} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{1})
\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{1}, w_{2}) \sigma(w_{2})^{-r_{2}-1} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{2}) \dots \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{n-1}, w_{n}) \sigma(w_{n-1})^{-r_{n-1}-1} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1})
\leq \|\vartheta_{r_{1}}\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{r_{2}}\|_{\infty} \dots \|\vartheta_{r_{n-2}}\|_{\infty} \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_{n-1}, w_{n}) \sigma(w_{n-1})^{-r_{n-1}} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1})
\leq \|\vartheta_{r_{1}}\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{r_{2}}\|_{\infty} \dots \|\vartheta_{r_{n-1}}\|_{\infty} \sigma(w_{n}).$$

Therefore,

$$\Theta_{n,p}(w_n) \leqslant \sum_{|\boldsymbol{r}|=p} {p \choose \boldsymbol{r}} \sigma(w_n)^{-r_n} \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \|\vartheta_{r_j}\|_{\infty}$$

and

$$\left\|\mathsf{L}_{n}^{(p)}(0)f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \sum_{|\boldsymbol{r}|=p} {p \choose \boldsymbol{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \|\vartheta_{r_{j}}\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} |f(y,w_{n})| \,\sigma(w_{n})^{-r_{n}} \mathrm{d}y \,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n}).$$

This proves that

$$\left\|\mathsf{L}_{n}^{(p)}(0)f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant C_{n,p}\|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{p}}$$

with

$$C_{n,p} = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{r}|=p} {p \choose \boldsymbol{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \|\vartheta_{r_j}\|_{\infty}.$$

As in the proof of the previous Lemma, this allows to prove by a simple use of the dominant convergence theorem that

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to 0\\\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^p}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^p} \mathsf{L}_n(\lambda) f - \mathsf{L}_n^{(p)}(0) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

for any $f \in X_p$. This proves the convergence in X_0 . To deal with the convergence in X_s , one simply notices from the above proof that

$$\left\|\mathsf{L}_{n}^{(p)}(0)f\right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{s}} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}\times V} |f(y,w_{n})|\widetilde{\Theta}_{n,p,s}(w_{n})\mathrm{d}y\,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n})$$

with now

$$\widetilde{\Theta}_{n,p,s}(w_n) = \int_{V^n} \sigma(w_0)^{-s} \boldsymbol{k}(w_0, w_1) \dots \boldsymbol{k}(w_{n-1}, w_n) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1}) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_0) \times \\ \times \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_1)t_1\right) \mathrm{d}t_1 \dots \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_n)t_n\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^n t_j\right)^p \mathrm{d}t_n \,.$$

The only difference between $\widetilde{\Theta}_{n,p,s}(w_n)$ and $\Theta_{n,p}(w_n)$ lies in the additional weight $\sigma(w_0)^{-s}$ in the first integral. But, since

$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_0, w_1) \sigma(w_0)^{-s} \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_0) \leqslant \sigma(w_1) \|\vartheta_s\|_{\infty} = \|\vartheta_s\|_{\infty} \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(w_0, w_1) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_0)$$

one sees from the above proof that $|\widetilde{\Theta}_{n,p,s}(w_n)| \leq ||\vartheta_s||_{\infty} \Theta_{n,p}(w_n)$. This gives (4.21) and achieves the proof of Proposition 4.15.

Remark B.1. Notice that the above computations actually apply to the case without derivatives (corresponding of course to p = 0) and, from (B.2), one sees then that, for any $N \ge 1$,

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+} \|\mathsf{L}_n(\lambda)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_s} \leqslant \|\mathsf{L}_n(0)f\|_{\mathbb{X}_1} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times V} |f(y, w_n)| \,\Theta_{n, 0, s}(w_n) \mathrm{d}y \,\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_n)$$

where now

$$\Theta_{n,0,s}(w_n) = \int_{V^n} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w_1) \dots \boldsymbol{k}(w_{n-1}, w_n) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1}) \dots \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1) \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)}{(\min(1, \sigma(v))^s} \times \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_1)t_1\right) \mathrm{d}t_1 \dots \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-\sigma(w_n)t_n\right) \\ = \frac{1}{\sigma(w_n)} \int_{V^n} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w_1) \dots \boldsymbol{k}(w_{n-1}, w_n) \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_{n-1})}{\sigma(w_{n-1})} \dots \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w_1)}{\sigma(w_1)} \frac{\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v)}{(\min(1, \sigma(v))^s}.$$

One has then

$$\Theta_{n,0,s}(w_n) \leqslant \|\vartheta_s\|_{\infty} \qquad \forall w_n \in V, \qquad s \leqslant N_0.$$

Consequently,

$$\|\mathsf{L}_{n}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0},\mathbb{X}_{s})} \leqslant \|\vartheta_{s}\|_{\infty} \qquad \forall s \leqslant N_{0}$$
(B.3)

We also establish the following convergence of derivatives of $M_{\varepsilon+i\eta}f$

Lemma B.2. For any $k \ge 0$ and any $\varphi \in X_{k+1}$ one has

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon + i\eta} \varphi - \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \varphi \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0.$$

Proof. For $\varphi \in \mathbb{X}_{k+1}, \varepsilon > 0, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$ one checks easily from (4.9) that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}}\mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}\varphi(x,v) - \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}}\mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\varphi(x,v)$$

$$= (-i)^{k}\int_{V}\boldsymbol{k}(v,w)\boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w)\int_{0}^{\infty}t^{k}\left[\exp\left(-\varepsilon t\right) - 1\right]\exp\left(-\left(i\eta + \sigma(w)\right)t\right)\varphi(x - tw,w)\mathrm{d}t$$

from which we deduce easily that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}} \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta} \varphi - \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}} \mathsf{M}_{i\eta} \varphi \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} &\leq \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times V} |\varphi(y, w)| \,\mathrm{d}y \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}w) \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \\ &\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{k} \left[1 - \exp\left(-\varepsilon t\right) \right] \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \,\mathrm{d}t \end{split}$$

One has

$$\int_0^\infty t^k \left[1 - \exp\left(-\varepsilon t\right)\right] \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \int_0^\infty t^k \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}t = k! \sigma(w)^{-k-1}$$

so that

$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{k} \left[1 - \exp\left(-\varepsilon t\right)\right] \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}t \leq k! \sigma(w)^{-k}$$

Using that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{V} \boldsymbol{k}(v, w) \boldsymbol{m}(\mathrm{d}v) \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{k} \left[1 - \exp\left(-\varepsilon t\right)\right] \exp\left(-t\sigma(w)\right) \mathrm{d}t = 0 \qquad \text{for a.e. } w \in V$$

and, since $\varphi \in \mathbb{X}_k$, we deduce the result from the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. $\hfill\square$

Remark B.3. Notice that, if $\varphi \in X_{k+1}$, one sees that

$$\sup_{\eta \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}} \mathsf{M}_{\varepsilon+i\eta}\varphi - \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k}} \mathsf{M}_{i\eta}\varphi \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}} \leqslant \varepsilon \Gamma(k+2) \|\varphi\|_{\mathbb{X}_{k+1}}$$

making the above convergence quantitative.

B.2. Additional properties. Introduce now the operators

$$\mathsf{G}_n(\lambda) = [\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}]^n, \quad \forall \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Notice that, $\mathsf{G}_n(\lambda) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)$ for any $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$ since

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{1}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} = \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0},\mathbb{X}_{1})}\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{1},\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$

with

$$\|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)} \leqslant \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_1\|_{\infty}, \qquad \text{and} \quad \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_1,\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant 1.$$

Therefore,

$$\|\mathsf{G}_1(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \|\vartheta_1\|_{\infty}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+.$$

It is striking to observe that $\|\mathsf{G}_n(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}$ can actually be estimated *uniformly with respect to* $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Namely,

Lemma B.4. For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\|\mathsf{G}_n(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_1\|_{\infty} \qquad \forall \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+.$$

In particular, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{n+k}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \, \|\vartheta_1\|_{\infty} \, \|\mathsf{G}_n\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \tag{B.4}$$

for any $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$.

Proof. One simply observes that, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathsf{G}_n(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathsf{L}_{n-1}(\lambda)\mathcal{K}$$

so that

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{n}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0},\mathbb{X}_{1})} \|\mathsf{L}_{n-1}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0},\mathbb{X}_{1})} \|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$
orn (see (B.3)).

where, as known (see (B.3)),

 $\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)} \leq 1, \qquad \|\mathsf{L}_{n-1}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)} \leq \|\vartheta_1\|_{\infty}, \qquad \|\mathcal{K}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = \|\sigma\|_{\infty}$ which gives the result. To prove (B.4) one simply observes that

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{n+k}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} = \|\mathsf{G}_n(\lambda)\mathsf{G}_k(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \|\mathsf{G}_k(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \|\mathsf{G}_n(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}$$

and the estimate follows from the first part of the proof.

We notice also that

$$\mathsf{G}_{1}^{(k)}(\lambda) = \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k}}\mathsf{G}_{1}(\lambda) = \left[\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k}}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})\right]\mathcal{K}$$

and, for $k \leq N_0 - 1$,

$$\left\| \left[\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k}} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right] \mathcal{K} \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leq \left\| \left[\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k}} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \right] \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{k+1}, \mathbb{X}_{0})} \| \mathcal{K} \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0}, \mathbb{X}_{k+1})} \leq k! \| \sigma \|_{\infty} \| \vartheta_{k} \|_{\infty}$$

where we used (4.7). Thus

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{+}} \left\| \mathsf{G}_{1}^{(k)}(\lambda) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant k! \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{k}\|_{\infty}.$$
(B.5)

This shows that, for any $f \in X_0$, the mapping

$$\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+ \mapsto \mathsf{G}_1(\lambda) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

is of class \mathscr{C}^{N_0-1} . This easily extends to $G_n(\lambda)f$ and, besides the mere estimates for $G_n^{(j)}(\lambda)$, we also need to understand the decay of $G_n^{(j)}(i\eta)f$ as $|\eta| \to \infty$. We resort to do so to the following **Lemma B.5.** For any $k \in \{1, \ldots, N_0 - 1\}$, there exists $\overline{C}_k > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\mathsf{G}_{N}^{(k)}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \bar{C}_{k}N^{k} \left\|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{N-k}{2^{k}}\rfloor}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \qquad \forall N \geqslant 2^{k} + k.$$
(B.6)

Proof. The proof is based upon elementary but tedious computations. We notice first that, since $G_N(i\eta) = (G_1(i\eta))^N$, one has for the first derivative:

$$\mathsf{G}_{N}^{(1)}(i\eta) = \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\mathsf{G}_{1}^{(1)}(i\eta)\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta)$$

According to (B.5)

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{1}^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant \|\sigma\|_{\infty} \|\vartheta_{1}\|_{\infty} = C_{1}$$

so that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathsf{G}_{N}^{(1)}(i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} &\leqslant C_{1} \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \| \mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \| \mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \\ &\leqslant 2C_{1} \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor} \| \mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \| \mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \end{aligned}$$

Since $N - 1 - r \ge \lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor$ for any $0 \le r \le \lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor$, we get thanks to (B.4) that

$$\left\|\mathsf{G}_{N}^{(1)}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant 2C_{1}^{2} \left\|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor} \left\|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}, \qquad N-1 \geqslant 2 \quad (B.7)$$

which results in

$$\left|\mathsf{G}_{N}^{(1)}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant 2C_{1}^{-3}(N+1) \left\|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$

since $\|\mathsf{G}_r(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leq C_1$ for any r and $\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor + 1 \leq N$. This proves the result for k = 1. Now, for k = 2 and $N \geq 4$, one has

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{G}_{N}^{(2)}(i\eta) &= \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \mathsf{G}_{r}^{(1)}(i\eta) \mathsf{G}_{1}^{(1)}(i\eta) \mathsf{G}_{N-r}(i\eta) + \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta) \mathsf{G}_{1}^{(2)}(i\eta) \mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta) \mathsf{G}_{1}^{(1)}(i\eta) \mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}^{(1)}(i\eta). \end{aligned}$$

Using (B.5),

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{1}^{(2)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leq 2\|\sigma\|_{\infty}\|\vartheta_{2}\|_{\infty} =: C_{2},$$

while we recall that $\|\mathsf{G}_1^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant C_1$, so that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathsf{G}_{N}^{(2)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} &\leq C_{1} \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \\ &+ C_{1} \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \\ &+ C_{2} \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \end{aligned}$$

and, as before,

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{N}^{(2)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \leqslant 4C_{1} \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} + 2C_{2} \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}.$$

Now, according to (B.7)

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant 2C_1^2 \|\mathsf{L}_{\lfloor\frac{N-2-r}{2}\rfloor}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \sum_{r_1=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-2-r}{2}\rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r_1}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}$$

and, since $\lfloor \frac{N-2-r}{2} \rfloor \ge \lfloor \frac{N-2}{4} \rfloor$ for any $r \le \lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor$, invoking (B.4) again we deduce

$$\|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant 2C_1^3 \|\mathsf{L}_{\lfloor \frac{N-2}{4} \rfloor}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \sum_{r_1=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-2-r}{2} \rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r_1}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}$$

Thus,

$$4C_{1}\sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}^{(1)}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$
$$\leq 8C_{1}^{4} \|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{N-2}{4}\rfloor}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor} \sum_{r_{1}=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-1-r}{2}\rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r_{1}}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} ,$$

while, as in the proof of (B.7)

$$2C_{2}\sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \|\mathsf{G}_{N-1-r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B})(\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$

$$\leq 2C_{2}C_{1}\|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}\sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}$$

$$\leq 2C_{2}C_{1}^{2}\|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{N-2}{4}\rfloor}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}\sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-1}{2}\rfloor} \|\mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})}.$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathsf{G}_{N}^{(2)}(i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} &\leqslant 2C_{1}^{2} \| \mathsf{G}_{\lfloor \frac{N-2}{4} \rfloor}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \times \\ & \times \left(4C_{1}^{2} \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor} \sum_{r_{1}=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-2-r}{2} \rfloor} \| \mathsf{G}_{r_{1}}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} + C_{2} \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor} \| \mathsf{G}_{r}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \right). \end{split}$$

This clearly gives the rough estimate (using $\lfloor \frac{N-2-r}{2} \rfloor + 1 \leq \lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \rfloor + 1 \leq N$),

$$\left\|\mathsf{G}_{N}^{(2)}(i\eta)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{2})} \leqslant 2C_{1}^{2} \|\mathsf{G}_{\lfloor\frac{N-2}{4}\rfloor}(i\eta)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_{0})} \left(2C_{1}^{2}N^{2} + C_{2}C_{1}N\right)$$
(B.8)

and proves the result for k = 2. By a tedious but simple induction argument, we deduce then the result for any $k \in \{0, \dots, N_0 - 1\}$.

We can prove now Lemma 7.1 given in Section 7.

Proof of Lemma 7.1. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be fixed. Recall that we defined, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathsf{G}_k(\lambda) = \left(\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}\right)^k, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+$$

and we denoted its derivatives of order j by $G_k^{(j)}(\lambda)$. With this operator, we notices that

$$s_n(\lambda) := \sum_{k=0}^n \mathsf{G}_k(\lambda) \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \qquad \lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+$$

Computing derivatives with Leibniz rule we get, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k}}s_{n}(\lambda)f = \sum_{m=0}^{n}\sum_{j=0}^{k} \binom{k}{j} \mathsf{G}_{m}^{(j)}(\lambda)\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k-j}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k-j}}\left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})f\right]$$
(B.9)

Now, as observed, if $f \in \mathbb{X}_{k-j+1}$, then $\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k-j}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k-j}} [\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f] \in \mathbb{X}_0$ (see (4.7)) so that (see Eq. (B.6)) $\mathcal{C}^{(j)}(\lambda) \stackrel{\mathrm{d}^{k-j}}{\to} [\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})f] \in \mathbb{X}_0$

$$\mathsf{G}_{m}^{(j)}(\lambda)\frac{\mathrm{d}^{k-j}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^{k-j}}\left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{A})f\right]\in\mathbb{X}_{0}.$$

This easily proves that the mapping

$$\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_+ \longmapsto s_n(\lambda) f \in \mathbb{X}_0$$

is of class \mathscr{C}^{N_0-1} with

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\lambda^k} s_n(\lambda) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} \leq C_k \|f\|_{\mathbb{X}_{N_0}}$$

for some positive $C_k > 0$ depending only on $k \in \{0, \dots, N_0 - 1\}$. Let us now prove

$$\lim_{|\eta| \to \infty} \sup_{\varepsilon \in (0,1]} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}\eta^k} s_n(\varepsilon + i\eta) f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$
(B.10)

for any $k \in \{0, \ldots, N_0 - 1\}$ which will also prove the fact that the mapping $\eta \mapsto s_n(\varepsilon + i\eta)f$ belongs to $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$. Starting from (B.9), we notice that, for any $k \leq N_0 - 1$, $m \in \{0, \ldots, n\}, j \in \{0, \ldots, k\}$, one easily see that, for any R > 0,

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1]} \sup_{|\eta| > R} \left\| \mathsf{G}_m^{(j)}(\varepsilon + i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \leqslant \sup_{|\eta| > R} \| \mathsf{G}_m^{(j)}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} \\ \leqslant \bar{C}_k n^k \sup_{|\eta| > R} \| \mathsf{G}_{\lfloor \frac{n-k}{2^k} \rfloor}(i\eta) \|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)}$$

according to Lemma B.5. from which we easily deduce that

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1]} \sup_{|\eta| > R} \left\| \mathsf{G}_m^{(j)}(\varepsilon + i\eta) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}_0)} < \infty.$$

Combining this with the fact that

$$\lim_{\eta|\to\infty} \sup_{\varepsilon\in[0,1]} \left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k-j}}{\mathrm{d}\eta^{k-j}} \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon+i\eta,\mathcal{A})f \right\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} = 0$$

(see Proposition 4.1 and Lemma 4.5), we deduce (B.10) from the representation (B.9). The fact that $s_n(\varepsilon + i\eta)f$ converges to $s_n(i\eta)f$ in $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$ is then deduced from (B.9) and the limits established in Proposition 4.1 which easily implies that $\mathsf{G}_k(\varepsilon + i\eta)$ converges to $\mathsf{G}_k(i\eta) := [\mathcal{R}(i\eta, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{K}]^k$ in $\mathscr{C}_0^{N_0-1}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{X}_0)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$, details are left to the reader.

Appendix C. About collectively power compact operators

We prove the following result which is likely to be well-known but we were not able to find in the literature.

Theorem C.1. Let X be a Banach space and let $B \in \mathscr{B}(X)$ be such that there is $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that B^n is compact. Let ν_0 be a semi-simple eigenvalue of B^n and let $\mu_0 \in \mathfrak{S}(B)$ be such that

$$\mu_0^n = \nu_0.$$

Then, μ_0 is a semi-simple eigenvalue of B. Moreover, if ν_0 is simple then so is μ_0 and the corresponding spectral projection coincides.

Remark C.2. Notice that, under the assumption of Theorem C.1, since ν_0 is a simple eigenvalue of B^n , there exists only one eigenvalue μ_0 of B such that $\nu_0 = \mu_0^n$.

Proof. Observe that for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$\left(\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \lambda^{n-1-j} B^j\right) (\lambda - B) = \lambda^n - B^n.$$

In particular, if $\lambda^n \notin \mathfrak{S}(B^n)$ then $\lambda \notin \mathfrak{S}(B)$ and

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda^n, B^n) \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \lambda^{n-1-j} A^j = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, B).$$
(C.1)

Let us assume now $\mu_0^n = \nu_0$ is semi-simple and let P_0 be the spectral projection associated to ν_0 (and B^n), then (recall that ν_0 is a simple pole of the resolvent $\mathcal{R}(\cdot, B^n)$

$$P_0 = \lim_{z \to \nu_0} \left(z - \nu_0 \right) \mathcal{R}(z, B^n) = \lim_{\lambda \to \mu_0} \left(\lambda^n - \mu_0^n \right) \mathcal{R}(\lambda^n, B^n).$$

Writing, for $\lambda^n \neq \mu_0$,

$$(\lambda - \mu_0) \mathcal{R}(\lambda, B) = \frac{\lambda - \mu_0}{\lambda^n - \mu_0^n} \left(\lambda^n - \mu_0^n\right) \mathcal{R}(\lambda^n, B^n) \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \lambda^{n-1-j} B^j$$

and using that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \mu_0} \frac{\lambda - \mu_0}{\lambda^n - \mu_0^n} = \frac{1}{n\mu_0^{n-1}},$$

we deduce that the limit

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \mu_0} \left(\lambda - \mu_0\right) \mathcal{R}(\lambda, B)$$

exists and is equal to

$$\frac{1}{n\mu_0^{n-1}}P_0\sum_{j=0}^{n-1}\mu_0^{n-1-j}B^j.$$

Therefore, μ_0 is a simple pole of $\mathcal{R}(\cdot, B)$ and

$$\Pi_0 = \frac{1}{n\mu_0^{n-1}} P_0 \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \mu_0^{n-1-j} B^j.$$

In particular, $\operatorname{Range}(\Pi_0) \subset \operatorname{Range}(P_0)$ and $\dim(\operatorname{Range}(\Pi_0)) \leq \dim(\operatorname{Range}(P_0))$. In particular, if ν_0 is simple then so is μ_0 with

$$\operatorname{Range}(\Pi_0) = \operatorname{Range}(P_0).$$

Let now $\psi \in X$ be an eigenfunction of B associated to μ_0 and let $\psi^* \in X^*$ be an eigenfunction of B^* associated to μ_0 with the normalisation

$$\langle \psi^*, \psi \rangle = 1.$$

Then, $\operatorname{Range}(P_0) = \operatorname{Range}(\Pi_0) = \operatorname{Span}(\psi)$ and for any $h \in X$, there is $\alpha_h \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\Pi_0 h = \alpha_h \psi.$$

One has then $\langle \psi^*, \Pi_0 h \rangle = \alpha_h$ i.e.

$$\alpha_h = \langle \Pi_0^* \psi^*, h \rangle = \langle \psi^*, h \rangle$$

i.e.

$$\Pi_0 h = \langle \psi^*, h \rangle \, \psi.$$

In the same way, $P_0 h = \langle \psi^*, h \rangle \psi$ and $\Pi_0 = P_0$.

References

- P. M. ANSELONE, T. W. PALMER, Spectral analysis of collectively compact, strongly convergent operator sequences, *Pacific J. Math.*, 25 (1968), 423–431.
- [2] W. ARENDT, CH. J. K. BATTY, M. HIEBER, F. NEUBRANDER, Vector-valued Laplace transforms and Cauchy problems, *Monographs in Mathematics*, **96**, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2001.
- [3] A. BERNOU, N. FOURNIER, A coupling approach for the convergence to equilibrium for a collisionless gas. Ann. Appl. Probab. 32 (2022), 764–811.
- [4] A. BERNOU, A semigroup approach to the convergence rate of a collisionless gas, *Kinet. Relat. Models* 13 (2020), 1071–1106.
- [5] A. BERNOU, Convergence toward the steady state of a collisionless gas with Cercignani–Lampis boundary condition, *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 47 (2022), 724–773.
- [6] A. BERNOU, On subexponential convergence to equilibrium of Markov processes, Séminaire de Probabilités LI, in press, 2021.
- [7] E. BOUIN, J. DOLBEAULT, L. LAFLECHE, C. SCHMEISER, Hypocoercivity and sub-exponential local equilibria, Monatsh. Math. 194 (2021), 41–65.
- [8] H. Brézis, Functional analysis, Sobolev spaces and partial differential equations, Universitext. Springer, New York, 2011.
- [9] M. J. CACERES, J. A. CARRILLO, T. GOUDON, Equilibration rate for the linear Inhomogeneous relaxation-time Boltzmann equation for charged particles, *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 28 (2003), 969–989.
- [10] R. E. CAFLISCH, The Boltzmann equation with a soft potential. I. Linear, spatially-homogeneous, Comm. Math. Phys., 74 (1980), 71–95.
- [11] J. A. CAÑIZO, C. CAO, J. EVANS, H. YOLDAŞ, Hypocoercivity of linear kinetic equations via Harris's theorem, *Kinet. Relat. Models* 13 (2020), 97–128.
- [12] J. A. CAÑIZO, A. EINAV, B. LODS, On the rate of convergence to equilibrium for the linear Boltzmann equation with soft potentials, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* 462 (2018), 801–839.
- [13] J. A. CAÑIZO, P. GABRIEL, H. YOLDAŞ, Spectral gap for the growth-fragmentation equation via Harris's Theorem, SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 53 (2021), 5185–5214.
- [14] J. A. CAÑIZO, S. MISCHLER, Harris-type results on geometric and subgeometric convergence to equilibrium for stochastic semigroups, https://arxiv.org/abs/2110.09650v1,2021.
- [15] K. CARRAPATOSO, S. MISCHLER, Landau equation for very soft and Coulomb potentials near Maxwellians, Ann. PDE 3 (2017), Paper No. 1, 65 pp.
- [16] R. V. CHACON, U. KRENGEL, Linear modulus of linear operator, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 15 (1964), 553-559.
- [17] R. CHILL, D. SEIFERT, Quantified versions of Ingham's theorem, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 48 (2016), 519-532.

75

- [18] L. DESVILLETTES, F. SALVARANI, Asymptotic behavior of degenerate linear transport equations, Bull. Sci. Math. 133 (2009), 848–858.
- [19] J. DOLBEAULT, C. MOUHOT, C. SCHMEISER, Hypocoercivity for linear kinetic equations conserving mass, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 367 (2015), 3807–3828.
- [20] R. DOUC, G. FORT, A. GUILLIN, Subgeometric rates of convergence of f-ergodic strong Markov processes, Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 119 (2009), 897–923.
- [21] R. DUAN, Hypocoercivity of linear degenerately dissipative kinetic equations, Nonlinearity, 24 (2011), 2165– 2189.
- [22] T. KATO, *Perturbation theory for linear operators*, Classics in Mathematics, Springer Verlag, 1980.
- [23] O. KAVIAN, S. MISCHLER, M. NDAO, The Fokker-Planck equation with subcritical confinement force, J. Math. Pures Appl. 9 (2021), 171–211.
- [24] T. KOMOROWSKI, Long time asymptotics of a degenerate linear kinetic transport equation, Kinet. Relat. Models 7 (2014), 79–108.
- [25] B. LODS, On linear kinetic equations involving unbounded cross-sections, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 27 (2004), 1049–1075.
- [26] B. LODS, M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, Convergence to equilibrium for linear spatially homogeneous Boltzmann equation with hard and soft potentials: a semigroup approach in L¹-spaces, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 40 (2017), 6527–6555.
- [27] B. LODS, M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, Convergence rate to equilibrium for collisionless transport equations with diffuse boundary operators: A new tauberian approach, submitted for publication, 2021, https://arxiv.org/abs/2104.06674.
- [28] B. LODS, M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, A new quantitative tauberian approach to long-time asymptotics of perturbed stochastic semigroups, *work in progress*.
- [29] I. MAREK, Frobenius theory of positive operators: Comparison theorems and applications, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 19 (1970), 607-628.
- [30] S.P. MEYN, R. L. TWEEDIE, *Markov chains and stochastic stability*, Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [31] M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, Time asymptotic behaviour and compactness in transport theory, *European J. Mech. B Fluids* 11 (1992), 39–68.
- [32] M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, Mathematical topics in neutron transport theory. New aspects., Series on Advances in Mathematics for Applied Sciences, 46, World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1997.
- [33] M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, Spectral properties of a class of positive semigroups on Banach lattices and streaming operators, *Positivity* 10 (2006), 231–249.
- [34] М. Мокнтак-Кнаккоив, On L¹ exponential trend to equilibrium for conservative linear kinetic equations on the torus, *J. Funct. Anal.* 266 (2014), 6418–6455.
- [35] M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, On strong convergence to ergodic projection for perturbed substochastic semigroups, Semigroups of operators – theory and applications, 89–103, Springer Proc. Math. Stat., 113, Springer, Cham, 2015.
- [36] M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, Existence of invariant densities and time asymptotics of conservative linear kinetic equations on the torus without spectral gaps, *Acta Appl. Math.* 175 (2021), Paper No. 8, 32 pp.
- [37] M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, J. BANASIAK, On spectral gaps of growth-fragmentation semigroups in higher moment spaces, *Kinet. Relat. Models* 15 (2022), 147–185.
- [38] M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI, On spectral gaps of growth-fragmentation semigroups with mass loss or death, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 21 (2022), 1293–1327.
- [39] K. PICHÓR, R. RUDNICKI, Continuous Markov semigroups and stability of transport equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 249 (2000), 668–685.

Università degli Studi di Torino & Collegio Carlo Alberto, Department of Economics and Statistics, Corso Unione Sovietica, 218/bis, 10134 Torino, Italy.

Email address: bertrand.lods@unito.it

Université de Bourgogne-Franche-Comté, Equipe de Mathématiques, CNRS UMR 6623, 16, route de Gray, 25030 Besançon Cedex, France

Email address: mustapha.mokhtar-kharroubi@univ-fcomte.fr